

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO DIPARTIMENTO DI BIOSCIENZE



UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO Scuola di Dottorato in Biologia molecolare e cellulare XXXII Ciclo

Modeling HD and human striatal development using 3D cultures

Maura Galimberti

PhD Thesis

Scientific tutor: Prof. Elena Cattaneo

Academic year: 2018-2019

SSD: BIO/11, BIO/14

Thesis performed at the Laboratory of Stem Cell Biology and Pharmacology of Neurodegenerative Diseases. Department of Biosciences, University of Milan and Istituto Nazionale di Genetica Molecolare.

Table of contents

Abstract	5
Abstract (Italian)	6
Aim	7
1. Introduction	8
1.1 Telencephalon development	8
1.1.1 Relevance for this thesis	8
1.1.2 LGE formation and sub-organization in VZ, SVZ and MZ	8
1.1.3 Cortex formation and layering	11
1.1.4 Morphogens and signalling pathways	13
1.1.5 Cell cycle regulation	15
1.1.6 Primary cilium's roles in neural development	17
1.2 Brain Organoids	21
1.2.1 Why Organoids?	21
1.2.2 Organoids definition and characteristics	21
1.2.3 History	23
1.2.4 Homogeneity, complexity and variability	25
1.2.5 Modelling neurodevelopment and diseases	
1.2.6 Limitations and challenges	30
1.3 HD in vitro models	32
1.3.1 Fundamental aspects	32
1.3.2 Neurodevelopmental models and neurodegenerative disease	34
1.3.3 Characterization of HD in-vitro models	35
1.3.4 Organoids' approach to study HD	39
2. Results and discussion	40
2.1 Mimicking the human telencephalon development with organoids	40
2.1.1 Generation of telencephalic organoids with dorsal or ventral identity	40
2.1.2 Ventral telencephalic organoids from a single cell perspective	43
2.1.3 Comparison of the two protocols	48
2.1.4 Recapitulation of LGE organization in ventral organoids	51
2.1.5 Reliability of the assay and recapitulation of cortex organization in dorsal organoids	53
2.1.6 Preliminary conclusions about mimicking the human telencephalon development	55
2.2 Modelling Huntington's disease in-vitro with ventral organoids	56
2.2.1 VZ like structures organization in control and HD ventral organoids	56
2.2.2 Cell cycle regulation in control and HD ventral organoids	60
2.2.3 Polarity in control and HD ventral organoids	69

2.2.4 Ultrastructure and morphology of ventral organoids by Electron Microscopy	74
2.2.5 Preliminary conclusion on HD modelling in ventral organoids	78
2.3 Cellular interactions between WT and HD cells in co-culture organoids	79
2.3.1 Co-culture ventral organoids of WT and HD cells	83
2.3.2 FACS sorting of GFP and TOMATO cells and clearing approach	84
3. Conclusions and future perspectives	86
4. Materials and methods	88
4.1 Culture of human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs)	88
4.2 Generation of ventral organoids	88
4.3 Generation of dorsal organoids	91
4.4 EdU Click-iT assay	94
4.5 Immunohistochemistry and imaging	95
4.6 Quantitative assessment of organoids:	96
4.7 Electron microscopy	97
4.7.1 TEM sample preparation	97
4.7.2 SEM sample preparation	98
4.8 single-cell RNA-seq	99
4.8.1 Rationale	99
4.8.2 Single-cell dissociation of ventral organoids for scRNAseq	99
4.8.3 Library construction using the GemCode platform	99
4.8.4 Sequencing and bioinformatics analyses	100
4.9 Co-culture of WT and HD cells inside organoids	100
4.9.1 Lentivirus production	100
4.9.2 Generation of GFP and TOMATO stable cell lines	101
4.8.3 Co-aggregation of WT and HD cells	101
4.9.4 Dissociation ad FACS sorting of co-culture organoids	102
5. References	103
6. Appendix	120
6.1 Contributions to published articles	120

Abstract

Huntington's disease (HD) is an inherited disease that causes degeneration of adult neurons in the striatum and later in the cortex. Although most studies have focused on adulthood, some evidence suggests that this disease might have a neurodevelopmental component. To try to address this question, we generated a protocol to derive 3D ventral organoids from isogenic control and pathologic hES cell line to mimic in-vitro the development of the ventral telencephalon. Immunocytochemistry analyses show correct identity acquisition, particularly if compared with dorsal protocols. These data are supported by single cell RNA-seq analyses that highlight the presence of ventral progenitors and GABAergic neurons with no dorsal subpopulations. Compared to controls, HD organoids show a 50% reduction in the number of regions that resemble the ventricular zone of the developing brain together with abnormalities in their polarity and compromised radial distribution of GSX2⁺ and MASH1⁺ progenitors. These early defects are combined with aberrant cell cycle regulation as shown by a 45% reduction in the number of KI67⁺ cells, a 95% increase in asymmetric horizontal divisions and a 15% increase in cell cycle exit ratio. Moreover, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) analyses reveal irregular neuronal architecture in HD organoids. Together our data suggest that the presence of mutant Huntingtin (mHTT) causes a developmental defect in the cellular organization of ventral organoids. This 3D model has therefore paved the way to a better understanding of the potential neurodevelopment aspects of this disease and may provide a platform to further screen and comprehend this complex disease. In line, we are now analyzing single cell data from HD organoids to unveil the transcriptional pathways affected by mHTT and in parallel we are setting up a co-culture system of control and HD cells to study cellular interactions between the two lines and to discriminate cell-autonomous versus non-autonomous defects.

Abstract (Italian)

La patologia di Huntington (HD) è una malattia ereditaria dominante che provoca la degenerazione dei neuroni adulti nello striato e successivamente nella corteccia. La maggior parte degli studi si è concentrata sul cervello adulto, tuttavia alcune evidenze suggeriscono una possibile componente già durante lo sviluppo neuronale fetale. Per indagare la questione più a fondo, abbiamo sviluppato un protocollo per organoidi ventrali a partire da una linea isogenica di cellule hES controllo e patologiche al fine di mimare lo sviluppo del telencefalo ventrale in-vitro in 3D. Le analisi di immunocitochimica sui nostri organoidi mostrano l'acquisizione di una corretta identità, in particolare se confrontati con organoidi di protocolli dorsali. A supporto di queste osservazioni, i dati ricavati da analisi di RNAseq su singola cellula, confermano la presenza di progenitori ventrali e neuroni GABAerigici in assenza di contaminanti sottopopolazioni dorsali. Gli organoidi delle linee HD mostrano una riduzione del 50% nel numero di strutture proliferanti simili alle zone ventricolari (VZ) del cervello durante il neurosviluppo, un'anormale polarità di queste strutture e un'alterata distribuzione radiale dei progenitori GSX2⁺ e MASH1⁺. Questi difetti precoci si combinano con una regolazione aberrata del ciclo cellulare, mostrata dalla riduzione del 45% di cellule KI67⁺, dall'aumento del 95% delle divisioni di tipo orizzontale asimmetrico e dall'incremento del 15% nel rapporto di uscita dal ciclo cellulare. Inoltre, analisi tramite scanning electron microscopy (SEM) rivelano come gli organoidi HD rispetto ai controlli presentino un'irregolare architettura neuronale. I nostri dati suggeriscono che la presenza della mutazione provochi un difetto di sviluppo nell'organizzazione cellulare degli organoidi ventrali. Questo modello 3D ha quindi aperto la strada a una migliore conoscenza dei potenziali aspetti di sviluppo neurologico implicati nell'HD e può fornire da piattaforma per esplorarne e approfondirne di nuovi. Stiamo infatti analizzando i dati derivati da RNAseq su singole cellule di organoidi HD per svelare i percorsi trascrizionali influenzati dalla mutazione e in parallelo stiamo istituendo un sistema di co-coltura di cellule controllo e HD per studiare le interazioni tra le due linee e discriminare i difetti di tipo cell-autonomous da quelli non-autonomous.

Aim

It is known that normal HTT has crucial roles during fetal development; while the effect of mHTT during this period and the possible neurodevelopmental defects underlying HD are still unclear. An increasing number of studies are focusing on this quest and how altered developmental programs may lead to neuronal populations to be more susceptible to mHTT during adulthood causing cell-specific neurodegeneration.

The purpose of this project is to assess whether mHTT affects the neurodevelopmental profile, differentiation and cytoarchitecture organization of neural progenitors in human ventral organoids. In line, we would like to use control and HD organoids as a platform to discover the underlying molecular mechanisms that operate during neurodevelopment and that then may lead to a more unstable and delicate brain during adulthood.

This thesis's work is organized into three sub-goals:

- Define a protocol to generate 3D ventral organoids that mimic the development of the human ventral telencephalon and compare it with dorsal organoids of a published protocol
- Investigate mHTT activity during neural development in a 3D culture by focusing on molecular and morphological aspects such as self-organization, polarity and distribution.
- Understand cell autonomous or non-autonomous defects in HD during development by developing strategies to investigate cellular interactions between WT and HD cells.

1. Introduction

1.1 Telencephalon development

1.1.1 Relevance for this thesis

In Huntington's disease (HD), medium spiny neurons (MSNs) are the main striatal neuronal population that are lost and that cause the atrophy of this region. Later this degeneration affects also the cortex and other brain regions.

Understanding how human neuro-epithelial progenitors differentiate into MSNs is critical to develop specific differentiation protocols both for regenerative medicine and to correctly model HD during development. HD mouse models gives useful but narrow view of the disease since obvious species-specific differences exist between mice and humans. Thus, additional human model systems are needed to uncover specific human gene signalling pathways that are affected in HD. To generate these models it is possible to take advantage of human pluripotent stem (hPS) cells, both embryonic stem (hES) and induced pluripotent stem (hiPS) cells, by differentiating them towards the desired lineage. In line, with the aim of modelling the human HD counterpart *in-vitro* and to closely mimic what happens during the generation of MSNs, we differentiated control and pathologic hES cells towards 3D organoids with a specific ventral identity.

In these next sections I will describe some fundamental aspects involved in telencephalic development, in particular the striatum and cortex, that have guided us through the generation of our ventral protocol. I will then focus on the three-dimensional cultures and how we exploited known protocols to generate our ventral 3D system. Finally, I will review HD *in-vitro* models and the neurodevelopmental aspects of HD revealed by these systems.

1.1.2 LGE formation and sub-organization in VZ, SVZ and MZ

Development of the nervous system starts with neural induction, followed by neurulation that gives rise to the neural tube, and patterning along the anterior-posterior (AP) axis. The neural tube folds and is subdivided into the prosencephalon (forebrain), the most anterior or rostral part sub-organized in telencephalon and diencephalon, the mesencephalon (midbrain), and the rhombencephalon (hindbrain). The telencephalon is divided into the dorsal telencephalon (pallium), which gives rise to

the neocortex, and the ventral telencephalon (subpallium), which gives origin to the striatum, the globus pallidus and the GABAergic interneurons that migrate into the cortex.

Due to the rapid migration of neurons, three intraventricular bulges form the septum, the medial, and lateral ganglionic eminences (MGE/LGE), collectively referred to as the whole ganglionic eminence (WGE). The MGE, the most ventral eminence, gives rise to the amygdala and the globus pallidus while the LGE, that is situated more dorsally, gives rise to the striatum (Evans et al. 2012; Hébert and Fishell 2008). Within the neural epithelium of the telencephalon there are two proliferative zones that contribute to the generation of neuronal precursors, the ventricular zone (VZ), close to the lateral ventricles, and the subventricular zone (SVZ), which extends from the basal region of the VZ. After exit from the cell cycle in the VZ or the in the SVZ, neural progenitors migrate radially into the mantle zone (MZ) where they undergo terminal differentiation. Thus, the ventricular eminences are rich in neurons which ultimately must find their final destination by migration along the guide offered from the radial glia. The WGE gives rise to both projection neurons and interneurons. Specifically, striatal projection neurons are born in the LGE and make up nearly 90% of LGE neurons. Interneurons originating from the LGE populate the cortex, the olfactory bulb, and the striatum, whereas those from the MGE migrate to the cortex, the globus pallidus, and also the striatum (Evans et al. 2012; Jain et al. 2001).

Telencephalon development requires a variety of TFs interactions to ensure correct positional identity and regional subdivisions. The homeobox gene *Gsx2* is expressed in the VZ of the ventral telencephalon where it is involved in maintaining the identity of striatal progenitors (Corbin et al., 2000). *Gsx2* specifies MSNs and olfactory bulb interneuron identity at distinct time points during neurogenesis (Waclaw et al., 2009). *Gsx2* mutant show reduced LGE and striatum dimensions and lower expression of important genes for striatal neuronal maturation such as *Ascl1*, *Ebf1* and *Gad67* (Lopez-Juarez et al. 2013).

ASCL1, a bHLH transcriptional factor also known as MASH1 (Casarosa, Fode, and Guillemot 1999), is a downstream effector of GSX2. *Ascl1* mutants show modest alterations in striatal development; while, in *Gsx2;Ascl1* double mutants, striatal development are severely affected (Wang et al., 2009; Yun et al, 2001). Wang and colleagues proposed that *Ascl1* may also serve a negative feedback function to repress *Gsx2* in LGE murine progenitors, but the precise relationship between *Gsx2* and *Ascl1* is still unclear. Since in the WGE *Gsx2* is expressed in progenitors inside the VZ and at lower levels in the SVZ while Ascl1 shows strong expression in the border between SV and SVZ and lower

expression in the SVZ (Hansen et al. 2013; Onorati et al. 2014), it seems to recapitulate the murine development.

The neural progenitors, during their radial migration towards the MZ, undergo a progressive maturation expressing typical ventral genes such as *Ebf1*, *Islt11*, *Nolz* and later *Ctip2*, *Darpp32*, *Gad67*, *Foxp1* and *Foxp2*. *Ctip2* is central to MSN differentiation and striatal development: it is expressed by all MSN and is excluded from essentially all striatal interneurons. In the absence of *Ctip2*, MSN do not fully differentiate and fail to aggregate into patches, resulting in severely disrupted patch-matrix organization (Arlotta et al., 2008). **DARPP32** and ARPP-21 are two dopamine and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-regulated phosphoproteins that are striatal-specific markers (Anderson and Reiner 1991). In the ventral telencephalon GABAergic neuronal differentiation is promoted by **GAD**, in the two isoforms with molecular weights of 67 and 65 kDa (GAD67 and GAD65), an enzyme needed for the synthesis of the neurotransmitter GABA (Schuurmans and Guillemot 2002).



Fig 1.1: Scheme of Transcriptional Factors (TF) expression during early human fetal development, at gestational week 8, 11 and 20. LGE, lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE, medial ganglionic eminence; CX, neocortex; CP, cortical plate; PSB, pallial-subpallial boundary; VZ, ventricular zone; SVZ subventricular zone; MZ, mantle zone; Ca, caudate; Pu, putamen. (modified from Onorati et al., 2014)

1.1.3 Cortex formation and layering

The cerebral cortex is a six layered structure composed primarily of glutamatergic projection neurons, originated from dorsal telencephalic progenitors, and of inhibitory interneurons derived from ventral telencephalon through tangential migration.

During development the cortex contains two types of progenitor cells for glutamatergic projection neurons. The first type is the radial glia that generate both neurons and glia, express the transcription factor PAX6 and divide close to the ventricular surface. The second type, intermediate progenitor cells, are derived from radial glia, produce only neurons, express *Tbr2* and divide at more basal levels (Englund et al. 2005).

PAX6 is a paired-box transcription factor essential for cortical progenitor proliferation and for delineating the border that distinguishes the ventral telencephalon from the dorsal one (Georgala, Carr, and Price 2011). At the neural plate stage *Pax6* is expressed throughout the telencephalic anlagen. At the neural tube stage its expression is downregulated in the region that will develop the ventral telencephalon, concomitant with the upregulation of *Nkx2.1* (Corbin et al. 2003). The boundary between *Pax6* and *Nkx2.1* expression initially demarcates the dorsoventral border also called pallial-subpallial boundary (PSB) and later their expression regions become separated by the domain of *Gsx2* expression (Corbin et al. 2003). As a result, the PSB becomes defined by the intersection of *Pax6* and *Gsx2* expression, with *Pax6* being expressed in a dorsal (high) to ventral (low) gradient and *Gsx2* showing the opposite gradient.

The transition from radial glia to intermediate progenitor cells (IPCs) is associated with upregulation of **TBR2**, a T-domain transcription factor, and downregulation of *Pax6*. *Tbr2* is a key molecular determinant of IPC identity, proliferation, and correct differentiation. IPC progeny contribute to the correct morphogenesis of each cortical layer (Sessa et al. 2008). Accordingly, *Tbr2* expression in progenitor compartments (the subventricular zone and ventricular zone) rises and falls with cortical plate neurogenesis.

The subsequent transition from intermediate progenitor cell to postmitotic neuron is marked by downregulation of TBR2 and upregulation of **TBR1**, another T-domain transcription factor. Cortical projection neurons express since early stages TBR1 and several bHLH genes including *Neurod2*, *Math2* and *Math3* (Fode et al. 2000). *Tbr1* is one of the few known genes with a role in the generation of a specific subpopulation of cortical neurons, it is expressed at high levels in early born neurons, in

fact *Tbr1* mutant defects are restricted to early born neurons of the marginal zone, subplate and layer 6 (Hevner et al. 2001).

Fezf2 (also known as *Fezl* or *Zfp312*), and *Ctip2* (*Bcl11b*) are important for postmitotic specification of deep-layer (DP) neurons. In the absence of *Fezf2* there is a significant reduction of corticospinal motor neurons (Chen, Schaevitz, and McConnell 2005; Molyneaux et al. 2005). CTIP2 is a transcription factor fundamental to establish the corticospinal tract and in *Ctip2* mutant mice, the most evident change in the neocortex is the misrouting of layer 5 axons (Arlotta et al. 2008).

In the developing cortex *Ctip2* is a direct target of **SATB2**, a DNA-binding protein important for upper-layer (UL) neuron specification. SATB2 is required to activate the UL-specific genetic program and down-regulate DL-specific genes. The lack of *Satb2* leads UL neurons to lose their identity and express genes specific of DL neurons. Moreover *Satb2* -/- mice failed to form the corpus callosum, a tract of fibers formed mostly by UL neurons (Britanova et al. 2008).



Fig 1.2: Systematic formation of the cortex layers in the dorsal telencephalon. During early stages of cerebral cortical development (embryonic days E10.5-E11.5), NSCs predominantly undergo symmetric cells divisions to expand the NSC pool. This phase is referred to as the expansion phase. During late embryogenesis (E12-E16.5), NSCs undergo increasingly more asymmetric divisions to

generate 1 NSC (self-renewal) and 1 BP. The BPs generate the neurons. This is the neurogenic phase. Neurons are generated in a sequential, inside-out fashion and are specified by different transcription factors. At later stages of development, NSCs generate the other cell types of the brain including astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and ependymal cells (not shown). This is referred to as the gliogenic phase (Mukhtar and Taylor 2018).

1.1.4 Morphogens and signalling pathways

Telencephalon development requires a variety of signals secreted from surrounding signalling centres to ensure the correct positional identity of the neurons, which will populate the adult forebrain. Several gene families are involved in the coordination of telencephalon patterning and are responsible for activating downstream factors of signalling cascades allowing cells to gain a positional and molecular identity. I am going to mention here some of the most important signals which are recapitulated in the differentiation protocol (see the Materials and methods of this thesis) by molecules of agonists or inhibitors, principally: fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs), WNTs (originated from the drosophila gene wingless), retinoic acid (RA), and sonic hedgehog (SHH).

BMPs belong to the TGF- β family of secreted proteins. BMPs are required for the formation of the choroid plaque (the precursor to the choroid plexus) and the cortical hem (Panchision et al. 2001). Although their inhibition is required for neuronal development, it is thought that BMPs are also needed to dorsalize the telencephalon and restrict the ventral component. BMPs are inhibited by several factors, often used in neural differentiation protocols, including chordin and noggin. TGF- β -related family of proteins comprehend also activins and Nodal. Mutants in which Nodal signalling is compromised have an enlarged telencephalon, indicating that the correct development of forebrain requires blockade of Nodal signalling (Schier and Shen 2000).

SHH signalling is crucial for ventral patterning at all levels of the nervous system (Ericson et al. 1995; Ingham and McMahon 2001). SHH operates through a concentration gradient that regulate the dorso-ventral (DV) axis at different time points to confer different neuronal identities on the developing precursors (Kohtz et al., 1998). Loss- and gain-of function analyses in several species have shown that the SHH protein is necessary and sufficient for the development of ventral neural components and the expression of related neural markers. Embryos that lack SHH fail to form normal ventral telencephalon showing markedly reduced expression of ventral markers (Rallu et al. 2002). Furthermore, ectopic expression of Shh is sufficient to induce the expression of ventral telencephalic

markers, both *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* (Gaiano et al., 1999). Throughout the development Shh presents a complementary pattern of expression from Gli3 and genetic analysis shows that their activities strongly antagonize one another. Specifically, in the absence of Shh gene, the telencephalon is strongly dorsalized, whereas in the absence of Gli3, the telencephalon is ventralized. In the absence of both Gli3 and Shh, the general aspects of DV patterning are rescued (Rallu et al.2002). SHH activates several TFs including NKX2.1 (Kimura et al., 1996; Sussel et al., 1999), GSX2 (Corbin et al., 2000; Toresson, Potter, & Campbell, 2000; Yun et al., 2001), and PAX6 (Stoykova et al., 2000).

Retinoic acid (RA) is the biologically active form of vitamin A and has been implicated in survival, specification, proliferation, and differentiation of forebrain neurons (Marklund et al., 2004; Schneider et al., 2001). It has also been reported that in vitro LGE-derived neurospheres and hES cells induce GABAergic differentiation once RA was added to the media (Chatzi, Brade, and Duester 2011). Blocking RA in chick embryos prevents the expression of *Meis2* which is expressed in progenitors of SVZ and initial MZ of the telencephalon (Toresson et al., 1999). Studies in fish and frogs have implicated WNT, RA, and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) as 'posteriorizing' (or caudalizing) factors (Altmann and Brivanlou 2001; Sasai and De Robertis 1997), indicating that inhibitors of these diffusible signals are responsible for maintaining anterior neural identity.

With respect to the antagonism of **WNT** signalling, two proteins with this activity, CERBERUS and DICKKOPF, are present in the anterior endoderm of frogs, and can induce the formation of a head (but not a trunk) when mis-expressed in frog embryos (Bouwmeester et al., 1996; Glinka et al., 1998). WNTs belong to the wingless protein family and are a class of ligands fundamental in embryogenesis and CNS development. WNTs are involved in the initial antero-posterior (AP) orientation of the neural plate and are crucial for the development of dorsal telencephalon (Houart et al. 2002). Specific concentrations of WNTs are needed to precisely define regional patterning and to induce the expression of *Pax6* (Gunhaga et al. 2003). In the absence of WNT signalling, there is an ectopic expression of ventral TFs like GSX2, DLX2, and ASCL1 in dorsal telencephalon together with downregulation of the dorsal markers EMX1, 2 and 3 (Backman et al. 2005). This ectopic expression of ventral genes facilitated the cells of the dorsal region to acquire a ventral fate and potentially to become GABAergic projection neurons. A work in mice has shown that WNT signalling is necessary for right molecular characterisation and morphology of the dorsal telencephalon before the onset of neurogenesis and that the inhibition of WNT signalling is necessary for subpallial development (Backman et al. 2005).



Fig 1.3: Neural induction and regional patterning in vivo. (A) Neural induction is considered a 'default' pathway of differentiation and occurs mainly through inhibition of BMP/Nodal signaling, resulting in neural cells with rostral identity. (C) The regional identities within the central nervous system (CNS) are determined along the rostrocaudal and dorsoventral axes through the action of morphogens derived from various organizing centers (yellow). FP, floor plate; MHB, midbrain-hindbrain boundary (Suzuki and Vanderhaeghen 2015).

1.1.5 Cell cycle regulation

The formation of the central nervous system (CNS) is governed by a tightly regulated balance between progenitor cell proliferation, cell cycle exit and differentiation to distinctive neural phenotypes. This coordination is fundamental to generate the right number of neurons and correct neuronal networks. Ontogenetic mechanisms in the developing brain are the basis for the increase in neuron's amount in specific brain regions during phylogeny. For example, the vast presence of neurons in the gyrated mammalian neocortex arise from increased progenitor numbers during development and it is considered an evolutionary distinctive tract (Mora-Bermúdez et al. 2016). The majority of progenitor cells is within the VZ, where cells possess an epithelial polarity and comprise the stem cells of the developing nervous system, the neuroepithelial cells and ventricular (or apical) radial glia (vRGs). These cells undergo interkinetic nuclear migration (INM), with the soma migrating during the cell cycle towards the apical surface in M-phase and towards the basal surface in S-phase. Mitotic spindle orientation during M-phase is involved in the regulation of the size of progenitor cell pools in a multitude of tissues by coordinating the direction of cell division (Knoblich 2010). The cleavage plane of divisions in embryonic radial glia cells regulates the number of adult neural stem cells (aNSCs). Oblique or horizontal divisions which are considered asymmetric due to the different distribution of apico-basal components between daughter cells, are involved in asymmetric divisions leading to increased delamination of progenitor cells. The second type of divisions, the symmetric one, generates two neural progenitors that amplify their pool (Falk et al. 2017). aNSCs exhibit radial glia hallmarks, including apical end-feet with a primary cilium at the ventricle, elongated basal processes, and the expression of many radial-glial and astro-glial genes including *Glast* and *Gfap*.

During neuro-development, multipotential progenitors generate gradually more restricted precursors that will in the end produce neuronal or glial cells. A lot of key factors regulating cell cycle progression have been implicated in cell fate determination and differentiation of progenitors, while molecules important for differentiation are beginning to emerge as cell cycle regulators (Dubreuil et al. 2000; Heins et al. 2001; Nguyen et al. 2006). The neural tube, already after its formation, acquires dorso-ventral identity. The proliferation rate of neural progenitors in the dorsal part is faster than in the ventral part, whereas the opposite is true for the differentiation rate (Megason and McMahon 2002). A variety of early genes are expressed transiently at the progenitor stages and are downregulated before the exit from the proliferative zones (Ben-Arie et al. 1996; Scardigli et al. 2001). Therefore their ability to push cell cycle exit and potentiate neuronal differentiation depends on the induction of downstream genes (Bertrand, Castro, and Guillemot 2002).

Differentiated post-mitotic neurons after having exit the cell cycle, must avoid the re-entry into a proliferative state (Herrup and Yang 2007; Yang and Herrup 2007). In the adult nervous system neurons are typically found in a quiescent state, therefore they are considered as no more able to proliferate. However, some genes encoding for G1/S transition regulators can be found in different structures of the human adult brain. In some specific conditions these proteins could also lead to cell cycle re-entry. After acute stimuli such as neurotrophic factor deprivation, activity withdrawal, DNA damage, oxidative stress, and excitotoxicity, specific neurons can upregulate the expression of genes

important for reactivating the cell cycle. Under these conditions, they usually die at the G1/S checkpoint before any sign of DNA synthesis can be observed (Becker and Bonni 2004; Liu and Greene 2001).

Neurogenesis can occur also in adult brain of many species, including fish and birds, but in the mammalian brain it takes place at low levels in two specific regions: the olfactory bulb and the hippocampus. In particular in human adult hippocampus is still debated (Ernst and Frisén 2015; Kempermann et al. 2018). This process contributes to plasticity in the different regions, with regeneration not being its primary purpose and seems to be connected to higher cognitive functions such as learning and memory.



Fig 1.4: Mammalian neuronal progenitors and spindle orientation. (A) Cell subtypes in the developing mammalian brain. NESCs, neuroepithelial stem cells. RG, radial glia. IP, intermediate progenitor. oRG, outer radial glia. IP', transit amplifying intermediate progenitors. Adherens junctions are in red. (B) A putative role of spindle orientation in the decision of symmetric vs. asymmetric division (Noatynska, Gotta, and Meraldi 2012).

1.1.6 Primary cilium's roles in neural development

The majority of Autosomal recessive primary microcephaly (MCPH) proteins localize to the centrosomes or spindle poles (Manzini and Walsh 2011; Nigg and Raff 2009; Thornton and Woods 2009). Disruption of the centrosome or spindle -related functions are linked to the premature switch from symmetric to asymmetric cell division, mitotic entry defects, mitotic delay or arrest, and

apoptotic cell death, resulting in neural progenitors disruption and smaller brain size (Chen et al. 2014; Jayaraman et al. 2016; Sgourdou et al. 2017). MCPH associated proteins have been reported to regulate primary cilium biogenesis (assembly and disassembly) coupled with cell proliferation (Gabriel et al. 2016; Kim et al. 2011; Miyamoto et al. 2015).

In a recent paper (Zhang et al. 2019) cerebral organoids were generated to model microcephaly (WDR62 mutation) focusing on the role of primary cilia. The authors found that WDR62 deletion resulted in reduction of the size of organoids, increased percentage of ciliated progenitors, elongated cilium, reduced amount of cycling progenitors, increased asymmetric divisions, and premature cell cycle exit leading to decreased proliferation and premature differentiation (Zhang et al., 2019). Some of these phenotypes are comparable to our results in HD organoids (reported in the Results of this thesis) suggesting a possible influence of the primary cilia on the other aspects that requires further investigation. Moreover, the authors demonstrated that Cep170 (centrosome protein and marker of mature centrioles) co-localizes (IF data) and interacts (Co-IP data) with WDR62 at the basal body of the primary cilium and that Cep170 mutants (*in-vitro* data with MEFs and *in-vivo* data through in utero electroporation) presented similar ciliary phenotypes of those showed with WDR62 mutation (Zhang et al., 2019).

Interestingly Cep170 is an interactor of huntingtin (HTT) protein (HDinHD database) together with other components of primary cilium structure (Fig 1.5) such as Cep63, Cep126, IFT20 (intraflagellar transport 20, involved in the anterograde transport of proteins cargo towards to the cilium), and different members of Kinesin and Dynein motors involved respectively in anterograde and retrograde trafficking (DYNC1H1, DYNLL1, KIF2A, KIF3A, KIF5A, KIF5C). Many of these components have been demonstrated to influence the ciliary length, ciliary biogenesis and cell cycle progression (Broix et al. 2018; Kim et al. 2011; Li et al. 2011) leading to cortical and gyral pattern abnormalities associated also with microcephaly (Poirier et al. 2013). These data reinforce the link between MT-dependent processes at the level of primary cilia and neurodevelopmental pathologies. Indeed, centrioles in basal bodies influence cilia function while in centrosomes they mediate cell division. Cell cycle entry is preceded by cilium resorption, whereas exit from mitosis and differentiation are accompanied by cilium assembly. Thus, defects in cilia contribute to causing proliferative disorders and alterations in cellular differentiation (Bisgrove and Yost 2006).



Fig 1.5: Cilia structure and intraflagellar transport (Goetz and Anderson 2010).

In neural tissue, the cilium is required for Shh signaling and trafficking of Gli, a transcriptional effector of this signaling pathway. As Gli transcription factors can activate the expression of cell cycle regulators, including cyclin D1, failure of cilia function could block Gli-dependent activation of cyclin D1 control for G1–S (Jackson 2011). Evidence that vertebrate Shh signaling depends on cilia came from studies of mutants for IFT proteins that showed loss of the ventral cell types in the neural tube specified by high levels of Shh. Disruption of the kinesin-2 motor in KIF3A⁻ null embryos also caused similar defects in Shh-dependent neural patterning (Zhou 2009).

All the key components of Shh pathway are enriched in cilia: IFT proteins act at the heart of the Shh pathway, downstream of the membrane proteins patched 1 (PTCH1) and smoothened (SMO) and upstream of the Gli transcription factors that implement the pathway (Goetz and Anderson 2010). In the absence of Shh ligand, PTCH1 is localized to the base of the cilium and SMO is not associated with cilia (Corbit et al. 2005) while upon exposure to ligand, PTCH1 exits and SMO moves into the cilium (Fig 1.6).



Fig 1.6: Role of primary cilia in Shh signaling, in absence and in presence of the ligand (*Han and Alvarez-Buylla 2010*).

Shh expression in the notochord and limb buds of IFT mutants is normal, but the expression of downstream targets such as PTCH1 and Gli1 in responding tissues is reduced, consistent with a loss of Shh signal transduction. Interestingly, IFT mutants display a loss-of-function Shh phenotype in the neural tube, where Gli activators (Gli1, Gli2) have a major role in pattern formation, and a gain-of-function Shh phenotype in the limb, where the Gli3 repressor (Gli3R) plays the main role (Bisgrove and Yost 2006).

Moreover, additional indications of the primary cilia's role in telencephalic patterning and morphogenesis can be found in mutants for the ciliopathy gene Ftm (Besse et al. 2011). Telencephalic neuroepithelial cells of Ftm^{-/-} mice lack primary cilia and their subpallium is expanded at the expense of the pallium, in parallel with a decreased production of the short form of the Gli3 protein. Indeed, primary cilia produce short repressor form of Gli3, essential for neurodevelopmental patterning. These mutants showed defects in dorsoventral identity acquisition with dorsal Ngn2 and Pax6 expression markedly reduced in the anterior telencephalon whereas the Dlx2 and Gsx2 expression domains were expanded anteriorly and dorsally (Besse et al. 2011).

1.2 Brain Organoids

1.2.1 Why Organoids?

Since organs and tissues are three-dimensional (3D), important aspects influencing organogenesis are missing in conventional two-dimensional (2D) cultures. This problem has recently led to the development of protocols for *in-vitro* 3D cultures, called *organoids*, capable of developing organo-typically and exerting organ-specific functions. Concerning the HD modelling, we thought that the 3D strategy could highlight phenotypic differences between control and HD cells not only in terms of specific gene expressions but also for morphological and spatial organization, providing new methods to study brain development and to model Huntington's disease in-vitro.

1.2.2 Organoids definition and characteristics

Organoids exhibit some level of self-organization, due to the ability of stem and progenitor cells to autonomously generate the architectural complexity. The basic definition implies several important features that are characteristics of organs. First, it must contain some of the cell types of the modelled organ; second, it should present some function specific to that organ; and third, the cells should be spatially organized similarly to the organ itself. This similarity is also in terms of organization during development, through two major processes that regulate morphogenesis: "cell sorting out" and "spatially restricted lineage commitment" (Lancaster and Knoblich 2014). The first process is the capacity of cells to segregate and reorganize based on similar adhesive molecules and surface protein while the second is the correct progenitors' differentiation in a temporally and spatially restricted manner. Following this second principle, progenitors develop into more mature populations which because of spatial constraints and division orientation, are forced into a more distal localization that promotes their differentiation. These cells can sometimes further divide to give rise to more differentiated progeny, which are further displaced.

3D differentiation protocols require specialized tissue-culture conditions and in order to maintain their 3D growth: low-attachment plates and methods to increase oxygen exchange. This can be achieved by culturing in a high oxygen environment (40%), which requires a special incubator and access to O2 lines (Eiraku et al. 2008; Kadoshima et al. 2013; Sakaguchi et al. 2015) or by agitation, either in a spinning bioreactor or orbital shaker (Lancaster et al. 2013; Lancaster and Knoblich 2014; Qian et al. 2016). Finally, some 3D methods also need manual mechanical steps such as the isolation and aggregation of rosettes (Mariani et al. 2015) or the embedding of cerebral organoids in droplets of coating gel, usually Matrigel, to mimic extracellular-matrix components and give growth support (Lancaster et al. 2013; Iefremova et al. 2017). Organoids usually present large brain lobes containing fluid-filled cavities that resembled ventricular zones (VZ) of developing fetal brain, rather than the small neural tube-like lumens seen in rosettes of 2D cultures. These proliferative VZ like regions contain neural stem cells that, over time, produce a multilayered radial distribution of maturing cells around a central empty lumen (Di Lullo and Kriegstein 2017). In the case of cortical organoids, these structures included a marginal-like zone containing Reelin-positive Cajal–Retzius cells, a subplate-like region, and a cortical plate-like zone with cells positive for markers of deep and superficial layer neurons. These regions could reveal many aspects about cell polarity and migration and therefore we decided to focus on their morphology in our control and HD ventral forebrain organoids (see the Results' section of this thesis).



Fig 1.7: Schematic representation of cortical organoids generated with current protocols. Immunohistochemical analyses reveal rosette-like structures in immature and mature organoids. These contain neuroepithelial stem cells and ventricular radial glial cells (vRGs) that divide at the apical surface and form a ventricular-like zone (VZ) and a subventricular-like zone (SVZ). Intermediate progenitors (IPs) and outer radial glial cells (oRGs) surround the VZ forming the outer subventricular zone (OSVZ) while neurons and astrocytes are localized more external (Di Lullo and Kriegstein 2017).

1.2.3 History

The origin of organoid methods can be traced back to studies of developmental biology through experiments of cell dissociation and reaggregation from tissues (for example embryonic chick tissues) to investigate morphogenetic movements of cells *in-vitro* and their ability to segregate and reorganize. A major advancement in the history of brain organoids was the development of embryoid bodies (EBs) technique. EBs are multicellular 3D aggregates of PSCs that are often produced as an early step in stem cell differentiation protocols especially for neurons, to follow later modification resembling pre-gastrulation embryo. These aggregates were usually plated on coated dishes to generate clusters of neuroepithelial cells that self-organized in 2D culture to form rosettes (Shi et al. 2012; Elkabetz et al. 2008; Koch et al. 2009).

As 3D aggregation was not essential for efficient neural differentiation many neuronal protocols were then developed to skip the EBs steps and keep cells in monolayer adherent cultures for the entire protocol lifespan (Chambers et al. 2009; Espuny-Camacho et al. 2013; Tornero et al. 2013). Another important achievement was the study from Ying et al. in 2003 with the details to differentiate ESCs into neural precursors without serum or growth factors (Ying et al. 2003), highlighting the hPSCs' ability to spontaneously acquire neural identities due to autocrine signalling. The combination of the EB-derived rosette approach and the absence of serum lead to establish the so-called SFEB (serum free culture of embryoid bodies) method to obtain forebrain neural precursors from EBs with specific inductive signals and later plated in 2D on coated plates (Watanabe et al. 2005). This method was subsequently improved from the same laboratory with the protocol termed SFEBq (Eiraku et al, 2008), allowing the formation of large rosettes. This protocol take advantage from self-organization with patterning factors to induce the dorsal forebrain identity, such as polarized dorsal neuroepithelium, intermediate progenitors of the cerebral cortex and distinct types of cortical excitatory neuron.

Thus, the SFEBq method developed by the group of Yoshiki Sasai can be considered as something in between of 2D and 3D cultures that led to further publications of many protocols for different brain regions. More recently was published a modification of SFEBq method based on reaggregation after plating, showing large rosettes and mimicking the forebrain development (Mariani et al, 2015). The first entirely 3D neural culture was published in 2011 with the generation of optic cups from human PSCs (Eiraku et al. 2011), providing the proof of principle of maintaining neural tissue in 3D floating culture, which will self-organize to replicate physiological tissue architecture. A following method employing simple culture conditions and scaffold-free growth was developed to generate cortical

spheroids containing dorsal forebrain excitatory neurons (Paşca et al. 2015). This entirely 3D culture method includes a step of neural-progenitors expansion to promote the production of nonreactive astrocytes, cells that usually develop when the peak of neurogenesis is complete, suggesting high tissue maturation.

In parallel, the studies of Clevers, Sato and others on 3D cultures to mimic the intestinal crypts (Sato et al. 2009) revealed that embedding cells in a supportive extracellular matrix gel rich in laminin, like Matrigel, improve the self-organization of these cells into spatially defined epithelia with typical apicobasal polarity (Lancaster et al., 2013). The key discovery of Matrigel as a supportive matrix and the addition of later agitation in the floating cultures promoted formation of much larger tissues (up to 4 mm in diameter) than previously described and widened the field. In the last few years many protocols have been published to model different brain regions, including cortex (Lancaster et al. 2013; Kadoshima et al. 2013; Qian et al. 2016; Quadrato et al. 2017) hippocampus (Sakaguchi et al. 2015), midbrain (Jo et al. 2016; Monzel et al. 2017) cerebellum (Qian et al. 2016; Muguruma et al. 2015) retina (Quadrato et al. 2017; Eiraku et al. 2008) and adenohypophysis (Suga et al. 2011). Currently in the scientific community there are debates as to at which level of complexity an embryoid body becomes an organoid but also regarding the correct specific nomenclature (spheroids, brain organoids, cerebral organoids...) to better classify different type of 3D cultures. This lack of unique consensus about nomenclature may be due to the recent and short window of publications' delivery.



Fig 1.8: Timeline of recent in vitro methods of neural differentiation. A simplified representation of the recently developed in vitro methods for the generation of neuronal tissue from human and mouse PSC (Kelava and Lancaster 2016, Cell Stem Cell).

1.2.4 Homogeneity, complexity and variability

Current models of human neurodevelopment in vitro span a wide range of complexity. 2D traditional cultures of unpolarized NSCs are the least complex ones, presenting limited differentiation potential but high homogeneity and therefore suitable for high-throughput screening (Pollard et al. 2006). Although the neural rosettes are still cultured in monolayers, they are characterized by increasing complexity in fact these polarized neuroepithelial cells self-organize into radial arrangements that

mimic the neural tube (Shi et al., 2012). The protocols for SFEBq and spheroids could be considered as a modification of 2D rosettes, the tissue is plated on coated dishes but doesn't flat and maintain an intermediate level of complexity with extended apical surfaces.

Organoids are at the end of the spectrum as they show high complexity with expanded tissue organization not visible in 2D culture but also increased heterogeneity. Thus, 3D organoid approaches are currently preferable to address questions regarding cellular architecture and interactions. The balance between complexity and homogeneity is an important feature to consider when deciding which method to use.



Fig 1.9: The Trade-Off between Homogeneity and Complexity. A scale showing the relationship of the complexity of the cells/tissue produced by individual protocols, the homogeneity of the cells/tissues generated and their relative size (Kelava and Lancaster 2016, Cell Stem Cell).

This complexity of organoids, due to their spontaneous self-organization nature could lead to variability between different areas inside each sample or between different batches of samples (Lancaster et al., 2013; Quadrato et al., 2017). Concerning the common issue of variability, some organoids protocols started to use extrinsic patterning molecules to promote defined identity. It is still debated at which extent free self-organization should be favoured over guiding patterning molecules, because both protocols present advantages and disadvantages.

In the first type of protocol the spontaneous neural induction is achieved without patterning signalling molecules, promoting the generation of diverse brain regions (Lancaster et al. 2013; Li et al. 2017; Lindborg et al. 2016; Watanabe et al. 2017). Although such regional diversity is appealing it also could give a variable outcome with differentiation of some cells into non-ectodermal cell types (Camp et al. 2015; Quadrato et al. 2017). The second type of protocol optimize neural induction by mimicking endogenous patterning through the application of exogenous molecules. Commonly, neural induction includes inhibition of SMAD signalling to block mesoderm and endoderm formation (Chambers et al. 2009; Hemmati-Brivanlou and Melton 1994), followed by morphogens like sonic hedgehog or retinoic acid to specify dorso-ventral and rostro-caudal identity. The organoids generated with these protocols are generally more homogenous in cellular composition and regional identity. On the other hand, free un-patterned organoids obtained with the first type of protocol should in principle be able to mimic a largest diversity of cell types. Furthermore, differentiation of multiple cellular types of the brain (neuronal and glial) in a single organoid could favour maturation of the cells produced, implementing the formation of active neural networks.

Considering the variability of organoids, the classification of cells types is a fundamental requirement but methods generally used in neurobiology (for example, immunohistochemistry) might not fit well, mainly because the combination of few markers per cells cannot conclusively identify the specific cellular subpopulations. The recently developed high-throughput RNA sequencing analysis of thousands of single cells (scRNAseq), became extremely useful to establish fine molecular mapping and classification of the organoids' cellular composition. For example, a recent paper used droplet-based single-cell mRNA sequencing to analyse gene expression in 80,000 cells from 31 brain organoids after 3 and 6 months *in vitro* (Quadrato et al. 2017). Taking advantages from principal component analysis, 10 sub-populations of cells (better reported as "clusters") were identified in 6-month old organoids. These older organoids presented a greater diversity and a further maturation than the younger ones. Interestingly the same group has more recently published a new detailed work focusing on organoid-to-organoid variability through scRNAseq analyses of 21 single organoids and

proving their reproducibility also in the case of using different stem cell lines (Velasco et al. 2019). These studies highlighted the utility of scRNAseq approach in analysing complex samples like organoids to evaluate their level of heterogeneity.

This aspect is particularly critical because the heterogeneity can lead to issues with reproducibility, making it challenging to perform high-throughput screening with a robust and reliable readout and requiring careful morphological analyses. Technical improvement of the methods are now aiming at producing homogeneous organoids while maintaining a level of self-organizing capacity (Lancaster et al. 2017). Morphogenetic signals for example, with future engineered technics could be delivered by signal releasing beads or by growing organoids on carriers coated with signalling molecules to generate gradients and get a higher spatially or temporally controlled delivery. An example that exert more control over regional topography and tissue architecture is the recent publication from Studer's lab (Cederquist et al. 2019) in which they introduced by co-culture a sort of "signalling centre" into forebrain organoids to specify the positional identity with dorso-ventral and antero-posterior axes.

1.2.5 Modelling neurodevelopment and diseases

With the aim of understanding the level of similarity between *in vitro* methods and *in vivo* brain development several studies have employed gene expression analyses on cortical cultures by microarrays (Mariani et al.,2012; Paşca et al.,2015), RNA-seq (Mariani et al. 2015; Qian et al. 2016; van de Leemput et al. 2014) or single-cell RNA-seq (Camp et al. 2015; Velasco et al. 2019), and compared it to gene expression of the developing brain (Camp et al. 2015; Kang et al. 2011; Miller et al. 2014). All of these studies suggested that *in vitro* methods replicate remarkably well early *in vivo* brain development (middle and end of the 8–10 gestation weeks (GW)) with some of them reporting that the *in vitro* parallels the *in vivo* up to late mid-fetal period (19–24 GW) (Paşca et al. 2015; Qian et al. 2016). This means that such *in vitro* approaches are highly suitable for studies of human-specific brain normal and pathological development.



Fig 1.10: Timeline of human brain development. A timeline showing relative similarities between human in vivo brain development and the brain organoid protocol timeline. The relative similarity (cyan-purple gradient) is based on cell-biological and transcriptomics data from several studies (Kelava and Madeline A. Lancaster 2016, Dev. Biol.).

Consequently many studies have concentrated on diseases such as Microcephaly, a condition in which the head circumference is smaller than normal because the brain has not developed properly or has stopped growing (Lancaster et al., 2013, Qian et al. 2016), Lissencephaly like Miller-Dieker syndrome characterized by nearly absent cortical folding often associated with reduced brain size (Bershteyn et al. 2017; Iefremova et al. 2017) and ZIKA virus infections, whose exposure during early pregnancy can cause severe fetal brain defects (Cugola et al. 2016; Dang et al. 2016; Garcez et al. 2016; Watanabe et al. 2017).

Organoids are incredibly used, also to overcome the lack of translation from animal studies, due to species-specific features such as differences in developmental programs, cytoarchitecture, cell composition, and genetic background. Many uniquely human cognitive and behavioral diseases like autism spectrum disorder (ASD) or schizophrenia, present polygenic etiology, making them arduous to study with existing animal models. Organoids derived from patients with genetic diseases give the possibility of focus on disease mechanisms and discover human-specific phenotypes. Moreover, organoids are also appropriate for studies that require live, functioning tissue, such as the analysis of electrophysiological features or dynamic cell behaviours. Whole-organoid transcriptome analyses can be used to identify molecular and cellular alterations that may underlie neuropsychiatric disorders. In a publication from Vaccarino's group, forebrain organoids were generated from severe ASD patients showing dysregulated expression of FoxgI gene, accelerated cell cycle and increased

production of GABAergic neurons with consequent imbalance of excitatory/inhibitory networks (Mariani et al., 2015). Brain organoids have also been used from Pasca's group to model Timothy syndrome, a severe disease characterized by ASD and epilepsy (Birey et al. 2017). In this study, dorsal and ventral telencephalic organoids were fused to mimic interneuron migration, showing a cell-autonomous migration's defect in pathological samples. The assembly of organoids of different brain regions in culture was published in the same year from other two independent groups to analyse neuronal migration or networks and represents a huge advancement to overcome the limitation in studying brain cellular interactions with previous singular regional identity organoids (Bagley et al. 2017; Xiang et al. 2017).

Other studies have suggested that brain organoids may be relevant approaches even for late-onset diseases such as Alzheimer disease (AD), thanks to the presence of AD-like phenotype such as amyloid aggregation, hyperphosphorylated tau protein, and endosome abnormalities (Choi et al. 2014; Raja et al. 2016) pushing further these 3D models.

1.2.6 Limitations and challenges

Organoids replicate morphological organisation of fetal ventricular zones and some aspects of cortical layering, but additional levels of radial glial scaffold, gyrification and proper cortical layering still needs to be established. The heterogeneity in terms of diverse cell types in organoids could be an advantage for modelling complex cellular interactions but requires validation for the correlated variability. An improvement in terms of reproducibility that still maintain organoids self-organization was published by Lancaster and Knoblich groups (Lancaster et al. 2017) with the engineered use of bio-compatible material microfilaments as internal scaffold and the addition of dissolved Matrigel. The slow maturation of organoids may limit studies of later developmental events or latest stages of disease progression. Finally, the absence of body axes, the under-representation of peculiar cell types involved in brain development (such as endothelial cells, microglia and astrocytes) and the lack of proper neuronal connections are currently under consideration, for example with co-culture protocols (Giandomenico et al. 2019).

Vascularization is considered one of the major limitation of organoids approach. Early development of the neocortex progresses without it before blood vessels invade the cortical wall (Vasudevan et al. 2008) but later stages of development are strongly dependent on it. In the SVZ blood vessels work as a niche for neural progenitors (Javaherian and Kriegstein 2009) and are necessary for efficient neural

progenitor differentiation (Lange et al. 2016). Another linked issue is the difficulty of oxygen penetration that renders the centre of the organoid necrotic, interfering with its normal development and physiology. It will be necessary to focus the efforts on delivering signalling molecules deep inside the tissue, by cell culture modifications or engineering strategies. An example could be the use of microfluidic chambers (Bhatia and Ingber 2014; van Duinen et al. 2015) to have a fluid flow through the organoid with the combination of signaling molecule carriers to establish the right patterning.

Recently an important accomplishment in this direction was obtained by Gage's group, showing that intracerebral transplantation of brain organoids in mice results in growth of blood vessels with better cell viability and maturation, compared to organoids maintained *in-vitro* (Mansour et al. 2018). Interestingly the host vascular system invades the grafted organoids with blood flow and migration of some host microglia. This approach needs future improvements to limit possible damages in the host's brain but has the advantage of being comparable to the developmental angiogenesis and allows investigation of the host-organoid interaction.

The failure of many neurotherapeutic approaches to translate from animal models to clinical practice underscores the need for better predictive models, and despite the mentioned limitations, brain organoids may help bridge this divide.

1.3 HD in vitro models

1.3.1 Fundamental aspects

In comparison to most other neurodegenerative disorders, such as Parkinson's disease (PD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), or Alzheimer's disease (AD), HD is a monogenic disorder. This is an advantage for generation of hPSC models. Moreover, animal models have been useful to elucidate many aspects of the disease but because of species-specific differences studying human neurologic disease remains challenging. The human forebrain is significantly increased in cell number and complexity (Clowry, Molnár, and Rakic 2010), and the normal HTT CAG repeat tract is expanded from 7 in rodent to ~20 in humans. Furthermore, the human HTT locus encodes for multiple mRNA isoforms, thus generating multiple HTT proteins, some of which are present only in higher apes and humans (Ruzo et al. 2015). Therefore, a comprehensive set of *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* models ranging from mouse to human may be necessary in order to study HD.

Traditionally, HD cellular models consisted of rodent neurons expressing expanded polyQ repeats in HTT. Since these latter can be limited in their disease manifestation or proper genetic context, human HD PSCs are currently being adopted both for modelling and drug screening. It is fundamental to define which lines of HD cells should be employed, particularly in terms of polyQ length. As HD onset can occur with a broad spectrum of polyQ tracts (36–180+), researchers would ideally use multiple lines carrying a wide range of repeats to faithfully resemble disease pathogenesis and even understand whether any CAG-length dependent phenotypes are present. Therefore, as obtaining hES lines from embryos is limited, patient skin biopsies with different polyQ lengths are typically collected to derive fibroblasts and reprogram them into hiPSCs.

The next critical question relates to the choice of proper control lines (Mattis and Svendsen 2017). Controls can be gene-edited cells by the correction of the gene and the generation of isogenic cell lines (An et al. 2012) such as small interfering RNAs, short hairpin RNAs, or antisense oligonucleotides (Mattis et al. 2015) to knockdown the expression of mHTT. Recent studies in fact moved toward the "gold standard" isogenic lines as controls (An et al. 2014; Ruzo et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2017), because having the identical genetic and epigenetic backgrounds they may better replicate the differences in polyQ length and severity (J.-M. Lee et al. 2012), as well as individual genotypic variability (Boulting et al. 2011; Hu et al. 2010). It has been show that CRISPR/Cas9 can be targeted to single nucleotide differences between expanded and nonexpanded alleles (Hsu, Lander, and Zhang 2014), in order to specifically delete the mutant allele. Ideally, the best cellular system to replicate

CAG repeat phenotypes would result from a wide cohort that combines isogenic lines together with lines from individuals with different genetic backgrounds (iPSCs).

The majority of publications focused on HD phenotypes in hiPSC (Park et al. 2008), neural stem cell (NSC) (Bradley et al. 2011; HD iPSC Consortium 2012; Naphade et al. 2018; Niclis et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2010), glia (Juopperi et al. 2012), or different neuronal cultures (Conforti et al. 2018; McQuade et al. 2014; Nguyen et al. 2013; Niclis et al. 2013).



Fig 1.11: The generation and application of iPSCs in HD research. HD patient-specific iPSCs can be obtained by reprogramming of skin fibroblasts. Established iPSCs can be used as a tool for better understanding the molecular basis of HD. Moreover, HD-iPSCs can be differentiated into specific cell types predominantly affected in the disease (striatal MSNs). Emerging gene therapies make the genetic correction of HD-iPSCs become feasible, useful for autologous transplantation strategies (Liu et al. 2016).

1.3.2 Neurodevelopmental models and neurodegenerative disease

One of the major open question in the field is how to study an adult-onset disease with a developmental model, such as *in-vitro* differentiation of hPS cells. Several strategies have been developed in order to artificially "age" PSC-derived HD models, for example employing various cellular stressors (An et al. 2012; HD iPSC Consortium 2012). PD researchers managed to rapidly age hPSCs by overexpressing the gene mutated in the aging disease Progeria (Miller et al. 2013). This method, although quite advantageous, was artificially design and opened the question to what extent the effect observed mimics physiological or pathological aging.

It is known that normal HTT has crucial roles in neural development, in fact the lack of huntingtin in mice results in embryonic lethality soon after gastrulation, while its early embryonic knock out from pyramidal neurons yield reduced cortical and striatal size due to the lower amount of neurons. Additional suggestions can be found in the depletion of HTT in postmitotic projection neurons during embryonal development, that leads to the mis-localization of layer-specific neuronal populations in the murine neocortex (Dragatsis et al. 2018; Zeitlin et al. 1995).

On the other side the effect of mHTT during this period and the possible neurodevelopmental defects underlying HD are still unclear. In fact, despite HD is characterized by neurodegeneration in adult life, an increasing number of studies are focusing on changes occurring during fetal development, that may lead specific neuronal populations to be more susceptible to the mutations with consequent later neurodegeneration (Nguyen et al. 2013). These results are suggesting a possible neurodevelopmental component in the disease (Kerschbamer and Biagioli 2016; Mehler and Gokhan 2000). A piece of evidence supporting this hypothesis comes from pre-manifest HD (pre-HD) individuals who present brain abnormalities years before the clinical onset. Moreover, neurological changes occur 15-20 years before symptoms (Gómez-Tortosa et al. 2001; Philpott et al. 2016; Tabrizi et al. 2009), whereas neurocognitive, psychiatric and motor signs are evident <10 years prior (Stout et al. 2011). Furthermore, prodromal HD patients seem to have a smaller intracranial volume (Lee et al. 2012; Nopoulos et al. 2011), linking the HD mutation to characteristics of neural development. Indeed, the intracranial volume is due to the maximal brain growth obtained during development and not a potential shrinkage as a part of a disease. The interpretation, still debated in the community, is that these defects of altered development can compromise neuronal homeostasis and increase cellular vulnerability to later stressors during adult life (Ramocki and Zoghbi 2008). While large-scale effects may not appear until adulthood, subclinical transcriptional alterations could create a different starting point in HD relative to non-HD brain and could contribute to incorrect structural connectivity (Novak et al. 2015).

Experiments of conditional mouse models helped in revealing this neurodevelopmental component, such as the conditional deletion of huntingtin gene in the whole brain from E14.5, presenting progressive degenerative neuronal phenotype and resembling several HD phenotypes (Dragatsis, Levine, and Zeitlin 2000). Another strong evidence comes from a recent paper (Molero et al. 2016) that revealed how conditional mice expressing mHTT only until postnatal day 21 presented a phenotype similar to mice expressing mHTT throughout their entire life. In line with these results, there are also evidences on developmental abnormalities in striatal and cortical neurogenesis in HD mice. Furthermore, a previous study from the same lab (Molero et al. 2009) proved that the striatum of Hdh-Q111 (HD) embryonal mice was structurally different compared to Hdh-Q18 (WT) ones. Particularly, the HD mice exhibited delayed acquisition of early striatal cytoarchitecture with aberrant expression of progressive markers of MSN neurogenesis (Islet1, DARPP-32, mGluR1, and NeuN).

Recent identification of genetic factors that are able to modify the age of HD onset proposes that the pathologic process is modifiable prior to clinical diagnosis (Genetic Modifiers of Huntington's Disease (GeM-HD) Consortium et al. 2015) suggesting that intervening before disease onset might be of some therapeutic value.

1.3.3 Characterization of HD in-vitro models

One of the first results with hiPS cells to model HD was published from Ellerby's group (Zhang et al. 2010). They generated NESTIN⁺/PAX6⁺/SOX1⁺/OCT4⁻ neural stem cells (NSCs) from HD-iPS cells taking advantages from the embryoid body method. HD-NSCs were then subjected to a differentiation protocol with morphogens and neurotrophins to induce striatal lineage identity. HD-NSCs showed enhanced caspase activity upon growth factor deprivation compared to normal NSCs. Additional results revealed that neurons generated from patient-derived hiPSC exhibited similar phenotypes to those observed in human HD patient tissue and HD animal models, such as genetic anticipation (Swami et al. 2009), dysregulated calcium and glutamate signalling (Bezprozvanny and Hayden 2004; Greenamyre et al. 1985; Laforet et al. 2001) and aberrant BDNF trafficking (Drouet et al. 2009; Gauthier et al. 2004). Transcriptomic studies highlighted categories like signalling, cell cycle, axonal guidance, and neural development as significantly altered in HD hiPSCs compared to control counterparts (An et al. 2012; HD iPSC Consortium 2012; Ring et al. 2015).

In a recent paper (Hung et al. 2018), the researchers used human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) to immortalize fibroblasts obtained from individuals with different age, sex, disease onset, and CAG repeat length. The pathological cells presented some HD phenotypes, such as altered morphology, growth rate, increased sensitivity to oxidative stress, aberrant ADP/ATP ratios, and hypo-phosphorylated huntingtin protein. They also noticed dysregulated reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent huntingtin localization to nuclear speckles in HD cells.

As discussed above (see chapter 1.3.2), normal HTT has essential roles in the developing brain. Few recent reports have begun to indicate that some aspects of HD pathogenesis might start during embryogenesis (Godin and Humbert 2011; HD iPSC Consortium 2017; Lopes et al. 2016; Molero et al. 2009). HD iPSCs-derived neurons display defects in their maturation, electrophysiology, metabolism, cell adhesion and, ultimately, cell death, consistent with an impairment during human neurogenesis. RNAseq analyses from the work of HD Consortium (HD iPSC Consortium, 2017) identified downregulated expression of genes involved in glutamate and GABA signaling, axonal guidance and calcium influx in HD cultures. Particularly affected were the pathways regulating neuronal development and maturation, suggesting that specific gene networks could represent potential therapeutic targets. The authors then tested a small molecule, isoxazole-9 (Isx-9), because of his connection with many of the dysregulated gene networks. Isx-9 rescued some CAG repeat-associated phenotypes in HD iPSC-derived neural cultures, as well as cognition and synaptic pathology in a mouse model for HD (R6/2), proving that these deficits are almost reversible with final improvement of synaptic homeostasis (HD iPSC Consortium, 2017).

The generation of the first isogenic hESC line with CRISPR/Cas9 to model HD has been recently published (Ruzo et al., 2018). They revealed that these HD-hESCs recapitulate some previously reported neuronal phenotypes, thus validating the model, but also a new unexpected phenotype. Chromosomal instability during *in-vitro* neurogenesis resulted in the generation of multinucleated neural progenitors and neurons, at a frequency proportionally correlated to polyQ length. Together, these data support the idea that HD is not merely an adult-onset disease but also has a neurodevelopmental component. In the same work, they observed phenotypes on rosette size and organization that is in line with a role of HTT in polarity, as reported from reduced cell adhesion in HD-iPSC neural progenitors, neural tube defects in zebrafish embryos, randomization of epithelial polarity in the skin of frog embryos, and reduced rosette formation in mESCs (Conforti et al. 2018; Haremaki et al. 2015; Lo Sardo et al. 2012).
CRISPR/Cas9 approach has also been used in a previous study to correct HD hiPSCs from Pouladi's group (Xu et al. 2017), proving that the defects observed in pathological neural cells, including impaired neural rosette formation, increased susceptibility to growth factor withdrawal, and mitochondrial respiration deficits, are rescued in isogenic controls. Importantly, by genome-wide expression analysis, they showed how some apparent gene expression alterations between HD and non-related control lines were undetectable between HD and corrected isogenic counterparts. This analysis suggests that the first variances were likely due to the different genetic background rather than HD-specific effects, highlighting the importance of isogenic controls for disease modelling with hPSCs. The same group has more recently published (Ooi et al. 2019) the use of genome editing to obtain an allelic series of isogenic HD (IsoHD) hESC lines carrying different CAG repeat lengths in the first exon of HTT. To investigate tissue-specific effects, the IsoHD panel was differentiated into neural progenitors, neurons, hepatocytes, and muscle cells. Functional analyses in differentiated neural cells revealed HD-related abnormalities in mitochondrial respiration and oxidative stress, as well as elevated markers of DNA damage and enhanced susceptibility to drug-induced DNA damage with reduced cellular proliferation. Through whole-transcriptome and whole-proteome analysis they discovered CAG repeat length-dependent phenotypes with cell-type specificity.

The lab, in which I am doing my PhD, has recently described that HD iPSC lines are defective in their ability to acquire both ventral ad dorsal telencephalic identity, in 2D cultures. In particular, the differentiation efficiency of HD iPSCs was reduced compared to CTRL lines, presenting defects in specification and maturation (Conforti et al. 2018). In the same work, cortical organoids were differentiated revealing disrupted cytoarchitecture in HD lines. The gene expression analysis revealed how control organoids overlap with mature human fetal cortical areas, while HD counterparts correlate with the immature zones (VZ/SVZ). The authors also showed that down-regulation of mHTT or inhibition of one of its effectors, ADAM10, successfully rescues neuronal differentiation, suggesting that early intervention may revert neurodegeneration later in life.



Fig 1.12: Reversal of phenotypic abnormalities by CRISPR/Cas9-mediated Gene Correction in HD hiPSCs. Both HD and corrected isogenic hiPSCs can be differentiated into forebrain neurons, demonstrating that phenotypic abnormalities in HD hiPSC-derived neural cells, including impaired neural rosette formation, increased susceptibility to growth factor withdrawal, and deficits in mitochondrial respiration, are rescued in isogenic controls (Xu et al., 2017).

1.3.4 Organoids' approach to study HD

The previous work performed in the lab focused on cortical organoids from iPSC (Conforti et al. 2018), while this thesis regards organoids with ventral telencephalic identity, the region that during human fetal development give rise to the striatum, using a panel of hESC isogenic lines. These cells were generated with CRISPR/Cas9 from hESC RUES2, differing only by the length of the CAG repeats to avoid noise due to different genetic background. We received them from professor Ali Brivanlou at the Rockefeller University in the context of a collaboration.

Our interest is to investigate in a simplified system like *in-vitro* culture, the possible neurodevelopmental component of HD focusing on aspects hard to appreciate in a 2D culture, such as polarity, morphogenesis and migration. We decided to take advantage of organoids because of their cellular composition and organization. The use of a patterned protocol with ventralizing signalling molecules gave us a 3D model of ventral telencephalon development with an intermediate level of complexity, appropriate for deriving information about cellular interactions.

Moreover, we want to use control and HD organoids as a platform to discover underlying pathological mechanisms, that may be already present during neural development.

2. Results and discussion

2.1 Mimicking the human telencephalon development with organoids

2.1.1 Generation of telencephalic organoids with dorsal or ventral identity

Here we first focussed on the recapitulation of human neural development verifying how organoids acquire correct dorsal or ventral identities. We first took advantage from the Lancaster protocol (Lancaster et al. 2013; Lancaster and Knoblich 2014) to produce cortical telencephalic organoids, introducing an adaptation of the original protocol to obtain quite homogeneous organoids without bioreactors. The major differences consist in putting the aggregates on rotation since day5 and maintaining them in rotation after matrigel embedding while the media are the same from the published protocols (see the materials and methods chapter of this thesis).

We kept the cortical organoids in culture until day 45 and then analysed them by immunohistochemistry. The organoids are characterized by regions of progenitors and although they differ in dimensions this internal organization is maintain between different samples (Fig 2.1).



Dorsal organoids WT 20cag day45 Pax6 BIIITubulin Hoechst

Fig 2.1: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT dorsal organoids at day 45 of differentiation for PAX6, β IIITUBULIN and Hoechst. Different organoids are shown. Scale bar 100 μ m on the top right.

Investigating the dorso-ventral identity, we found cells positive for dorsal markers such as TBR2, CTIP2, TBR1 and negative for ventral markers like GSX2 (Fig 2.2). For this reason, we will refer to them as "dorsal" organoids.

In conclusion we were able to replicate the published protocol with hES Rues2 cell line, although compared to the original one it seems to be very dorsalized, maybe due to our adaptation. In the published protocol, in fact, the authors declared of having some organoids (around 34%) with few ventral regions marked by NKX2.1, while all of them (100%) presented dorsal cortical identity (Lancaster et al. 2013). This characteristic is in-line with the tendency of hPSC to acquire by "default" a dorsal lineage (Gaspard et al. 2008; Muñoz-Sanjuán and Brivanlou 2002).



Fig 2.2: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT dorsal organoids at day 45 of differentiation for PAX6, TBR2, TBR1, GSX2, N-CADHERIN, β IIITUBULIN and Hoechst. Different slices of the same organoid are shown. Scale bar 100µm on the bottom right.

In literature it is possible to find many protocols to derive organoids for different brain regions but methods that resemble ventral telencephalon are less developed. The major ones are three independent and quite simultaneous studies (Bagley et al. 2017; Birey et al. 2017; Xiang et al. 2017) in which ventral organoids resemble the MGE, the region that give rise to inhibitory interneurons. These organoids are then fused with dorsal ones to model interneurons' migration in the cortex during development. To achieve a strong ventral identity they used patterning factors for SHH signalling such as Purmorphamine and SHH in Xiang et al., 2017 and Smoothened agonist (SAG) in Birey et al., 2017 and Bagley et al., 2017.

To generate our ventral protocol we took inspiration from the differentiation protocol that the lab, in which I am doing my PhD, published in 2013 (Delli Carri et al. 2013) for adherent cell culture to get medium spiny neurons (MSN). The mechanical steps are similar to the dorsal organoids' protocol shown above but the media are different. In particular, neural induction in 3D is achieved with the dual SMAD inhibition strategy with SB and LDN (Chambers et al. 2009). The ventral identity is then pushed by SHH (Gaiano et al. 1999; Rallu et al. 2002) and by Dkk1 that inhibits WNT (Backman et al. 2005; Suzuki and Vanderhaeghen 2015).

In our protocol the organoids show neuroepithelial EBs characteristics around day 15-17, before the Matrigel embedding, with cells expressing SOX2, NESTIN, KI67, initial levels of NKX2.1, BIIITubulin and no pluripotency (Oct4) (Fig 2.3 upper line). At day 35 the ventral organoids present organized structures of progenitors (SOX2/NESTIN/BLBP) and neurons (βIII-TUBULIN) with telencephalic ventral identity (GSX2/MASH1/NKX2.1/ISLT1) (Fig 2.3 central line). At later time points, day 50-60, these organoids show markers specific for mature ventral telencephalon (EBF1, CTIP2, GAD67) and they maintained the presence of organized structures of progenitors (SOX2) and neurons (MAP2) with few astrocytes marked by GFAP (Fig 2.3 lower line).



Fig 2.3: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT ventral organoids at day 15, 35 and 55 of differentiation. Markers at day 15 in the upper line: βIII-TUBULIN, SOX2, NESTIN and KI67. Markers at day 35 in the central line: βIII-TUBULIN, SOX2, MASH1, GSX2, NESTIN, BLBP, ISLT1 and NKX2.1. Markers at day 55 in the lower line: βIII-TUBULIN, SOX2, EBF1, GAD67, CTIP2, GFAP, MAP2. Different organoids are shown. Scale bar 100µm on each image.

2.1.2 Ventral telencephalic organoids from a single cell perspective

Nowadays high-throughput RNA sequencing analysis of thousands of single cells became extremely useful to establish fine molecular mapping of the organoids' cellular composition. A recent publication from Arlotta's group focused on dissecting the organoid-to-organoid variability through scRNAseq analyses of 21 single organoids and proving their reproducibility also in the case of using different stem cell lines (Velasco et al. 2019). Other works took advantages from this recent technic for comparison with human cortical development (Camp et al. 2015; Giandomenico et al. 2019) and for evolutionary studies (Mora-Bermúdez et al. 2016; Pollen et al. 2019), highlighting the utility of scRNAseq approach with heterogeneous and complex samples like the 3D cultures.

We planned scRNAseq analyses with the final aim of understanding at which transcriptomic level WT and HD organoids are different and furthermore to visualize possible misrepresented subpopulations in HD samples. For example in HD organoids, compared to WT, we could find an unbalanced composition between progenitors and mature neurons or the presence of misdifferentiated cells towards unwanted identities. Our preliminary experiment is focused on three individual ventral organoids WT (line edited with 20CAG) and three HD (line edited with 56CAG) at day 45 of differentiation. At the moment of writing this thesis the bioinformatic analyses are still ongoing, giving the priority to WT samples to understand their variability and characterize their ventral identity from a single cell perspective.

Quality control analyses performed on the three WT organoids at day 45 reveal similar results between these samples, suggesting that there is no variability or batch effects at least in terms of quality check. There is a low expression of mitochondrial genes with only a few outlier cells, indicating that the process of dissociation in single cells suspension with following steps of emulsion (see Material and methods, paragraph 4.8.2) did not stress the cells (Fig 2.4 left graph). Another important parameter is the numbers of sequenced genes, indicator of the correct procedure, where the few outlier points could represent emulsion drops with more than one cell (Fig 2.4 right graph). The values in these analyses are comparable with others obtained from our lab with human fetal brain samples at 9 and 11 weeks of age.



Fig 2.4: Boxplot graph of quality control analyses on mitochondrial genes expression and number of sequenced genes of three singular organoid WT 20CAG at day 45 of differentiation.

Analyzing together the WT organoids, the louvain algorithm identified ten different clusters, shown in the tSNE plot in Fig 2.5. These clusters are generated by the cells of all the samples with no batch effects, suggesting good reproducibility between the three individual WT organoids (Fig 2.5 on the right). This aspect was really important to us, because a common issue with organoids is the usually high heterogeneity that inherently leads to low reproducibility.



Fig 2.5: tSNE plots of single cells clustering with louvain algorithm of three singular organoid WT 20CAG at day 45 of differentiation.

We then looked for specific markers of ventral telencephalon development inside the clusters (Fig 2.6). Almost all the cells express *Foxg1* with similar expression levels between different clusters (recognizable from the scale on the right), indicating general telencephalic identity. *Sox2*, *Gsx2* and *Ascl1* are more expressed in cluster 6, 2 and 0, suggesting ventral progenitor status (Ferri et al. 2013; Pauly et al. 2014). The *Dlx* genes are shown in the order of their temporal expression during fetal subpallium development: $Dlx2 \rightarrow Dlx1 \rightarrow Dlx5 \rightarrow Dlx6$ (Panganiban and Rubenstein 2002) highlighting the sub-divisions into progenitors (clusters 6, 2 and 0) and neurons (clusters 7 and 5). Doublecortin (DCX), microtubule-associated protein, is expressed by immature and mature neurons in development (Walker et al. 2007) and is fundamental for neuronal migration by regulating the stability of microtubules (Gleeson et al. 1999). DCX is expressed in all clusters except number 6 reinforcing his identification as a population of early progenitors. We then checked the expression of glutamate decarboxylase gene *Gad2*, that encodes for GAD65, which is present preferentially in presynaptic terminals for synthesis of GABA (Le et al. 2017). *Gad2* showed the same pattern of DCX, suggesting immature identity of cluster 6 and the presence of GABAergic neurons inside our organoids (Fig 2.6).



Fig 2.6: tSNE plots of single cells clustering for specific markers of ventral telencephalon development of three singular organoid WT 20CAG at day 45 of differentiation.

As negative controls, we looked for gene expression patterns of dorsal markers such as *Pax6*, *Tbr1* and *Slc17a6* (or vGlut2) (Englund et al. 2005; Fremeau et al. 2004; Vigneault et al. 2015). These genes are nearly absent in all the clusters of our organoids confirming their ventral identity (Fig 2.7). Only *Pax6* shows low expression in cluster 6, the putative sub-population of early progenitors, that could resemble neuroectodermal cells and the first VZ layers of the human LGE (Hansen et al. 2013).



Fig 2.7: tSNE plots of single cells clustering for specific markers of dorsal telencephalon development of three singular organoid WT 20CAG at day 45 of differentiation.

These preliminary results confirm previous immunohistochemistry data, shown above, regarding the presence of both neural progenitors and more mature neurons with ventral telencephalic identity in our organoids. In particular, the cluster number 6, of putative early progenitors, results to be small compared to the total amount of cells and this is reasonable considering the maturation of WT organoids at day 45, time of the analysis. Further detailed investigations are still necessary to classify each cluster in terms of specific cellular subpopulation. Moreover, future analyses will also focus on HD counterparts to verify their internal variability and understand if there are different subpopulations compared to the WT organoids.

2.1.3 Comparison of the two protocols

The comparison between dorsal and ventral organoids generated by the two different protocols presented above, showed correct identity acquisition since the stage of progenitors cells inside the proliferative rosettes-like structures. In particular, as shown in figure 2.8 TBR2 is present only in dorsal organoids while GSX2 and MASH1 are present only in the ventral ones (Fig 2.8).



30µm

Fig 2.8: Comparison of immunohistochemistry analyses of WT dorsal and ventral organoids at day 45 of differentiation for TBR2, GSX2, and MASH1. Lumens of VZ structures marked by N-CADHERIN or PALS1. Schematic representation the different marked regions in developmental brain at the bottom. Scale bar 30µm on the bottom right.

Concerning the formation and organization of progenitors' structures, we compared the two protocols for dorsal and ventral organoids. The structures' amount inside the two types of organoids is similar. Indeed, the quantification of these VZ like structures per slice of organoids that does not present significative differences (Fig 2.9). We noticed that they present different morphology as the cortical ones are thicker compared to the ventral one. This quantification takes into consideration the internal area (derived from lumen's markers like PALS1) and the outside area (derived from the lower signal of BIIITubulin). The lumen size (PALS1 area) is similar while the thickness (differences between external and internal area) or the ratio (ratio of the two areas) are significantly different showing structure with broader expansion in dorsal organoids (Fig 2.9).



Fig 2.9: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT dorsal and ventral organoids at day 45 of differentiation. Quantification of numbers of VZ like structures per each slice by PALS1 staining at the top. Quantification of thickness and ratio of VZ like structures by BIIITubulin and PALS1 staining at the bottom. Scale bar 100µm for the top images and 30µm for the bottom images (Manual measurement. N=13 VZ structures per protocol. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, *p< 0,05, **** p<0,0001)

Although we don't know the precise reason of this morphological difference, there could be a physiological meaning. The cortex is the most expanded region in the brain with evolutionary trend so that the human have the biggest surface organized in folds, due to the amplification of cortical progenitors in VZ and SVZ (Lui, Hansen, and Kriegstein 2011; Otani et al. 2016). Interestingly a similar difference between dorsal and ventral organoids seems to be present also in a recent publication (Bagley et al. 2017) in which the two structures were separately generated and then fused to model inhibitory interneurons' migrations.

2.1.4 Recapitulation of LGE organization in ventral organoids

We then wondered if progenitors' structures in ventral organoids are representative of LGE development. We noticed that ventral organoids showed progenitors structures organized like VZ of LGE, with GSX2 closer to the lumens of the structures and MASH1 more far (Onorati et al. 2014). For this physiological conformation we also called them "VZ like structures". To investigate the distribution of these markers we created concentric areas around the lumens of the structures (Fig 2.10) and quantify the percentage of cells positive for each marker (GSX2 and MASH1) in each area (1, 2, 3). This assay is designed by ImageJ with manual drawing of the lumen's staining and sequential automatic drawing of the concentric areas as a progressive scale of the lumen. Then it was possible to manually count the cells in each area with the Cell Counter plugin of ImageJ. This approach highlight that WT ventral organoids are able to self organize in progenitors structures that resemble the LGE organizations. In fact, GSX2⁺ and MASH1⁺ populations are characterized by an opposite and significant trend. GSX2⁺ progenitors display closer to the lumen with higher percentage of positive cells in area 1, while MASH1 positive cells are more localized in area 3 (Fig 2.10).



Fig 2.10: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation for GSX2, MASH1, N-CADHERIN and PALS1. Quantification of numbers of cells positive for GSX2 or MASH1 in each concentric area at the bottom. Schematic representation of LGE sub-regions in developmental brain on the left. Scale bar $30\mu m$ (Manual counting. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, **p<0,01, ****p<0,0001. N= 15 VZ structures from 12 organoids of 3 biological replicates.)

To verify how consistent is this distribution, each singular VZ like structure quantified for GSX2 is showed in Fig 2.11. By measuring area and perimeter of the lumens (with PALS1 and N-CADHERIN staining) we demonstrate that the assay is independent from the lumens' size. This consideration is important because lumens are variable from structure to structure but their progenitors' distribution is an intrinsic characteristic that resemble the radial migration of cells in LGE from VZ to SVZ (Fig 2.11).



Fig 2.11: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation for GSX2, N-CADHERIN and PALS1. Quantification of numbers of cells positive for GSX2 in each concentric area for each singular VZ structure at the top. Measurement of area and perimeter for each singular VZ structure on the bottom. Scale bar $30\mu m$ (Manual measurement. N= 15 VZ structures from 12 organoids of 3 biological replicates)

2.1.5 Reliability of the assay and recapitulation of cortex organization in dorsal organoids

Taking in consideration literature data (Di Lullo and Kriegstein 2017; Paşca et al. 2015; Qian et al. 2016) in which cellular organization in radial areas seems peculiar of 3D culture, we replicated similar analyses in dorsal telencephalic organoids (generated with the adaptation of Lancaster organoids shown above). The assay of concentric areas can be applied to these organoids (Fig 2.12) to study the correct distribution of cortical markers revealing its suitability and robustness. Also these dorsal telencephalic organoids have radial distribution of cells maturating from the center of VZ like structures that mimic the development of human cerebral cortex with PAX6 closer to the lumens, TBR2 in the external part of the structures and CTIP2 or TBR1 more distant (Fig 2.12).





Fig 2.12: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT dorsal organoids at day 45 of differentiation for PAX6, TBR2, CTIP2, TBR1 and N-CADHERIN. Quantification of numbers of cells positive for each marker in each concentric area at the bottom. Scale bar $30\mu m$ (Manual measurement. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001 **** p < 0.0001. N= 4 VZ structures from 4 organoids of 1 biological replicate.)

Although many publications have already compared the progenitors' rosette-like regions of organoids to the VZ and SVZ or IZ regions of embryonal brain in development (Jo et al. 2016; Paşca et al. 2015) they usually define layers based on the distribution of markers for specific cell populations. A clear example can be found in the quantification of layers thickness, subdivided in VZ, SVZ and CP, based on the area occupied by SOX2 and CTIP2 positive cells (Qian et al. 2016). Instead in our analyses we tried to have a slightly different approach in which the concentric areas are based on each structures' morphology to later investigate the distribution of specific markers in these pre-defined areas. An example similar to our method is the subdivision of the entire neuroepithelium span into five equal portions (called bins) in which are then quantified SOX2 and the outer radial glia marker HOPX (Li et al. 2017). However, in this case the bins could result more arbitrarily defined, because of the lack of a precise end of the neuroepithelium span.

2.1.6 Preliminary conclusions about mimicking the human telencephalon development

On the basis of the above evidence we conclude that:

- i. We have developed a new protocol for ventral telencephalic organoids that show typical ventral markers of neural induction at early time points and of GABAergic maturation at later time points.
- ii. Preliminary scRNAseq results from ventral organoids confirmed the immunohistochemistry data and the absence of dorsal neurons' sub-populations
- iii. The comparison of protocols for dorsal and ventral organoids showed the correct identity acquisition since the progenitor's stage. These cells presented a radial distribution in concentric areas around lumens that resemble cortex and LGE in development.
- iv. Dorsal and ventral organoids present progenitors' structures in equal number but with different thickness

Despite differences in technical details, all the other published protocols for ventral organoids (Bagley et al. 2017; Birey et al. 2017; Xiang et al. 2017) resemble the MGE region of the brain with the majority of the cells being positive for NKX2.1. Our protocol have in common with them several ventral markers but seems to be more in the direction of the LGE, with only few Nkx2,1⁺ cells and some GSX2⁺ or ISLT11⁺ cells. Additional future characterizations with high-throughput rtPCR will clarify better these differences in precise region identity.

2.2 Modelling Huntington's disease in-vitro with ventral organoids

The previous work done in the lab (Conforti et al. 2018) exploit 2D culture and 3D cortical organoids from iPSC while this thesis is focussed on the use of control and HD organoids with ventral telencephalic identity, in order to mimic the development of the LGE and investigate whether the presence of mHTT can affect it.

In this project I used and isogenic allelic serie of hESC line, generated with CRISPR/Cas9 from hESC RUES2, differing for the number of CAG repeats but having the same genetic background, with the advantage of avoiding side effects not CAG related (Ruzo et al. 2018). We received the lines from Brivanlou's lab at the Rockefeller University as part of a a collaboration. We used two lines for WT (the parental not edited line and the other one edited with 20 CAG) and three lines for HD (edited respectively with 48 or 56 CAG and more recently we included in some analyses also the 72CAG).

2.2.1 VZ like structures organization in control and HD ventral organoids

We wondered if the radial distribution of progenitors in VZ like structures, described above (see paragraph 2.1.3) is affected in HD ventral organoids.

We analysed WT and HD cell lines organoids by immunohistochemistry for GSX2-MASH1 and quantification of positive cell inside each concentric area. As expected, the significant radial distribution of GSX2 and MASH1 progenitors is present in CTRL lines (mean of 2 WT lines: the unedited parental line and the edited with 20CAG) while in contrast this is absent in HD organoids both with 48CAG and 56CAG. Moreover HD organoids are also less efficient in differentiation demonstrated by reduced percentages of GSX2⁺ and MASH1⁺ cells in each ventricular area as shown in Fig 2.13 (33% reduction of GSX2 in area 1 for 48CAG and 47% for 56CAG, while 25% reduction of MASH1 in area 3 for 48CAG and 60% for 56CAG).

This result suggests defects in correct differentiation and distribution of HD ventral progenitors inside organoids.

Ventral organoids WT and HD day60



Fig 2.13: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT (20CAG) and HD (48 and 56 CAG) ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation for GSX2, MASH1, N-CADHERIN and PALS1. Quantification of numbers of cells positive for GSX2 or MASH1 in each concentric area at the bottom. Scale bar 30µm (Manual counting. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, * p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001, **** p < 0.001. $N \ge 15$ rosettes from 12 organoids of 3 biological replicates for each cell line (2 for 48CAG line))

Our interest was then to investigate if mHTT affects the formation of VZ like structures in ventral organoids. The presence of progenitors and radial glia was checked by general markers such as NESTIN, BLBP, VIMENTIN and SOX2 (Pilz et al. 2013; Pollen et al. 2015) in WT and HD ventral organoids at day 35. As shown in figure 2.14, organoids from all cell lines present markers for radial glia within the region of the VZ like structures.



Fig 2.14: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT (20CAG) and HD (48 and 56 CAG) ventral organoids at day 35 of differentiation for NESTIN, BLBP, VIMENTIN and SOX2. Scale bar 30µm at the bottom right.

We then looked at the amount of VZ like structures in ventral organoids and found that they were reduced in HD lines compared to control ones, both at day 35 and 60 of differentiation (Fig 2.15). Using antibodies against apical proteins enriched in lumens such as PALS1, N-CADHERIN or ZO1 we were able to quantify the number of these structures over the total area of the organoids' slice for

each slice of the ventral organoids. Although there is a bit of variability in terms of numbers, it is possible to appreciate that only organoids from CTRL lines (mean of 2 WT lines: the un-edited parental line and the edited with 20CAG) show high numbers of structures and that the mean is significantly higher in CTRL compared to HD lines (48, 56 and 72 CAG). This data could indicate a difficulty of HD organoids in forming organized VZ like structures (Fig 2.15).



Ventral organoids WT and HD

Fig 2.15: Immunohistochemistry analyses of CTRL (parental and 20CAG) and HD (48, 56 and 72 CAG) ventral organoids at day 35 and 60 of differentiation for PALS1 or N-CADHERIN. Scale bar 100 μ m. Quantification of numbers of VZ like structures per area of each organoids' slice, at the bottom. (Manual counting. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test. *p< 0,05; **p<0,01; ****p< 0,0001. N ≥ 30 slices for each cell line, from 10 organoids of 4 biological replicates at each time points.)

In Huntington disease, the number of CAG repeats is inversely related to age of onset such that the higher the number, the earlier the onset (Lee et al. 2012; Nopoulos 2016). For this reason we were surprised to see a less severe defect in the HD line with longer poly Q repeats, the72 CAG (Fig 2.15). Although in the following paragraphs I will describe some phenotypes with a sort of CAG-length

dependent trend, it is usually hard to demonstrate phenotypes with this regulation because of the intrinsic variability between each cell line. Moreover, the inverse correlation between CAG repeats and age of onset accounts for roughly 50% to 70% of the variance. This variance between different individuals may be due to both environmental elements and modifying gene factors (Langbehn et al. 2004; Wright et al. 2019). The "take home message" of these analyses on VZ like structures concerns a difficulty of the HD organoids in self-organization plausibly related to defects in polarity, migration and cell cycle regulation that will be discussed in following chapters.

2.2.2 Cell cycle regulation in control and HD ventral organoids

The measurement of the total area for each organoid's slice quantified previously in Fig 2.15 revealed a significantly reduced size of HD organoids with longer CAG tracts both at da 35 and 60 of differentiation (Fig 2.16). We decided to investigate the initial organoids' growth. By the quantification of WT and HD ventral organoids' area in the first period of differentiation, it is possible to notice that WT and HD organoids start with similar dimension with only a slight tendency of bigger area in WT samples (Fig 2.17). Therefore, HD organoids with longer CAG tracts present reduced dimension due to a lower growth during the differentiation and not since the early days of EB stage.



Ventral organoids WT and HD

Fig 2.16: Quantification of the area from each organoids'slice of CTRL (parental and 20CAG) and HD (48, 56 and 72 CAG) ventral organoids at day 35 and 60 of differentiation. (Manual measurement. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test. **p<0,01; ***p<0,001. $N \ge 30$ slices for each cell line, from 10 organoids of 4 biological replicates at each time points.)





Fig 2.17: Phase contrast images of WT (20CAG) and HD (48, 56 and 72 CAG) ventral organoids during earliest days of differentiation. Scale bar $250\mu m$ on the right. Quantification of organoids area at the bottom (Manual measurement. Anova Two Way, Bonferroni post test, *p< 0,05 between 48CAG and WT at day 17. N=5 biological replicates, each with 4 organoids per time points.)

Based on the above data, we wonder if the lower growth in linked to different cell cycle regulation. This is an essential aspect because the VZ like structures, like the ventricular zones in embryos, are composed of progenitors in active and tightly regulated cell cycle (Falk et al. 2017; Pilz et al. 2013).

We performed IC analyses on WT and HD ventral organoids in order to measure the percentage of KI67 (active cell cycle) and PH3 (mitosis phase) positive cells at day 35 of differentiation. The data shown in Fig 2.18 demonstrate that HD organoids with 56CAG have a 45% reduction in the percentage of KI67 positive cells. This statistically significant reduction in KI67⁺ cells is not present in PH3⁺ cells, suggesting less cells in other cell cycle phases (e.g. S phase) or more cell cycle exit.





Fig 2.18: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT (20CAG) and HD (48 and 56 CAG) ventral organoids at day 35 of differentiation for PH3 and KI67 on the top. Scale bar 30 μ m. Quantification of numbers of cells positive for each marker on the bottom. (Automatic counting with Cell Profiler. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. N=30 images, from 12 oranoids of 3 biological replicates, 2 z stacks for each image and 5 images for replicate.)

As these results point out a defect in cell cycle progression, we investigated in our model the known role of HTT in mitotic spindle orientation (Godin et al. 2010; Lopes et al. 2016; Molina-Calavita et al. 2014; Ruzo et al. 2018a). Both the absence of HTT or the presence of mHTT affects the cell divisions leading to abnormal neurogenesis with more asymmetric divisions and reduced progenitors' expansion, similarly to what occur in some neurodevelopmental diseases (Microcephaly and Lissencephaly).

In our analyses we coupled phosphorylated VIMENTIN (that marks cells in mitosis) with PERICENTRIN (that marks the centrosomes). With ImageJ it was possible to measure in cells in mitosis, the angle between the lumen and the direction of division (drawn in white in the scheme on the top right of Fig 2.19). We applied this analysis on ventral WT and HD organoids at day 35, to quantify the three type of mitotic divisions: horizontal (0°-30°), oblique (30°-60°) or vertical (60°-90°). This data revealed that HD ventral organoids with longer CAG repeats (56CAG and 72CAG lines) have higher percentage (from 22% to 45%) of horizontal divisions compared to control organoids (white bar in the graph in Fig 2.19). This significant increase in the asymmetric type of division could suggest a difficulty in expanding the pool of progenitors inside the VZ like structures and an earlier cell cycle exit towards faster differentiation.

Ventral organoids WT and HD day35

pVIM Pericentrin Hoechst



Fig 2.19: Scheme of the analysis on the top. Immunohistochemistry analyses of CTRL (parental and 20CAG) and HD (48, 56 and 72 CAG) ventral organoids at day 35 of differentiation for pVIMENTIN and PERICENTRIN. Example of different types of division: horizontal (angle between 0 and 30 degree), oblique (angle between 30 and 60 degree) and vertical (angle between 60 and 90 degree). Quantification of percentage of cells in each type of division on the bottom right. (Manual measurement with ImageJ. Unpaired t test, Welch's correction, *p<0,1; ***p<0,001. $N \ge 100$ cells from 10 organoids of 4 biological replicates (2 replicates for 72CAG line) for each cell line.)

The mitotic spindle orientation is one of the multiple functions in which HTT is involved through the formation of complexes with many different interactors. Normal HTT interacts with HAP1, dynein and dynactin and this complex localizes in mitosis at the spindle poles where it helps the accumulation of NUMA and LGN, guiding the orientation of mitotic division in a evolutionarily conserved manner (Elias et al. 2014; Godin et al. 2010; Gutekunst et al. 1995). In our data the mitotic spindle misorientation is not as strong as in microcephaly models (it is present only in cell lines with longer

CAG track and is not correlated with a huge reduction of the symmetric divisions: $60^{\circ}-90^{\circ}$ degree) suggesting a milder phenotype in HD. Indeed, HD patients born with an apparent normal brain but in terms of dimensions there are few publications reporting a smaller intracranial volume in HD children (Lee et al. 2012; Nopoulos et al. 2011).

A further parameter linked to mitotic spindle is the ratio of cell cycle exit, which is explored in the following analysis to understand if HD cells with more asymmetric divisions are actually becoming postmitotic earlier. The cell cycle exit ratio was already studied in brain organoids, such as in the publication from Jaenisch's group (Li et al. 2017) to compare proliferation rates of control and mutated (PTEN deletion) organoids.

To investigate this aspect in our model, we used EdU assay at day35. EdU is incorporated in DNA of cell in S phase and kept in the daughter cells. Analysing immunohistochemistry for KI67 and EdU at later time points it is possible to quantify the percentage of cells that have exit the cell cycle. These cells out of the cell cycle are marked only by the EdU, they were cycling at day 35 when we gave them EdU but are now KI67 negative (orange arrows in the scheme on the top right of Fig 2.20). Instead the one that are still cycling in the moment of the analyses are marked by both EdU and KI67 (orange triangle in the scheme on the top right of Fig 2.20). At day 35 we noticed many double positive cells, while at day 60 there are almost no double positive cells, meaning that the ones that receive EdU have exit the cell cycle. The quantification of these cell populations disclosed a significant 15% increase in cell cycle exit ratio at day 45 in HD organoids compared to WT ones. At day 60 there are no differences because the exit ratio is reaching his plateau also in control cells (Fig 2.20). For this reason, in our future analyses we will include also day 40, as an earlier read out to confirm this data.



Fig 2.20: Scheme of the experiment on the top. Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT (20CAG) and HD (48 and 56 CAG) ventral organoids at day 45 and 60 of differentiation for EdU and KI67 after EdU treatment performed at day 35. Example of cells still in active cell cycle (orange arrows) and cells that have exit the cell cycle (orange triangle). Quantification of cell cyle exit ratio is described in the formula on the top. Graphs on the bottom. (Automatic quantification with Cell Profiler. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, *p<0,05, **p<0,01. N = 24 images from 8 organoids of 2 biological replicates (1 for 48CAG line) with 2z stacks for each image and 6 images for each replicate.)

It is important to notice that this result is in line with the misoriented mitotic spindle, shown above in Fig 2.19. Together our data on cell cycle regulation from KI67⁺ cells to spindle orientation and exit ratio could explain the reduced growth and the lower amount of VZ like structures in HD organoids compared to control ones.

The EdU assay can be used also to study interkinetic nuclear migration (INM), a stereotypical nuclear movement characteristic of progenitors in division in embrional VZ. Mitotic divisions occur at the apical surface of the VZ whereas the nuclei of cells in S phase are located on the basal side of the VZ (Willardsen and Link 2011). This type of assay was already performed on brain organoids to prove

their ability in recapitulating some physiological aspects of neurogenesis during neural development (Kadoshima et al. 2013; Lancaster et al. 2013). In organoids cells in M phase, marked by PH3, are localized closer to the lumen (that resemble the physiological ventricle) while cells in S phase, marked by EdU, displaced far from the lumen. The EdU treatment (described in materials and methods) is the same used for cell cycle exit ratio but in this case the organoids are fixed for the analyses at day 35 just after the EdU removal. Although this analysis is still ongoing on additional replicates to have a wider and clearer interpretation, in our preliminary test both WT and HD organoids present cells correctly localized (Fig 2.21). Indeed there are no proved evidences of INM defects in Huntington's disease, neither from *in-vivo* or *in-vitro* studies, distinguishing this pathology from Lissencephaly in which LIS1 mutation seems to impair both the mitotic spindle orientation and the INM (Faulkner et al. 2000; Vallee and Tsai 2006).



Fig 2.21: Scheme of the experiment and representation of INM during neuraldevelopment on the top. Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT (20CAG) and HD (48 and 56 CAG) ventral organoids at day 35 of differentiation for EdU, PH3 and PALS1 at the end of EdU treatment on the bottom. Scale bar 20µm.

2.2.3 Polarity in control and HD ventral organoids

Beside the cell cycle regulation, we also focused on polarity arrangement because this mechanism plays essential roles in VZ like structures organization and is affected by mHTT. Effects of mHTT in polarity, indeed have been documented from reduced cell adhesion in HD-iPSC neural progenitors, neural tube defects in HD zebrafish embryos, randomization of epithelial polarity in the skin of frog embryos and reduced rosette formation in mouse and human HD cells (Conforti et al. 2018; Haremaki et al. 2015; Ruzo et al. 2018; Lo Sardo et al. 2012).

We focus on lumens organization by analysing their morphology, dimensions and internal localization of primary cilia through immunohistochemistry of PALS1 (apical polarity protein) and ARL13B (marker of ciliary membrane). Ventral organoids at day 35 present lumens that can be considered *"empty"* (arrows) or *"full"* (arrowheads) by PALS1 staining (Fig 2.22). We noticed a different proportion between them in control and HD ventral organoids. The control samples are characterized by a majority of "empty" lumens, the HD line with 48CAG presents similar distribution between the two lumens' forms and the HD line with 56CAG display a majority of "full" lumens (Fig 2.22).





Ventral organoids WT and HD day35 Pals1 Hoechst

Fig 2.22: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT (20CAG) and HD (48 and 56 CAG) ventral organoids at day 35 of differentiation for PALS1. Example of "full" lumens (arrowheads) and "empty" lumens (arrows). Scale bar 20 μ m. Quantification of percentage of the two types of lumens on the right. (Manual quantification. Mann Whitney test, ** p< 0,01. N ≥ 70 rosettes, from 12 organoids of 3 biological replicates for each cell line.)

A plausible interpretation is that the HD organoids exhibit defects in organizing polarity proteins, leading to structures with a sort of collapsed lumens. This interpretation is supported by the reduced lumen's size both in terms of area and perimeter (Fig 2.23), that we found in HD organoids with 56CAG compared to the control counterparts (mean of parental line and 20 CAG line). Similar data were previously reported in literature with models of 2D neuronal rosettes (Conforti et al. 2018; Ruzo et al. 2018a; Xu et al. 2017).



Ventral organoids WT and HD day60 lumen size

Fig 2.23: Area and perimeter quantification of lumens of VZ like structures in CTRL (parental and 20CAG) and HD (48 and 56 CAG) ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation. (Manual measurement. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, **p<0,01, ***p<0,001. $N \ge 30$ rosettes, from 12 organoids of 3 biological replicates (2 for 48CAG line) for each cell line.)

To characterize the lumens organization and understand which material could be localized inside them we looked at primary cilia. These signaling organelles of most mammalian cells, are critical for the development of the vertebrate nervous system, playing either essential or modulatory roles in specific neurodevelopmental signaling pathways such as Sonic hedgehog (SHH) and WNT (Gazea et al. 2016; Han et al. 2008). Cilia also play important roles in regulation of stem cells and regeneration in the adult nervous system, where cell cycle and specific morphogen pathways recapitulate developmental functions to facilitate cell fate decisions in ciliated tissues (Guemez-Gamboa, Coufal, and Gleeson 2014). Interestingly WT HTT regulates ciliogenesis by interacting through huntingtinassociated protein 1 (HAP1) with pericentriolar material 1 protein (PCM1). Pathogenic polyQ expansion led to centrosomal accumulation of PCM1 and abnormally long primary cilia in mouse striatal cells (Keryer et al. 2011). Longer cilia lead in alteration of the cerebrospinal fluid flow, therefore primary cilia could contribute in HD pathogenesis: perhaps by disrupting signalling pathways, propagating toxic misfolded polyQ-HTT fragments, and exacerbating disease progression (Kaliszewski et al. 2015; Liu and Zeitlin 2011).

We found presence of primary cilia marked by ARL13B inside the apical side of the VZ like structures in control ventral organoids at day 60 (Fig 2.24).



Fig 2.24: Schematic representation of primary cilia. Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation for ZO1 and ARL13B. Scale bar $10\mu m$ on the bottom right.

We then wondered if it is possible to reveal a phenotype in primary cilia morphology as previously described in mouse models (Keryer et al. 2011). The quantification with NIS software after images deconvolution is reported in fig 2.25 showing that the HD organoids and particularly the 56CAG and

72CAG lines, showed higher ciliogenesis. They present bigger primary cilia both in terms of length and perimeter and higher ciliary density (measured as the ratio between the area occupied by primary cilia, or their number, and the total area of the lumen marked by ZO1). This data is in line with the one in literature suggesting the involvement of HTT in cilia's morphology and function.



Fig 2.25: Immunohistochemistry analyses of WT (20CAG) and HD (48, 56 and 72 CAG) ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation for ARL13B. Scale bar 10 μ m. Quantification of parameters for primary cilia: length, perimeter and density, both in terms of cilia's numbers or cilia's area over the area of the lumens.(Automatic quantification with NIS software. Anova One Way, Bonferroni post test, *p<0,05; ***p<0,001; ****p<0,0001. N = 14 rosettes from 8 organoids of 2 biological replicates for each cell line.)
In our future analyses, we planned to perform a high-throughput rt-PCR (The BioMarkTM HD System from Fluidigm) that allows reliable gene expression analyses, investigating in parallel up to 96 different transcripts in 96 different samples. For this analysis, organoids samples generated from WT lines (Rues2 parental and 20 CAG) and HD lines (48, 56 and 72CAG) have been collected from different biological replicates at days 17, 35 and 60. Among transcripts involved in neuronal differentiation and ventral specification, we will look also for components of primary cilium structure, cell cycle regulators, and SHH signaling to unravel possible DEGs between WT and HD samples. Promising transcripts candidates can be derived from our ongoing analyses of scRNAseq on three singular WT (20cag) organoids and three singular HD (56cag) organoids. In this case, we can go deeper in our investigation looking for DEGs that can be peculiar of specific cellular subpopulations (such as early progenitors or neurons) while in the Biomark system we will validate the more general ones because this bulk analysis will be performed on a larger cohort of samples compared to the scRNAseq that concerns only three organoids per genotype.

Once we find interesting transcripts involved in the regulation of primary cilium and cell cycle that show different expression levels in HD samples compared to controls, we could ideally test rescue effects by overexpressing key genes that were downregulated in HD organoids for a final mechanistic comprehension and validation. An example is the recent work on organoids (Zhang et al., 2019) in which the mutation in WDR62 gene responsible for microcephaly causes the reduction of KIF2A's basal body localization. The authors demonstrated how enhanced KIF2A expression partially rescued deficits in cilium length, progenitors' proliferation and organoids size. Another interesting candidate for our attention could be the dynein binding protein Nde1 that regulates the G1-S transition by acting on cilia and able to interact with Lis1 (other dynein partner and mutation associated with Miller-Dieker lissencephaly syndrome). Depletion of Nde1 lengthened cilia and delayed cell cycle re-entry through the G1–S transition, supporting a general link between elongated cilia and a block to S phase entry (Kim et al. 2011).

Considering the role of primary cilia in SHH signaling, to understand if HD ventral organoids present defects in dorsoventral telencephalic patterning that could depend on alterations at the level of cilia, in our future Biomark and scRNAseq analyses we will investigate transcripts involved in Shh pathways such as Gli, PTCH1, Nkx2,1, Pax6, and Gsx2. It would be fundamental to verify defects in the acquisition of ventral identity in HD samples and see if they are linked to primary cilia. Indeed, we found fewer Gsx2⁺ and Ascl1⁺ cells in the VZ-like-structures of HD ventral organoids compared to controls and we are currently analyzing the scRNAseq results from HD e and WT organoids also for dorsoventral markers. One possible hypothesis could be that the HD cells are less able to activate the Shh targets genes due to alteration on primary cilia. These aspects would represent the connection

between lower differentiation efficiency and cell cycle alterations both displayed in HD ventral organoids.

2.2.4 Ultrastructure and morphology of ventral organoids by Electron Microscopy

We used electron microscopy to analyze ultrastructure and neuronal morphology of ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation. Particularly, transmission electron microscopy (TEM) specifically demonstrated the presence of excitatory and inhibitory synapses in our organoids. Figure 2.26 shows representative images of two synapses from control organoids, revealing a clearly visible presynaptic terminal with synaptic vesicles (SV) and a mitochondrial profile (M). Moreover, based on morphological features we distinguished between excitatory synapse, characterized by the presence of postsynaptic density (PSD) in the postsynaptic compartment and inhibitory symmetric synapse where the PSD is absent. In the insets we can appreciate synaptic vesicles, with a mean diameter of 20 nm, the pre- and postsynaptic membrane (harrow heads) and the synaptic cleft (asterisk).



Fig 2.26: TEM images of a WT (20 CAG) organoid cross section showing mature synapses, both excitatory (left) and inhibitory (right) after 60 days of differentiation. (N=6 organoids from two independent replicates. Scale bars images at low magnification = 100 nm; scale bars insets = 50 nm).

These data indicate that 60-day-old WT ventral organoids can reach functional neuronal maturation, which was not visible in the HD counterparts. One of the simplest hypothesis may be that the HD organoids are unable to make mature synapses, but we can't completely exclude that analyzing many more samples or at many other time points, this conclusion could change.

Further analysis with scanning electron microscopy (SEM) showed the overall organoid architecture, confirming the presence of the key features of neuronal cells in both WT and HD ventral organoids. SEM revealed surface details of the whole organoid structure that is composed by two different layers: the external surface and the internal part. Inside the internal part of the organoids (Fig 2.27) it is possible to notice the cellular organization and the complexity of the cellular processes. Representative images at high magnification (right panels of Fig 2.27) display cells with neuronal-like morphology with multiple processes both in WT and HD samples. The comparison of WT and HD organoids highlights a lot of cellular debris in HD organoids, suggesting a possible higher cellular stress. Moreover, neuronal processes of HD organoids seem less defined with bigger diameter (mean diameter = 1 μ m, n = 100 processes, in 2 independent organoids) respect to the corresponding WT ones (mean diameter = 600 nm, n = 100 processes, in 2 independent organoids). Taking together this data with immunohistochemistry results previously shown and the presences of synapses, we could consider these cells as neural type, but to be precise the cells with many processes that exit from the cell body could be also glial types so we won't refer to them as neurons.



Fig 2.27: SEM images of opened WT (20CAG) and HD (56CAG) organoids at 60 day of differentiation, to reveal the internal part. (Scale bars of images at low magnification = 10 μ m; scale bars of images at high magnification = 5 μ m).

It is possible to visualize also the external surface of the organoids (Fig 2.28). This part usually presents cell body more flatted then the internal one, maybe due to the mechanical forces or to the contacts with the external environment. Even in this case the neuronal like morphology seems to be more define and organized in the WT organoids.

These differences could mean a diverse level of maturation or a defect in neuronal self-organization between WT and HD organoids, that will be interesting for future investigation. Our results shed light on a quite unusual way to investigate organoids morphology pointing out the advantages of electron microscopy for studies like this.



Fig 2.28: SEM images of the external surface of WT (20CAG) and HD (56CAG) organoids at 60 day of differentiation. (Scale bar = $10 \mu m$).

2.2.5 Preliminary conclusion on HD modelling in ventral organoids

Considering the data obtained in control and HD ventral organoids, we can derive the following conclusions:

- The radial distribution of ventral progenitors positive for GSX2 and MASH1 is absent in HD organoids. Moreover, these are less efficient in differentiation showing fewer GSX2⁺ and MASH1⁺ cells in each ventricular area.
- HD organoids present fewer proliferating structures that resemble ventricular zones (VZ) of developing embryos, both at early and mature stages.
- iii. Compared to controls, the HD ventral organoids with longer CAG repeats present reduced number of KI67⁺ cells, defects in mitotic spindle orientation with increased horizontal asymmetric divisions and higher cell cycle exit ratio at day 45.
- Analyses of lumens' morphology of ventral organoids shows different organizations between "empty" and "full" ones, with the majority of 56CAG characterized by "full" form. Both WT and HD organoids present primary cilia, with higher ciliogenesis in HD organoids.
- v. EM analyses allowed to investigate the ultrastructure and the morphology of ventral organoids, revealing differences in neuronal architecture of WT and HD samples.

It would be crucial to understand if these phenotypes are due to different gene expression profiles in the same pathways and which transcripts are the most de-regulated suggesting a sort of phenotypedriver behavior. For these reasons, we are collecting organoids samples from different biological experiments at day 17, 35 and 60 for high throughput rt-PCR (BioMarkTM HD System). We are interested in understanding the dynamics of HD alterations distinguishing which transcripts differ in a specific moment and which are dis-regulated continuously in a sort of unidirectional way. Moreover, by using HD lines with different CAG length (48, 56 and 72CAG), we could ideally appreciate transcripts that have a CAG-length-dependency regulation.

2.3 Cellular interactions between WT and HD cells in co-culture organoids

The third aim of this project that is still under construction concerns a system to study some underlying molecular dynamics. During this thesis writing, the experiment is ongoing and the samples are under collection. The experimental plan is based on chimeric mixed organoids with co-culture of WT and HD cells to investigate cellular interactions, distributions and particularly unravel cell-autonomous or non-autonomous mechanisms in HD. Achieving this goal could improve the comprehension of pathological mechanisms in HD with clinical implications that are crucial to define efficacy therapies especially in the case of transplantations. Considering the huge atrophy of striatum in HD and the fact that there are no effective therapies to slow or arrest the progression of the disease, several neural transplant trials have been initiated with the hope of translating promising preclinical research into clinical therapies (Bachoud-Lévi et al. 2000; Peschanski, Cesaro, and Hantraye 1995; Reuter et al. 2008).

Post-mortem analyses have revealed grafted cell survival at 18 months and 6 years posttransplantation while analyses at 10 years after cell implantation demonstrated clear grafted cell degeneration with a pattern similar to the disease itself, including preferential loss of grafted striatal projection neurons (Cicchetti, Soulet, and Freeman 2011). These data suggest that some of the pathogenic events underlying neuronal death in HD are also responsible for the long-term degeneration of genetically unrelated transplanted cells. Potential causes include an insufficient amount of grafted tissue (Barker et al. 2013), allograft immunoreactivity, microglial responses to grafted cells, and cell-to-cell neurotoxicity (Cicchetti et al. 2011). This latter cause is due to non-cellautonomous (or extrinsic) mechanisms in which the HD cells affect the WT ones in a toxic way, while the opposite scenario concerns a beneficial effect of the WT cells towards the HD ones. Our analyses will focus on the identification of these mechanisms to unravel pathways and transcripts involved in these complex regulations (Fig 2.29).

Firstly, we will compare the chimeric Co-culture organoids (composed of WT and HD cells, in orange in Fig 2.29) with the Mono-culture (entirely WT or entirely HD, in blue in Fig 2.29) looking for gene expression levels alterations. We could identify cell-autonomous (or intrinsic) aspects by transcripts that do not change between Co-cult or Mono-cult conditions (Fig 2.29 on the left) whereas non-cell-autonomous transcripts in case of a change (Fig 2.29 on the right). Furthermore, analyzing deeper these latter extrinsic mechanisms, the beneficial effects (dashed circles in the right of Fig 2.29) should be revealed by transcripts that are similar between WT cells of the Mono-cult and HD cells of the Co-cult but different from HD cells of Mono-cult. In parallel, the toxic effects (continuous circles in the

right of Fig 2.29) should be visible in transcripts that are similar between WT cells of the Co-cult and HD cells of the Mono-cult but different from WT cells of Mono-cult.



Fig 2.29: Diagram with the experimental scheme of chimeric co-culture organoids approach and relative goals. On the left are represented the cell-autonomous or intrinsic mechanisms in which there are no differences between co-culture (highlighted in orange) and mono-culture (highlighted in blue) intra genotypes (continuous circles for WT and dashed circles for HD). On the right are represented the non-cell-autonomous or extrinsic mechanisms with differences between co-culture and mono-culture. These latter ones are further subdivided into beneficial mechanisms (dashed circles) where the HD cells from co-cultures are beneficially influenced by the presence of the WT cells and toxic mechanisms (continuous circles) where the WT cells from co-cultures are negatively influenced by the presence of the HD cells.

We will investigate gene expression alterations at the level of single-cell resolution because the transcripts of interest (with a cell-autonomous or non-cell-autonomous regulation) could be specific for precise cellular subpopulations and not for the entire composition of the organoid. The power of this technology gives the possibility of focusing on different clusters of cells to specifically investigate the effect of mutant Huntingtin (mHtt) in different cases such as progenitors, intermediate

populations or neurons. Considering that Htt has multiple roles and can act at multiple levels (Saudou and Humbert 2016), it is fundamental to investigate how its effects can vary in different biological environments. Indeed, transcripts peculiar of cell cycle regulation or apical-basal polarity play pivotal roles in early progenitors thus it is plausible to appreciate an influence on their expressions within that specific population, whereas transcripts involved in synapses and firing activity are characteristic of neuronal populations and will be investigated within them. Following this approach we hope to avoid the risk of losing interesting genes that could be masked in a bulk analysis because of their specific cellular expression (Fig 2.30).



Fig 2.30: Experimental scheme of the scRNAseq of chimeric co-culture organoids. The organoids will be generating mixing the cells at pluripotent stage, differentiated until day 45, dissociated in single cell suspension and FACS sorted for GFP and TOMATO to separate WT and HD populations. The following bioinformatic analyses will define cluster of cellular subpopulation and compared them between co-culture and mono-culture looking for specific transcripts. Here is schematized the comparison for the cluster of progenitors that mimic the VZ regions of in-vivo embryos. WT cells of the VZ cluster from the co-culture (highlighted in light purple) will be compared to WT cells of the VZ cluster from the mono-culture (highlighted in light turquoise) will be compared to HD cells of the VZ cluster from the mono-culture (highlighted in light turquoise). This comparison will unravel cell-autonomous versus non-cell-autonomous aspects in a single cell perspective.

In a recent article from Hayden's group (Schmidt et al. 2018), cortical and striatal neurons were cocultured from a transgenic mouse model of HD and WT littermate mice. Reducing the ratio of cortical to striatal neurons in culture was seen to accentuate pathology, leading to a significant loss of dendritic spines and reduced viability of HD striatal neurons. Interestingly they also used chimeric (HD and WT) co-cultures to demonstrate that this instability of dendritic spines was cell-autonomous and driven by expression of the mutant HD transgene within the striatal neurons (Schmidt et al. 2018). The present study not only suggests that neurons in the striatum are exquisitely sensitive to the number of inputs that receive from cortical projection neurons, but their pathogenic response can be cell-autonomous.

On the other, side non-cell-autonomous mechanisms are also implicated when considering other cell types that interact with the affected neurons such as cortical neurons or glia cells. Indeed, toxic processes of diverse neurodegenerative diseases caused by a mutation in a gene that is often widely or ubiquitously expressed, involve damage within the non-neuronal glial cells. This mechanism seems to be non-cell-autonomous, with toxicity derived from glia as a prominent contributor that drives the disease's progression (Lobsiger and Cleveland 2007). Similar investigations led the Goldman's group to established human HD glial chimeras by neonatally engrafting immunodeficient mice with HD human glial progenitor cells (Benraiss et al. 2016), showing that mHTT glia can impart disease phenotype to normal mice and conversely, WT glia can rescue the electrophysiological and behavioral phenotypes in HD mice. These observations highlight a causal role for glia in HD and further suggest a cell-based strategy for disease amelioration through the comprehension of cell-autonomous versus non-autonomous mechanisms that characterize HD pathogenesis.

In parallel to scRNAseq we are also investigating the phenotypes previously showed in HD ventral individual organoids. A focus will be dedicated to the ability of WT and HD cells to interact in the polarized VZ-like-structures. The amount of these structures will be quantified at day 35 and 60 and the lumens' area will be measured, as it was previously done in individual organoids (reported in chapter 2.2 of this thesis) to understand if the co-culture organoids show differences compared to mono-culture. We will also look for the proportion of WT and HD cells in the structures and if this is linked to the dimension of the structures. We could postulate non-cell-autonomous beneficial mechanisms in which the presence of WT cells is helpful for the HD component's organization. Concerning the cell cycle regulation, we will investigate the number of Ki67⁺ cells in HD and WT in the co-culture compared with the mono-culture and the area of the organoids. At the moment, a plausible hypothesis is that the phenotypes more related to polarity and distribution will be extrinsically affected in the co-culture while the phenotypes in the cell cycle will present a cell-autonomous regulation. It will be interesting, in particular in light of the transplantation data discussed

above, to study also apoptosis and cell death to investigate if these aspects could contribute to the reduced growth of HD organoids and if they are cell-autonomously or non-cell-autonomously regulated.

2.3.1 Co-culture ventral organoids of WT and HD cells

The isogenic Rues2 lines were infected with lentivirus that promotes the expression of GFP or TOMATO under the pCAG promoter with puromycin selection. To avoid any bias, we generated the two combinations of colours for each line: WT 20CAG GFP and TOMATO, HD 48CAG GFP and TOMATO and HD 56CAG GFP and TOMATO.

Our idea is to first focus on the co-culture of 20CAG and 56CAG, as these two cell lines were well characterized and showed a broader difference in each phenotype described in this thesis. We have to mix the cells at the time of aggregation and growth the co-culture organoids until day45. We will dissociate the organoids in a single cell suspension for following FACS sorting and RNAseq to compare the different cellular combinations.

In our pilot experiment, organoids were monitored to check the presence of the right combination of cells and to investigate the competition between the two cell lines. The proportion between these lines needs to be equal at least at initial stages because it could also occur that one line takes over the other one, due to different growth rate or diverse levels of apoptosis. An example at day 15 is shown in Fig 2.31 in which it is possible to appreciate the GFP and TOMATO expression in the organoids by both live image and immunohistochemistry (Fig 2.31).



Co-culture of WT and HD cells in ventral organoids day 15

Fig 2.31: Live image on the top and immunohistochemistry on the bottom of co-culture WT and HD cells inside ventral organoids at day 15 for the two colours combinations: 20CAGGFP+56CAGTOMATO on the left and 20CAGTOMATO+56CAGGFP on the right. Scale bar 100µm on the top and 30µm on the bottom.

2.3.2 FACS sorting of GFP and TOMATO cells and clearing approach

We are setting different types of analyses for the co-culture, including FACS sorting after dissociation in single cells suspension for further RNAseq analyses and clearing techniques to investigate cellular distribution.

We tested the FACS sorting strategy in a pilot experiment to verify the feasibility and set the conditions. Moreover, it is crucial to check the viability of the cells after dissociation and sorting, because they may suffer during this process (described in paragraph 4.8.2). Our test was performed on ventral organoids at day 30 of differentiation with the following combination: mono-culture WT 20CAGGFP; mono-culture HD 56CAGTOM and co-culture WT-HD 20CAGGFP-56CAGTOM. The dissociated cells were FACS sorted, allowing the exclusion of dead cells or duplets based on their morphology and the isolation of WT and HD cells based on their fluorescence. After the sorting, we checked the cell viability with Trypan blue and Countess Automated Cell Counter obtaining around 93-99% of live sorted cells. This preliminary result is encouraging for our plan of future experiments with the complete set of fluorescence combinations.

To investigate cellular distribution and connections between control and HD cell lines, 3D imaging with volume reconstruction of the organoids will be helpful. This technic is possible by clearing the organoid through protocols such as X-clarity, iDiSCO and SWITCH with subsequent acquisition at light-sheet microscopy or 2-photon microscopy (Birey et al. 2017; Renner et al. 2017). In collaboration with San Raffaele Alembic facility, we are testing the X-clarity approach. Although the protocol still needs adjustments to preserve the entire organoid volume, we were able to visualize both GFP and TOMATO endogenous signals at the 2-photon microscopy (Fig 2.32). It will be interesting to see if control and HD cells distribute equally or segregate between each other and if there are differences in their morphology.



Ventral organoids day60 after X-Clarity

Fig 2.32: Two-photon acquisition at Alembic after X-clarity of WT (20CAG-GFP) and HD (56CAG-TOMATO) ventral organoids at day 60 of differentiation.

3. Conclusions and future perspectives

In this project, we used the organoids approach to mimic the human telencephalon development and create a three-dimensional model of Huntington's disease *in vitro*. We generated a new unpublished protocol for the generation of ventral telencephalic organoids. During differentiation, these organoids displayed markers of neural induction at early time points and acquired a GABAergic identity at later time points, resembling the cellular composition of ventral telencephalic nuclei. These data are supported by single cell RNAseq analyses on three individual organoids that highlight the presence of ventral neuronal sub-populations with no contamination from neurons of dorsal identity. A variety of protocols have been published to model many brain regions, but only few for ventral telencephalon (Bagley et al. 2017; Birey et al. 2017; Xiang et al. 2017) that mainly focused on fusion between two organoids of cortical and MGE identity to study interneurons migration. Our protocol will be useful to recapitulate human ventral telencephalon development in a 3D system.

By comparing our organoids with dorsal ones, it was possible to verify the correct acquisition of ventral and dorsal identity. In both protocols, the neural progenitors self-organized in concentric areas around the lumens of VZ-like structures mimicking the radial distribution of LGE and the multi-layers organisation of the cortex. Interestingly these structures are present in both types of organoids in equal number but with different thickness suggesting intrinsic diversity in the regulation of ventral and dorsal progenitors' expansion.

The comparison of control and HD ventral organoids derived from isogenic cell lines revealed defects in the self-organization of the VZ-like structures. Control organoids present typical radial distributions of GSX2⁺ and MASH1⁺ progenitors that are absent in HD counterparts. Moreover, these latter show a 50% reduction in the number of VZ-like structures, both at early and mature stages. To derive more information about the organoids' morphology, we analyzed them with electron microscopy revealing differences in the organization of neural architecture of HD samples, pointing out the advantages of this technic.

As VZ-like structures are populated by progenitors in active cell cycle, we investigate its regulation founding some defects in HD organoids. They present fewer KI67⁺ cells, increased horizontal asymmetric divisions and higher cell cycle exit ratio at day 45. These data on cell cycle are in line with the reduced growth of HD organoids and could explain the decreased amount of VZ-like structures. Interestingly the absence of HTT or the presence of mHTT affects the spindle orientation

leading to abnormal neurogenesis with more asymmetric divisions and reduced progenitors' amplification (Godin et al. 2010; Lopes et al. 2016; Molina-Calavita et al. 2014; Ruzo et al. 2018). Future analyses will focus on the consequences of mitotic spindle misorientation in our samples; for the moment we can only speculate that HD organoids may present mature neurons earlier or reduced number of progenitors or even higher levels of cell death.

HTT is also known to play critical roles in polarity (Conforti et al. 2018; Ruzo et al. 2018a; Lo Sardo et al. 2012) which is fundamental for the VZ-like structures' formation. The analysis on lumens' morphology show different organization between "empty" and "full" ones, with the majority of 56CAG characterized by "full" form. This cell line is also characterized by VZ structures with decreased lumen dimensions and bigger primary cilia with higher ciliary density. These results pointed out abnormalities in polarity's organization in HD samples. Considering the role of primary cilium both in mitotic spindle orientation and in SHH signaling, future perspectives include deeper investigation of cilia's structure components and dorsoventral telencephalic patterning.

This 3D model has therefore provided a way to better understand the potential neurodevelopment aspects of HD and may provide a platform for disease modelling applications. We plan to investigate the gene expression profiles in organoid samples from different biological experiments at day 17, 35 and 60. By using HD lines with different CAG length (48, 56 and 72CAG), we could ideally appreciate transcripts with a CAG-length-depend regulation. Moreover, preliminary analysis of scRNAseq on HD samples are currently ongoing to understand if there are misrepresented sub-populations when compared to controls. For example, in HD organoids compared to WT we could find an unbalanced composition between progenitors and mature neurons or the presence of mis-differentiated cells towards unwanted identities. A further level of investigation will aim to investigate cellular interactions between HD and control cells and to discriminate cell-autonomous versus non-cell autonomous defects within co-culture organoids. We hope to reveal some new interesting pathways involved in the pathogenesis of HD and relevant for clinical purposes in regenerative medicine.

4. Materials and methods

4.1 Culture of human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs)

The Rues2 lines used in this thesis were regularly tested and maintained mycoplasma-free. Karyotype for each cell line was monitored every 3 months during the passages by Q-banding analyses (by ISENET group). Cells are kept in monolayer on 120-180 ug/ml Geltrex (Thermo Fisher Scientific) coated cell culture dishes and in feeder-free conditions in mTeSR1 medium (StemCell Technology). Once a week, when cells are at 80% confluence, hESC colonies are splitted with a ratio of around 1:10 onto new plates using ReleSR (StemCell Technology) dissociation without centrifugation and replating them in mTeSR1. Cells are kept in culture for 3 months and then a new batch is thawed. Cells are freezed in cold KSR (Knockout serum, Life technologies) containing 10% DMSO, 0,1% RI

(Rock Inhibitor) in 1ml freezing vials at -80°C using the freezing boxes (CoolCell, Bicision). The following day the vials are moved to -150 °C. For thawing the vials are kept in thermal bath at 37 °C few minutes and then the cells are centrifugated and quickly resuspended in mTeSR1 with RI for plating. The day after the media is changed with normal mTeSR1.

4.2 Generation of ventral organoids

This protocol was developed in the lab, taking inspiration from the protocol published in 2013 (Delli Carri et al. 2013) for adherent cell culture to get MSN. The mechanical steps are similar to the cortical organoids protocol, described later, but the media are different. In particular the neural induction in achieved with dual SMAD inhibition strategy by SB and LDN (Chambers et al., 2009) while the ventral identity is pushed by SHH (Gaiano et al. 1999; Rallu et al. 2002) and inhibiting WNT with Dkk1 (Backman et al. 2005; Suzuki and Vanderhaeghen 2015).

Day 0

hESC are kept in a 6cm dish until they are 70-80% confluent. The cells should be no more than 70-80% confluent to form good aggregates, otherwise they will fail to form homogeneous aggregates. The cells are detached with 1ml of Accutase for 4-5' until round cells are visible. The detached cells are resuspended with 3volumes of mTeSR and transfer to a 15-ml conical tube. The dish is washed with 1ml of mTeSR to recover all the cells. The cells are centrifugated at 1000rmp for 3' at room temperature and then resuspended in 3ml of Neural Induction Medium. Using a multichannel the cells are seeded at a $2x10^4$ cells/well concentration in a V-bottom non-treated 96well plate with 150 µl/well of Neural Induction Medium. The 96well plate with the cells is centrifugated at 800rmp for 1' at room temperature. At the microscope is possible to check the presence of a dense aggregate of single cells at the bottom of the plate. The 96well plate is placed back in the incubator.

Day 3

At day3 the cells receive a partial change of the medium by taking out 50µl of Neural Induction Medium and adding 50µl of fresh medium without Rock inhibitor.

Day 6

Around day 6 the aggregates can be transferred to a 6cm dish, in the fresh medium (6ml) containing Shh and Dkk1 at a final concentration of 200ng/ml and 100ng/ml, respectively (Patterning Medium). A cut 1000-ml pipette tip is used, being careful not to disrupt the aggregate. The dish is then placed back into the 37° incubator, on an orbital shaker, at 70rpm.

From day 8 to day 15

The aggregates in the 6cm dish are fed every other day by gently pipetting approximately half of the medium (2 o 3 ml) without disturbing the aggregates. An equal volume of fresh Patterning Medium is added to the dish.

Day 15-17

Around day15-17 the aggregates should be ready for embedding in Matrigel. The Matrigel is thawed on ice at 4° for 1-2h. Using the dissecting microscope, under biological safety cabinet, 12 aggregates with a similar morphology and dimensions are selected and placed one by one using a cut 200 μ l pipette tip (set at 25 μ l) on an upside down 6cm dish lid. With a 20 μ l pipette tip is possible to remove the medium around each aggregate. Excess medium is quickly removed to avoid the tissues dry out and then 25 μ l of liquid Matrigel are immediately added to each aggregate. Using a 10 μ l pipette tip, the aggregate is positioned in the centre of the Matrigel droplet. It is important to use a pre-wetted 10 μ l pipette tip, to avoid the aggregates sticking to the tip. After waiting 3-5 min, the lid with the aggregates is carefully flipped and put on a 6cm dish. The dish is placed back into the 37° incubator and incubated for about 15' to allow the Matrigel to polymerize. Before proceeding, it is possible to test with a 10 μ l pipette tip if the Matrigel is solidified. Using a 1000 μ l pipette tip, the Matrigel/aggregates are flushed forcing them to deposit in the dish plate with 6ml of Neuronal Differentiation Medium. The dish is placed back on the orbital shaker into the 37° incubator.

From day 18 to day 60

Half of the medium is changed two days a week and the dish is kept on the orbital shaker at 37°. Media composition: Neuronal Induction Medium

- DMEM/F12:
- N2 supplement 1:100
- B27-RA supplement 1:50
- NEAA 1:100
- Heparin: 1mg/ml
- Insulin: 5ng/ml
- SB: 10µM
- LDN: 500nm
- Rock Inhibitor: 10µM (only for 48 hours)

Patterning Medium (From day5 to day15)

- DMEM/F12
- N2 supplement 1:100
- B27-RA supplement 1:50
- NEAA 1:100
- Heparin: 1µg/ml
- Insulin: 5ng/ml
- SB: 10µM
- LDN: 500nM
- Shh 200ng/ml
- Dkk1 100ng/ml

Neuronal Differentiation Medium

- DMEM/F12:Neurobasal 1:1
- N2 supplement 1:100
- B27 supplement (complete) 1:50
- NEAA: 1:100
- Insulin: 5ng/ml
- Laminin: 200ng/ml
- BDNF: 10ng/ml

- 2-Mercaptoethanol: 50µM
- Ascorbic acid: 100µM



Fig 4.1: Scheme of the protocol for ventral organoids

4.3 Generation of dorsal organoids

This protocol is an adaptation from Lancaster's original one (Lancaster et al. 2013; Lancaster and Knoblich 2014). The major differences consist in using hanging drop plates, putting the aggregates on rotation since day5 and maintaining them in rotation after matrigel embedding instead of bioreactors while the media are the same from the published protocols. These little modifications make possible to obtain cortical organoids quite similar without bioreactors.

Day 0

hESC are kept in a 6cm dish until they are 70-80% confluent. The cells should be no more than 70-80% confluent to form good aggregates, otherwise they will fail to form homogeneous aggregates. The cells are detached with 1ml of Accutase for 4-5' until round cells are visible. The detached cells are resuspended with 3volumes of mTeSR and transfer to a 15-ml conical tube. The dish is washed with 1ml of mTeSR to recover all the cells. The cells are centrifugated at 1000rmp for 3' at room temperature and then resuspended in 4ml of Aggregation medium. Cells are counted to have $1x10^4$ cells/well of a 96well plate. Using a multichannel the cells are seeded using the $1x10^4$ cells/well concentration in a Perfecta3D hanging drop plate (HDP1096, 3D Biomatrix) in 35μ l/well of Aggregation medium. The 96well hanging drop plate is then placed back in the incubator. 5µl of Aggregation medium are added to each well of the plate.

Day 3

The bottom tray is removed from the Hanging Drop Plate assembly and the spheroid-containing Hanging Drop Plate is placed on top of a receiving 15cm dish plate, already containing about 10ml of Aggregation medium. 50μ L of medium are slowly dispensed through the access holes to transfer the hanging drops to the receiving 15cm dish plate. With a 10ml pipette it is possible to transfer the spheroids to a 15ml conical tube, allowing the EBs to deposit at the bottom of the conical tube. The EBs are then gently resuspended in 6ml of Aggregation medium and the dish is placed back into the 37° incubator, on an orbital shaker, at 70rpm.

Day 6-8

When the EBs are about 500-600µm in diameter it is time to change the Aggregation medium with Neural Induction Medium. Until day 13-16 the aggregates need partial medium change by gently pipetting approximately half of the medium without disturbing the aggregates and adding an equal volume of Neural Induction medium.

Day 13-16

Between day 13-16 the EBs should be brighter around the outside, indicating neuroectodermal differentiation, and ready to be transferred into Matrigel droplets. The Matrigel is thawed on ice at 4° for 1-2h. Using the dissecting microscope, under biological safety cabinet, 12 aggregates with a similar morphology and dimensions are selected and placed one by one using a cut 200µl pipette tip (set at 25µl) on an upside down 6cm dish lid. With a 20µl pipette tip is possible to remove the medium around each aggregate. Excess medium is quickly removed to avoid the tissues dry out and then 25µl of liquid Matrigel are immediately added to each aggregate. Using a 10µl pipette tip, the aggregate is positioned in the centre of the Matrigel droplet. It is important to use a pre-wetted 10µl pipette tip, to avoid the aggregates sticking to the tip. After waiting 3-5 min, the lid with the aggregates is carefully flipped and put on a 6cm dish. The dish is placed back into the 37° incubator and incubated for about 15' to allow the Matrigel to polymerize. Before proceeding, it is possible to test with a 10µl pipette tip if the Matrigel is solidified. Using a 1000µl pipette tip, the Matrigel/aggregates are flushed forcing them to deposit in the dish plate with 6ml of Neuronal Differentiation medium. The dish is placed back on the orbital shaker into the 37° incubator.

From day 16 to day 60

Half of the medium is changed two days a week and the dish is kept on the orbital shaker at 37°.

From day 30 until the end of differentiation, the Neuronal Differentiation medium is changed in Final Differentiation medium by substitution of B27-RA with B27 compete to support neuronal differentiation and maturation.

Media composition:

Aggregation medium

- DMEM/F12
- KSR 20%
- NEAA 1:100
- 2-Mercaptoethanol: 100nM
- FGF2: 4ng/ml
- Rock Inhibitor: 50µM (only for 48 hours)

Neural induction medium

- DMEM/F12
- N2 supplement: 1:100
- NEAA 1:100
- Heparin: 1µg/ml

Neuronal Differentiation medium

- DMEM/F12:Neurobasal 1:1
- N2 supplement: 1:200
- NEAA 1:200
- Insulin: 2,5ng/ml
- B27-RA supplement 1:100
- 2-Mercaptoethanol: 100nM

Final Differentiation medium

- DMEM/F12:Neurobasal 1:1
- N2 supplement: 1:200
- NEAA 1:200
- Insulin: 2,5ng/ml

- B27 supplement (complete) 1:100
- 2-Mercaptoethanol: 100nM



Fig 4.2: Scheme of the protocol for cortical organoids

4.4 EdU Click-iT assay

We took advantage from EdU assay to study interkinetic nuclear migration (INM) and cell cycle exit ratio in our ventral organoids from control and HD cell lines.

Usually proliferation-detection methods are based on the incorporation and measurement of nucleoside analogues in newly synthesized DNA, with bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU). BrdU-labeled DNA is visualized using anti-BrdU antibodies following DNA denaturation by harsh methods (HCl, heat, or enzymes) to expose the BrdU molecules. The harsh treatment can adversely effect sample integrity and quality, by destroying cell morphology or antigen recognition sites which makes co-staining with other antibodies challenging. EdU (5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine), a nucleoside analogous of thymidine, is incorporated into DNA during active DNA synthesis and is fluorescently labelled with a bright, photostable Alexa Fluor dye. With Click-iT EdU, mild fixation and detergent permeabilization is sufficient for the detection reagent to gain access to the DNA, giving useful alternative to BrdU.

At day 35 EdU (10uM, Life Technologies) is added through a partial change of the medium for ventral organoids. EdU medium is kept for 90 minutes in rotation, after which organoids are collected immediately and fixed, or washed with PBS and fed with fresh medium until later collection for other time points. EdU click-it assay is then performed on fixed organoids sections following manufacture's

instruction (Invitrogen) and immuno-staining. Briefly the detection is based on a click reaction, a copper-catalyzed covalent reaction between an azide and an alkyne. In this application, the EdU contains the alkyne and the Alexa Fluor® dye contains the azide.

4.5 Immunohistochemistry and imaging

Organoids were fixed in 4% (vol/vol) paraformaldehyde for 1h at 4 °C. They were washed 3 times in PBS and transferred in a 15% sucrose solution at 4 °C for 24h and 30% sucrose solution for the following 24h. Next, organoids were transferred into Tissue-Tek OCT compound, frozen immediately on dry ice and stored at -80 °C. Sections of 12/15-µm thickness were then generated using a cryostat. Cryo-sections were left overnight at room temperature to dry and then washed with PBS, permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS for 15 min and blocked with 10% NGS, 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS at room temperature for 1h. Primary antibodies used (see below) were diluited in solution containing 5% NGS and 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS at 4 °C overnight. The following day sections were washed three times in PBS at room temperature. Secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa fluorophores 488, 568 or 647 (Molecular Probe, Life Technologies) were used 1:500 in solution containing 5% NGS and 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS at room temperature for 1 h mixed with Hoechst 33258 (5 µg/ml; Life Technologies) to visualize nuclei. Then the sections were washed two times in 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS and finally mounted with Dako Glycergel (Aqueous Mounting Medium, Agilent) at room temperature overnight. The following day the section were dry enough to be visualize at the microscope and then conserved at 4 °C.

Images were acquired with either fluorescent widefield microscope (Leica AF6000) or confocal microscope (Leica SP5) and analysed with software for imaging (Fiji, CellProfiler v.2,2 and NIS-Elements AR v5.11).

Primary antibodies and concentrations were as follows:

ARL13B (Rabbit, 1:500, Abcam), ASCL1 (mouse, 1:500; Becton Dickinson), BLBP (rabbit, 1:500; Millipore), βIII-TUBULIN (rabbit, 1:1,000; Promega), CASPASE3 (Rabbit, 1:200, Cell Signalling), CTIP2(rat, 1:500; Abcam), DARPP32 (rabbit, 1:200; Abcam), EBF1 (mouse, 1:1000; Santa Cruz), FOXG1 (rabbit, 1:500; StemCulture), GAD67 (Mouse, 1:1000, Millipore), GFP (chicken, 1:1000, Abcam), GSX2 (rabbit, 1:200, GeneTex), ISLT1T1/2 (mouse, 1:1,000; Hybridoma Bank), KI67 (rabbit, 1:500; Abcam), MAP2a/B (mouse, 1:500; Becton Dickinson), N-CADHERIN (1:800; Becton Dickinson), NESTIN (mouse, 1:300; Millipore), NKX2.1/TTF1 (rabbit, 1:200; Abcam), PALS1 (rabbit, 1:500; Santa Cruz), PAX6 (rabbit, 1:300; Covance), PERICENTRIN (Rabbit, 1:1000, Abcam), PH3 (Mouse, 1:1000, Cell Signaling), RFP (Rabbit, 1:500, MBL), SOX2 (rabbit, 1:200;

Millipore), TBR1 (rabbit, 1:1,000; Abcam), TBR2 (rabbit, 1:100; Abcam), VIMENTIN (mouse, 1:100; Hybridoma Bank), p-VIMENTIN (Mouse, 1:1000, MBL international), ZO-1 (Mouse, 1:100, Thermo Scientific),



Fixation and serial section methodology

Fig 4.3: Scheme of the protocol used for fixation, freezing and cryo-sectioning the organoids sample before proceeding with IHC.

4.6 Quantitative assessment of organoids:

Overall size of organoids is measured in pictures collected at 4X bright field microscope. The total organoid area in μ m2 is determined by using Fiji ImageJ software.

The masks of concentric areas for VZ like structures is drawn with ImageJ in a semi-automatic approach through a manual drawing of the lumen's perimeter and then an automatic enlargement of this mask in three or four concentric areas with similar path.

For quantification of nuclear markers (such as GSX2, ASCL1, KI67, PH3; EdU) the cells are counted with CellProfiler platform or manually with Fiji ImageJ and percentage quantification is based on positive cells over total nuclei marked by Hoechst staining.

Mitotic spindle is manually drawn and quantified with Fiji ImageJ software in VZ like structures by p-VIMENTIN (to identify dividing cells) and PERICENTRIN (a centrosome marker used to visualize the plane of dividing cells). The orientation of the mitotic spindle is investigated in relation to the prospective ventricular surface in at least 40-50 VZ like structures per cell lines. Quantification of primary cilia, based on ARL13B staining, is done with NIS element. The confocal images taken at 63x with 4zoom factor are deconvolved with NIS to increase the resolution and then quantified by the general analyses tool following a pipeline set on parameters such as background, dimensions and circularity.

Statistics and graph are done with PRISM software v. 6. Data derived from different independent biological replicates are represented with mean and SEM.

4.7 Electron microscopy

The samples were processed and acquired for electron microscopy by Elena Vezzoli and Andrea Falqui. The acquisitions were taken in the laboratory of Prof. Falqui at the KAUST (King Abdullah University of Science and Technology) Institute.

4.7.1 TEM sample preparation

Organoids were fixed using 2.5% glutaraldehyde (Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 16220), and 2% paraformaldehyde (Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 19200) as fixatives, both in sodium cacodylate buffer 0.15 M (pH 7.4) (Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 12300). organoids were manually cut in small pieces (1 mm³) and post-fixed for an additional 24 hours at 4°C. Samples were then washed with 0.1 M cold sodium cacodylate buffer and then postfixed in a reduced osmium solution (i.e., 1.5% potassium ferrocyanide, Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 20150) with 2% osmium tetroxide (Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 19170) in 0.15 M cacodylate buffer for 1 hour on ice. After the first heavy metal incubation, the samples were washed with ddH2O at room temperature and then placed in the 0.22 µm Millipore- filtered 1% thiocarbohydrazide (TCH) (Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 21900) in ddH2O solution for 20 minutes at room

temperature. Organoids were then rinsed again in ddH2O and incubated in 2% osmium tetroxide in ddH2O for 30 minutes at room temperature. After several washings at room temperature in ddH2O, they were then placed in 1% uranyl acetate (aqueous) and left overnight at 4°C. Samples were washed once again and then immersed en bloc in Walton's lead aspartate solution (0.066 gr lead nitrate, Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 17900) dissolved in 10 ml of 0.003 M aspartic acid solution, pH 5.5) at 60°C for 30 minutes. The organoids were washed and then dehydrated stepwise through an ethanol series and finally placed in anhydrous ice-cold acetone for 10 minutes. Infiltration was performed with an acetone (Sigma-Aldrich, catalog 179124)/Epon812 (Electron Microscopy Sciences, catalog 14120) mixture with 3:1 volume proportions for 2 hours, then 1:1 overnight. The samples were left for 2 hours in pure resin and then embedded in Epon812 resin and placed in a 60°C oven for 48 hours for polymerization. For TEM imaging, ultrathin sections 70 nm thick were prepared by an UltraCut E Ultramicrotome (Reichert) and placed on TEM copper grids, which were then observed using a LEO 912AB microscope (Carl Zeiss) equipped with a thermionic W electron source and operating at an acceleration voltage of 100 kV. The images were acquired using a bottom mount Esivision CCD-BM/1K system (ProScan Camera) with a final resolution of 1024 × 1024 pixels.

4.7.2 SEM sample preparation

The organoids were removed from the differentiation medium, washed with NaCacodylate 0.1 M and fixed with glutaraldheyde 2% in NaCacodylate 0.1 M for 24 hours at 4°C. After the fixation they were washed three times with NaCacodylate 0.1 M for 10 minutes, and post-fixed with osmium tetroxide (OsO4) 2% in NaCacodylate 0.1 M for one hour at room temperature. After removing the OsO4 solution and rinsing twice with bi-distilled water, the samples were gradually dehydrated by consecutive 10 minutes' incubations 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 70%, 80% and 90% ethanol-H2O, and 100% ethanol, followed by 50% (v/v) ethanol-hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) and 100% HMDS that was air-dried overnight at room temperature. All of the reagents were purchased from Electron Microscopy Sciences (Hatfield, PA, USA). Organoids were opened to reveal the internal structure with 0.5-mm tungsten needles using a Leica stereomicroscope (Wien, Austria) and mounted onto 12mm specimen stubs. Before SEM imaging, the samples were coated with 20 nm-thick film of Pt-Pd using a Cressington 208HR sputter coater (Watford, UK) operated at a current of 40 mA. The scanning electron microscopy (SEM) imaging was performed by a Zeiss Merlin field emission gun (FEG)-SEM (Oberkochen, Germany), working at an acceleration voltage of 5 kV, a beam current of 200 pA and a working distance of 10 mm, and acquiring the secondary electron (SE) signal by an Everhart-Thornley (ET) in-chamber detector. 4.7.1 SEM sample preparation

4.8 single-cell RNA-seq

4.8.1 Rationale

scRNAseq, although with different technics, is been widely used in organoids field because of their heterogeneity (Quadrato et al. 2017; Velasco et al. 2019) giving benefits for comparison with human cortical development (Camp et al. 2015; Giandomenico et al. 2019) or for evolutionary studies (Mora-Bermúdez et al. 2016; Pollen et al. 2019)This powerful approach allowed to clearly address one of the organoids' limits when compared to human fetal development, it regards the higher cell stress or glycolysis and the reduced representation of cell types in vitro (Pollen et al. 2019).

We planned scRNAseq analyses to understand at which transcriptomic level WT and HD organoids are different and furthermore to visualize possible misrepresented sub-populations in HD samples that can explain the early defects seen with VZ like structures. For example in HD organoids, compared to WT, we could find an unbalanced composition between progenitors and mature neurons or the presence of mis-differentiated cells towards unwanted identities.

4.8.2 Single-cell dissociation of ventral organoids for scRNAseq

The organoids are transferred in a dish to cut away the excess of Matrigel with a blade and then they are processed by dissociation using Papain Dissociation System with DNase (Worthington) following the manufacturer's recommendations. The incubation time is adjusted, based on size, at 30 min in the orbital shaker at 37° C. Then the samples are centrifugate for 1min at 1000 rpm and resuspended in DMEM+Neurobasal (containing N2 1:100, B27 1:100 and RI 10µM). For the dissociation into single cell suspension, the samples are pipetted up and down first with plastic 1000µl pipettes and following with glass pipettes of increasingly smaller tip diameter (fire-polished). To eliminate any pieces of undissociated tissue the suspension is filtered with disposable filter 20μ m (Celltrics sysmex). The cells are counted with Countess Automated Cell Counter to check viability (should be higher than 90% to proceed) and concentration. The suspension is centrifugated for 1 min at 1000 rpm and resuspended at the concentration of $1x10^4$ cells /µl in PBS containing 0.04% weight/volume BSA (400 µg/ml).

4.8.3 Library construction using the GemCode platform

This procedure was performed by Paola Conforti. For experiments using the 10x Genomics platform, the Chromium Single Cell 3' Library & Gel Bead Kit v2 (PN- 120237), Chromium Single Cell 3' Chip kit v2 (PN-120236) and Chromium i7 Multiplex Kit (PN-120262) were used according to the manufacturer's instructions in the Chromium Single Cell 3' Reagents Kits V2 User Guide.

Briefly the procedure can be divided in three steps. The first one is "Gel Bead-In-EMulsions (GEMs) generation and barcoding" to separately index each cell's transcriptome. The cells lysate is mixed with primers containing (i) an Illumina R1 sequence (read 1 sequencing primer), (ii) a 16 bp 10x Barcode, (iii) a 10 bp Unique Molecular Identifier (UMI) and (iv) a poly-dT primer sequence. The second step is "Post GEM-RT Cleanup & cDNA Amplification" in which barcoded cDNA is amplified by PCR to generate sufficient mass for library. In the third step "library construction" the cDNA amplicon size is optimized by enzymatic fragmentation and size selection. A sample index and R2 (read 2 primer sequence) are added during library construction via End Repair, Atailing, Adaptor Ligation and PCR.

4.8.4 Sequencing and bioinformatics analyses

The following parts regard the sequencing of the library through Illumina and finally the bioinformatic analyses at a scale of hundreds to millions of cells.

In our case samples were sequenced by GATC eurofins company and then the analyses were performed by Vittoria Bocchi including the following steps: alignment, quality controls, clustering, cell type classification and DEGs.

At the moment of writing this thesis the analyses are ongoing for three single ventral organoids WT (line edited with 20CAG) and three HD (line edited with 56CAG) at day 45 of differentiation.

4.9 Co-culture of WT and HD cells inside organoids

4.9.1 Lentivirus production

To achieve stable expression of GFP and TOMATO, the Rues2 hESC line were infected with lentivirus particles containing the fluorescent genes under the control of chicken β -actin promoter and the puromycin selection cassette (Espuny-Camacho et al. 2013).

The lentivirus particles were generated by Ira Espuny Camacho through HEK293 cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (Gibco-Thermo Fisher Scientific) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (Gibco Thermo Fisher Scientific), 0,5% Penicillin/Streptomycin (Gibco Thermo Fisher Scientific), 2mM Glutamine (Euroclone), 1mM Sodium Pyruvate (Gibco Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 1% Non-Essential Aminoacids (Gibco Thermo Fisher Scientific). The cells were transfected in OptiMEM medium with helpers pVSVG (envelope plasmid) and pPAX2 (packaging plasmid). The lentivirus particles were then collected by centrifugation and concentrated by Amicon column.

4.9.2 Generation of GFP and TOMATO stable cell lines

hES Rues2 cell lines were infected with GFP and TOMATO lentiviruses to generate: WT-Rues2-20CAGGFP; WT-Rues2-20CAGTOMATO; HD-Rues2-48CAGGFP; HD-Rues2-48CAGTOMATO; HD-Rues2-56CAGGFP and HD-Rues2-56CAGTOMATO. Cells in self renewal were detached with Accutase and resuspended at the concentration of 100'000 cells/ml in mTeSR containing Rock Inhibitor (RI, 10µM). The viruses (50µl for each ml of cells) were added at this suspension and placed in tubes at 37 °C in the incubator for 30min. The infected cells were then plated on geltrex coated plates at 37 °C and after 2,5h the media was change with fresh mTeSR containing RI (10µM). The following day the medium were changed without RI and after 3 days Puromycin (300ng/ml) was added for selection. After one week in selection with daily medium change the colonies were picked with the help of a dissecting microscope and pipette p10 and plated in presence of RI. Due to the difficulty of having colonies made of pure clones with homogeneous levels of fluorescent proteins, the cells were sub-picked in a second round in the same way. After one week of self renewal in Puromycin selection the cells were freezed and fixed for IF to check levels of fluorescent proteins (with AbI anti-GFP and anti-RFP) and pluripotency (with AbI anti-Oct4). The selected clones were thawed and used for organoids experiment.

4.8.3 Co-aggregation of WT and HD cells

We followed the procedures described before to generate ventral organoids (see paragraph 4.2 of this thesis). For co-aggregation at day0 it is important that the cells in self-renewal receive same manipulation in terms of split ratio and show similar growth rate. The two cell lines (WT and HD) are detached, counted and resuspended in parallel. The cells are plated in three 96well V bottom plate: one plate for each cell line and the third plate with a mixture of the two lines in a ratio 1:1. The following steps are the same of ventral organoids protocols (see paragraph 4.2). Around day 8 the EBs are check at the microscope for endogenous levels of fluorescent proteins in live.



Co-culture of WT and HD cells in ventral organoids

Experimental design:

Fig 4.4: Experimental design for the generation and co-aggregation of GFP and TOMATO stable cell lines

4.9.4 Dissociation ad FACS sorting of co-culture organoids

The co-culture ventral organoids will be differentiated until day 45 and then they will be dissociated in single cells suspension, following the same procedure tested for scRNAseq (see paragraph 4.8.2 of this thesis). This suspension will be FACS sorted to isolate WT and HD populations inside the co-culture by their GFP or TOMATO signal. The sorting is performed by the FACS facility of INGM Institute with the BD FACSAria cell sorter and analyzed by the FACS Diva v. 6.1.3 software. We will extract RNA from the sorted cells for future analyses of RNAseq in bulk to compare gene expression of the different combinations (see paragraph 2.3.1 of this thesis for the experimental plan).

5. References

- Altmann, Curtis R. and Ali H. Brivanlou. 2001. "Neural Patterning in the Vertebrate Embryo." *International Review of Cytology* 203:447–82.
- An, Mahru C., Robert N. O'Brien, Ningzhe Zhang, Biranchi N. Patra, Michael De La Cruz, Animesh Ray, and Lisa M. Ellerby. 2014. "Polyglutamine Disease Modeling: Epitope Based Screen for Homologous Recombination Using CRISPR/Cas9 System." *PLoS Currents* 6.
- An, Mahru C., Ningzhe Zhang, Gary Scott, Daniel Montoro, Tobias Wittkop, Sean Mooney, Simon Melov, and Lisa M. Ellerby. 2012. "Genetic Correction of Huntington's Disease Phenotypes in Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells." Cell Stem Cell 11(2):253–63.
- Anderson, K. D. and A. Reiner. 1991. "Immunohistochemical Localization of DARPP-32 in Striatal Projection Neurons and Striatal Interneurons: Implications for the Localization of D1-like Dopamine Receptors on Different Types of Striatal Neurons." *Brain Research* 568(1–2):235–43.
- Arlotta, P., B. J. Molyneaux, D. Jabaudon, Y. Yoshida, and J. D. Macklis. 2008. "Ctip2 Controls the Differentiation of Medium Spiny Neurons and the Establishment of the Cellular Architecture of the Striatum." *Journal of Neuroscience* 28(3):622–32.
- Bachoud-Lévi, A. C., P. Rémy, J. P. Nguyen, P. Brugières, J. P. Lefaucheur, C. Bourdet, S. Baudic, V. Gaura, P. Maison, B. Haddad, M. F. Boissé, T. Grandmougin, R. Jény, P. Bartolomeo, G. Dalla Barba, J. D. Degos, F. Lisovoski, A. M. Ergis, E. Pailhous, P. Cesaro, P. Hantraye, and M. Peschanski. 2000. "Motor and Cognitive Improvements in Patients with Huntington's Disease after Neural Transplantation." *Lancet* (London, England) 356(9246):1975–79.
- Backman, Mattias, Ondrej Machon, Line Mygland, Christiaan Johannes van den Bout, Weimin Zhong, Makoto M. Taketo, and Stefan Krauss. 2005. "Effects of Canonical Wnt Signaling on Dorso-Ventral Specification of the Mouse Telencephalon." *Developmental Biology* 279(1):155–68.
- Bagley, Joshua A., Daniel Reumann, Shan Bian, Julie Lévi-Strauss, and Juergen A. Knoblich. 2017. "Fused Cerebral Organoids Model Interactions between Brain Regions." *Nature Methods* 14(7):743–51.
- Barker, Roger A., Sarah L. Mason, Timothy P. Harrower, Rachel A. Swain, Aileen K. Ho, Barbara J. Sahakian, Raj Mathur, Sohier Elneil, Steven Thornton, Carrie Hurrelbrink, Richard J. Armstrong, Pam Tyers, Emma Smith, Adrian Carpenter, Paola Piccini, Yen F. Tai, David J. Brooks, Nicola Pavese, Colin Watts, John D. Pickard, Anne E. Rosser, and Stephen B. Dunnett. 2013. "The Long-Term Safety and Efficacy of Bilateral Transplantation of Human Fetal Striatal Tissue in Patients with Mild to Moderate Huntington's Disease." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* 84(6):657–65.
- Becker, Esther B. .. and Azad Bonni. 2004. "Cell Cycle Regulation of Neuronal Apoptosis in Development and Disease." *Progress in Neurobiology* 72(1):1–25.
- Ben-Arie, N., Alanna E. McCall, Scott Berkman, Gregor Eichele, Hugo J. Bellen, and Huda Y. Zoghbi. 1996. "Evolutionary Conservation of Sequence and Expression of the BHLH Protein Atonal Suggests a Conserved Role in Neurogenesis." *Human Molecular Genetics* 5(9):1207–16.
- Benraiss, Abdellatif, Su Wang, Stephanie Herrlinger, Xiaojie Li, Devin Chandler-Militello, Joseph Mauceri, Hayley B. Burm, Michael Toner, Mikhail Osipovitch, Qiwu Jim Xu, Fengfei Ding, Fushun Wang, Ning Kang, Jian Kang, Paul C. Curtin, Daniela Brunner, Martha S. Windrem, Ignacio Munoz-Sanjuan, Maiken Nedergaard, and Steven A. Goldman. 2016. "Human Glia Can Both Induce and Rescue Aspects of Disease Phenotype in Huntington Disease." *Nature Communications* 7(1):1–13.
- Bershteyn, Marina, Tomasz J. Nowakowski, Alex A. Pollen, Elizabeth Di Lullo, Aishwarya Nene, Anthony Wynshaw-Boris, and Arnold R. Kriegstein. 2017. "Human IPSC-Derived Cerebral Organoids Model Cellular Features of Lissencephaly and Reveal Prolonged Mitosis of Outer Radial Glia." *Cell Stem Cell* 20(4):435-449.e4.

- Bertrand, Nicolas, Diogo S. Castro, and François Guillemot. 2002. "Proneural Genes and the Specification of Neural Cell Types." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 3(7):517–30.
- Besse, Laurianne, Mariame Neti, Isabelle Anselme, Christoph Gerhardt, Ulrich Rüther, Christine Laclef, and Sylvie Schneider-Maunoury. 2011. "Primary Cilia Control Telencephalic Patterning and Morphogenesis via Gli3 Proteolytic Processing." *Development* 138(10):2079–88.
- Bezprozvanny, Ilya and Michael R. Hayden. 2004. "Deranged Neuronal Calcium Signaling and Huntington Disease." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 322(4):1310–17.
- Bhatia, Sangeeta N. and Donald E. Ingber. 2014. "Microfluidic Organs-on-Chips." *Nature Biotechnology* 32(8):760–72.
- Birey, Fikri, Jimena Andersen, Christopher D. Makinson, Saiful Islam, Wu Wei, Nina Huber, H. Christina Fan, Kimberly R. Cordes Metzler, Georgia Panagiotakos, Nicholas Thom, Nancy A. O'Rourke, Lars M. Steinmetz, Jonathan A. Bernstein, Joachim Hallmayer, John R. Huguenard, and Sergiu P. Paşca. 2017. "Assembly of Functionally Integrated Human Forebrain Spheroids." *Nature* 545(7652):54–59.
- Bisgrove, Brent W. and H. Joseph Yost. 2006. "The Roles of Cilia in Developmental Disorders and Disease." *Development* 133(21):4131–43.
- Boulting, Gabriella L., Evangelos Kiskinis, Gist F. Croft, Mackenzie W. Amoroso, Derek H. Oakley, Brian J. Wainger, Damian J. Williams, David J. Kahler, Mariko Yamaki, Lance Davidow, Christopher T. Rodolfa, John T. Dimos, Shravani Mikkilineni, Amy B. MacDermott, Clifford J. Woolf, Christopher E. Henderson, Hynek Wichterle, and Kevin Eggan. 2011. "A Functionally Characterized Test Set of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells." *Nature Biotechnology* 29(3):279–86.
- Bouwmeester, Tewis, Sung-Hyun Kim, Yoshiki Sasai, Bin Lu, and Eddy M. De Robertis. 1996. "Cerberus Is a Head-Inducing Secreted Factor Expressed in the Anterior Endoderm of Spemann's Organizer." *Nature* 382(6592):595–601.
- Bradley, Cara K., Heather A. Scott, Omar Chami, Teija T. Peura, Biljana Dumevska, Uli Schmidt, and Tomas Stojanov. 2011. "Derivation of Huntington's Disease-Affected Human Embryonic Stem Cell Lines." *Stem Cells and Development* 20(3):495–502.
- Britanova, Olga, Camino de Juan Romero, Amanda Cheung, Kenneth Y. Kwan, Manuela Schwark, Andrea Gyorgy, Tanja Vogel, Sergey Akopov, Mišo Mitkovski, Denes Agoston, Nenad Šestan, Zoltán Molnár, and Victor Tarabykin. 2008. "Satb2 Is a Postmitotic Determinant for Upper-Layer Neuron Specification in the Neocortex." *Neuron* 57(3):378–92.
- Broix, Loïc, Laure Asselin, Carla G. Silva, Ekaterina L. Ivanova, Peggy Tilly, Johan G. Gilet, Nicolas Lebrun, Hélène Jagline, Giuseppe Muraca, Yoann Saillour, Nathalie Drouot, Madeline Louise Reilly, Fiona Francis, Alexandre Benmerah, Nadia Bahi-Buisson, Richard Belvindrah, Laurent Nguyen, Juliette D. Godin, Jamel Chelly, and Maria-Victoria Hinckelmann. 2018. "Ciliogenesis and Cell Cycle Alterations Contribute to KIF2A-Related Malformations of Cortical Development." *Human Molecular Genetics* 27(2):224–38.
- Camp, J. Gray, Farhath Badsha, Marta Florio, Sabina Kanton, Tobias Gerber, Michaela Wilsch-Bräuninger, Eric Lewitus, Alex Sykes, Wulf Hevers, Madeline Lancaster, Juergen A. Knoblich, Robert Lachmann, Svante Pääbo, Wieland B. Huttner, and Barbara Treutlein. 2015. "Human Cerebral Organoids Recapitulate Gene Expression Programs of Fetal Neocortex Development." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112(51):201520760.
- Casarosa, S., C. Fode, and F. Guillemot. 1999. "Mash1 Regulates Neurogenesis in the Ventral Telencephalon." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 126(3):525–34.
- Cederquist, Gustav Y., James J. Asciolla, Jason Tchieu, Ryan M. Walsh, Daniela Cornacchia, Marilyn D. Resh, and Lorenz Studer. 2019. "Specification of Positional Identity in Forebrain Organoids." *Nature Biotechnology* 37(4):436–44.

Chambers, Stuart M., Christopher A. Fasano, Eirini P. Papapetrou, Mark Tomishima, Michel Sadelain, and

Lorenz Studer. 2009. "Highly Efficient Neural Conversion of Human ES and IPS Cells by Dual Inhibition of SMAD Signaling." *Nature Biotechnology* 27(3):275–80.

- Chatzi, Christina, Thomas Brade, and Gregg Duester. 2011. "Retinoic Acid Functions as a Key GABAergic Differentiation Signal in the Basal Ganglia" edited by T. D. Palmer. *PLoS Biology* 9(4):e1000609.
- Chen, B., L. R. Schaevitz, and S. K. McConnell. 2005. "Fezl Regulates the Differentiation and Axon Targeting of Layer 5 Subcortical Projection Neurons in Cerebral Cortex." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102(47):17184–89.
- Chen, Jian-Fu, Ying Zhang, Jonathan Wilde, Kirk C. Hansen, Fan Lai, and Lee Niswander. 2014. "Microcephaly Disease Gene Wdr62 Regulates Mitotic Progression of Embryonic Neural Stem Cells and Brain Size." *Nature Communications* 5:3885.
- Choi, Se Hoon, Young Hye Kim, Matthias Hebisch, Christopher Sliwinski, Seungkyu Lee, Carla D'Avanzo, Hechao Chen, Basavaraj Hooli, Caroline Asselin, Julien Muffat, Justin B. Klee, Can Zhang, Brian J. Wainger, Michael Peitz, Dora M. Kovacs, Clifford J. Woolf, Steven L. Wagner, Rudolph E. Tanzi, and Doo Yeon Kim. 2014. "A Three-Dimensional Human Neural Cell Culture Model of Alzheimer's Disease." *Nature* 515(7526):274–78.
- Cicchetti, Francesca, Denis Soulet, and Thomas B. Freeman. 2011. "Neuronal Degeneration in Striatal Transplants and Huntington's Disease: Potential Mechanisms and Clinical Implications." *Brain : A Journal of Neurology* 134(Pt 3):641–52.
- Clowry, Gavin, Zoltán Molnár, and Pasko Rakic. 2010. "Renewed Focus on the Developing Human Neocortex." *Journal of Anatomy* 217(4):276–88.
- Conforti, P., D. Besusso, V. D. Bocchi, A. Faedo, E. Cesana, G. Rossetti, V. Ranzani, C. N. Svendsen, L. M. Thompson, M. Toselli, G. Biella, M. Pagani, and E. Cattaneo. 2018. "Faulty Neuronal Determination and Cell Polarization Are Reverted by Modulating HD Early Phenotypes." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(4):E762–71.
- Corbin, J. G., N. Gaiano, R. P. Machold, A. Langston, and G. Fishell. 2000a. "The Gsh2 Homeodomain Gene Controls Multiple Aspects of Telencephalic Development." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 127(23):5007–20.
- Corbin, J. G., N. Gaiano, R. P. Machold, A. Langston, and G. Fishell. 2000b. "The Gsh2 Homeodomain Gene Controls Multiple Aspects of Telencephalic Development." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 127(23):5007–20.
- Corbin, J. G., Michael Rutlin, Nicholas Gaiano, and Gord Fishell. 2003. "Combinatorial Function of the Homeodomain Proteins Nkx2.1 and Gsh2 in Ventral Telencephalic Patterning." *Development* 130(20):4895–4906.
- Corbit, Kevin C., Pia Aanstad, Veena Singla, Andrew R. Norman, Didier Y. R. Stainier, and Jeremy F. Reiter. 2005. "Vertebrate Smoothened Functions at the Primary Cilium." *Nature* 437(7061):1018–21.
- Cugola, Fernanda R., Isabella R. Fernandes, Fabiele B. Russo, Beatriz C. Freitas, João L. M. Dias, Katia P. Guimarães, Cecília Benazzato, Nathalia Almeida, Graciela C. Pignatari, Sarah Romero, Carolina M. Polonio, Isabela Cunha, Carla L. Freitas, Wesley N. Brandão, Cristiano Rossato, David G. Andrade, Daniele de P. Faria, Alexandre T. Garcez, Carlos A. Buchpigel, Carla T. Braconi, Erica Mendes, Amadou A. Sall, Paolo M. de A. Zanotto, Jean Pierre S. Peron, Alysson R. Muotri, and Patricia C. B. Beltrão-Braga. 2016. "The Brazilian Zika Virus Strain Causes Birth Defects in Experimental Models." *Nature* 534(7606):267–71.
- Dang, Jason, Shashi Kant Tiwari, Gianluigi Lichinchi, Yue Qin, Veena S. Patil, Alexey M. Eroshkin, and Tariq M. Rana. 2016. "Zika Virus Depletes Neural Progenitors in Human Cerebral Organoids through Activation of the Innate Immune Receptor TLR3." *Cell Stem Cell* 19(2):258–65.
- Delli Carri, Alessia, Marco Onorati, Valentina Castiglioni, Andrea Faedo, Stefano Camnasio, Mauro Toselli, Gerardo Biella, and Elena Cattaneo. 2013. "Human Pluripotent Stem Cell Differentiation into Authentic

Striatal Projection Neurons." Stem Cell Reviews and Reports 9(4):461-74.

- Dragatsis, I., P. Dietrich, H. Ren, Y. P. Deng, N. Del Mar, H. B. Wang, I. M. Johnson, K. R. Jones, and A. Reiner. 2018. "Effect of Early Embryonic Deletion of Huntingtin from Pyramidal Neurons on the Development and Long-Term Survival of Neurons in Cerebral Cortex and Striatum." *Neurobiology of Disease* 111:102–17.
- Dragatsis, Ioannis, Michael S. Levine, and Scott Zeitlin. 2000. "Inactivation of Hdh in the Brain and Testis Results in Progressive Neurodegeneration and Sterility in Mice." *Nature Genetics* 26(3):300–306.
- Drouet, Valérie, Valérie Perrin, Raymonde Hassig, Noëlle Dufour, Gwennaelle Auregan, Sandro Alves, Gilles Bonvento, Emmanuel Brouillet, Ruth Luthi-Carter, Philippe Hantraye, and Nicole Déglon. 2009. "Sustained Effects of Nonallele-Specific *Huntingtin* Silencing." *Annals of Neurology* 65(3):276–85.
- Dubreuil, Valérie, Marierose Hirsch, Alexandre Pattyn, Jean François Brunet, and Christo Goridis. 2000. "The Phox2b Transcription Factor Coordinately Regulates Neuronal Cell Cycle Exit and Identity." *Undefined*.
- van Duinen, Vincent, Sebastiaan J. Trietsch, Jos Joore, Paul Vulto, and Thomas Hankemeier. 2015. "Microfluidic 3D Cell Culture: From Tools to Tissue Models." *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 35:118–26.
- Eiraku, Mototsugu, Nozomu Takata, Hiroki Ishibashi, Masako Kawada, Eriko Sakakura, Satoru Okuda, Kiyotoshi Sekiguchi, Taiji Adachi, and Yoshiki Sasai. 2011. "Self-Organizing Optic-Cup Morphogenesis in Three-Dimensional Culture." *Nature* 472(7341):51–56.
- Eiraku, Mototsugu, Kiichi Watanabe, Mami Matsuo-Takasaki, Masako Kawada, Shigenobu Yonemura, Michiru Matsumura, Takafumi Wataya, Ayaka Nishiyama, Keiko Muguruma, and Yoshiki Sasai. 2008. "Self-Organized Formation of Polarized Cortical Tissues from ESCs and Its Active Manipulation by Extrinsic Signals." *Cell Stem Cell* 3(5):519–32.
- Elias, Salah, Morgane S. Thion, Hua Yu, Cristovao Marques Sousa, Charlène Lasgi, Xavier Morin, and Sandrine Humbert. 2014. "Huntingtin Regulates Mammary Stem Cell Division and Differentiation." *Stem Cell Reports* 2(4):491–506.
- Elkabetz, Y., G. Panagiotakos, G. Al Shamy, N. D. Socci, V. Tabar, and L. Studer. 2008. "Human ES Cell-Derived Neural Rosettes Reveal a Functionally Distinct Early Neural Stem Cell Stage." *Genes & Development* 22(2):152–65.
- Englund, C., Andy Fink, Charmaine Lau, Diane Pham, Ray A. M. Daza, Alessandro Bulfone, Tom Kowalczyk, and Robert F. Hevner. 2005. "Pax6, Tbr2, and Tbr1 Are Expressed Sequentially by Radial Glia, Intermediate Progenitor Cells, and Postmitotic Neurons in Developing Neocortex." *Journal of Neuroscience* 25(1):247–51.
- Ericson, J., J. Muhr, M. Placzek, T. Lints, T. M. Jessell, and T. Edlund. 1995. "Sonic Hedgehog Induces the Differentiation of Ventral Forebrain Neurons: A Common Signal for Ventral Patterning within the Neural Tube." *Cell* 81(5):747–56.
- Ernst, Aurélie and Jonas Frisén. 2015. "Adult Neurogenesis in Humans- Common and Unique Traits in Mammals." *PLOS Biology* 13(1):e1002045.
- Espuny-Camacho, Ira, Kimmo A. Michelsen, David Gall, Daniele Linaro, Anja Hasche, Jérôme Bonnefont, Camilia Bali, David Orduz, Angéline Bilheu, Adèle Herpoel, Nelle Lambert, Nicolas Gaspard, Sophie Péron, Serge N. Schiffmann, Michele Giugliano, Afsaneh Gaillard, and Pierre Vanderhaeghen. 2013.
 "Pyramidal Neurons Derived from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Integrate Efficiently into Mouse Brain Circuits In Vivo." *Neuron* 77(3):440–56.
- Evans, A. E., C. M. Kelly, S. V. Precious, and A. E. Rosser. 2012. "Molecular Regulation of Striatal Development: A Review." *Anatomy Research International* 2012:1–14.
- Falk, Sven, Stéphane Bugeon, Jovica Ninkovic, Gregor-Alexander Pilz, Maria Pia Postiglione, Harold Cremer, Jürgen A. Knoblich, and Magdalena Götz. 2017. "Time-Specific Effects of Spindle Positioning on

Embryonic Progenitor Pool Composition and Adult Neural Stem Cell Seeding." *Neuron* 93(4):777-791.e3.

- Faulkner, Nicole E., Denis L. Dujardin, Chin-Yin Tai, Kevin T. Vaughan, Christopher B. O'Connell, Yu-li Wang, and Richard B. Vallee. 2000. "A Role for the Lissencephaly Gene LIS1 in Mitosis and Cytoplasmic Dynein Function." *Nature Cell Biology* 2(11):784–91.
- Ferri, Anna, Rebecca Favaro, Leonardo Beccari, Jessica Bertolini, Sara Mercurio, Francisco Nieto-Lopez, Cristina Verzeroli, Federico La Regina, Davide De Pietri Tonelli, Sergio Ottolenghi, Paola Bovolenta, and Silvia K. Nicolis. 2013. "Sox2 Is Required for Embryonic Development of the Ventral Telencephalon through the Activation of the Ventral Determinants Nkx2.1 and Shh." *Development (Cambridge)* 140(6):1250–61.
- Fode, C., Q. Ma, S. Casarosa, S. L. Ang, D. J. Anderson, and F. Guillemot. 2000. "A Role for Neural Determination Genes in Specifying the Dorsoventral Identity of Telencephalic Neurons." *Genes & Development* 14(1):67–80.
- Fremeau, Robert T., Susan Voglmaier, Rebecca P. Seal, and Robert H. Edwards. 2004. "VGLUTs Define Subsets of Excitatory Neurons and Suggest Novel Roles for Glutamate." *Trends in Neurosciences* 27(2):98–103.
- Gabriel, Elke, Arpit Wason, Anand Ramani, Li Ming Gooi, Patrick Keller, Andrei Pozniakovsky, Ina Poser, Florian Noack, Narasimha Swamy Telugu, Federico Calegari, Tomo Šarić, Jürgen Hescheler, Anthony A. Hyman, Marco Gottardo, Giuliano Callaini, Fowzan Sami Alkuraya, and Jay Gopalakrishnan. 2016.
 "CPAP Promotes Timely Cilium Disassembly to Maintain Neural Progenitor Pool." *The EMBO Journal* 35(8):803–19.
- Gaiano, Nicholas, Jhumku D. Kohtz, Daniel H. Turnbull, and Gord Fishell. 1999. "A Method for Rapid Gainof-Function Studies in the Mouse Embryonic Nervoussystem." *Nature Neuroscience* 2(9):812–19.
- Garcez, Patricia P., Erick Correia Loiola, Rodrigo Madeiro da Costa, Luiza M. Higa, Pablo Trindade, Rodrigo Delvecchio, Juliana Minardi Nascimento, Rodrigo Brindeiro, Amilcar Tanuri, and Stevens K. Rehen. 2016. "Zika Virus Impairs Growth in Human Neurospheres and Brain Organoids." *Science (New York,* N.Y.) 352(6287):816–18.
- Gaspard, Nicolas, Tristan Bouschet, Raphael Hourez, Jordane Dimidschstein, Gilles Naeije, Jelle van den Ameele, Ira Espuny-Camacho, Adèle Herpoel, Lara Passante, Serge N. Schiffmann, Afsaneh Gaillard, and Pierre Vanderhaeghen. 2008. "An Intrinsic Mechanism of Corticogenesis from Embryonic Stem Cells." *Nature* 455(7211):351–57.
- Gauthier, Laurent R., Bénédicte C. Charrin, Maria Borrell-Pagès, Jim P. Dompierre, Hélène Rangone, Fabrice P. Cordelières, Jan De Mey, Marcy E. MacDonald, Volkmar Leßmann, Sandrine Humbert, and Frédéric Saudou. 2004. "Huntingtin Controls Neurotrophic Support and Survival of Neurons by Enhancing BDNF Vesicular Transport along Microtubules." *Cell* 118(1):127–38.
- Gazea, Mary, Evangelia Tasouri, Marianna Tolve, Viktoria Bosch, Anna Kabanova, Christian Gojak, Bahtiyar Kurtulmus, Orna Novikov, Joachim Spatz, Gislene Pereira, Wolfgang Hübner, Claude Brodski, Kerry L. Tucker, and Sandra Blaess. 2016. "Primary Cilia Are Critical for Sonic Hedgehog-Mediated Dopaminergic Neurogenesis in the Embryonic Midbrain." *Developmental Biology* 409(1):55–71.
- Genetic Modifiers of Huntington's Disease (GeM-HD) Consortium, Jong-Min, Vanessa C. Wheeler, Michael J. Chao, Jean Paul G. Vonsattel, Ricardo Mouro Pinto, Diane Lucente, Kawther Abu-Elneel, Eliana Marisa Ramos, Jayalakshmi Srinidhi Mysore, Tammy Gillis, Marcy E. MacDonald, James F. Gusella, Denise Harold, Timothy C. Stone, Valentina Escott-Price, Jun Han, Alexey Vedernikov, Peter Holmans, Lesley Jones, Seung Kwak, Mithra Mahmoudi, Michael Orth, G. Bernhard Landwehrmeyer, Jane S. Paulsen, E. Ray Dorsey, Ira Shoulson, and Richard H. Myers. 2015. "Identification of Genetic Factors That Modify Clinical Onset of Huntington's Disease." *Cell* 162(3):516–26.
- Georgala, Petrina A., Catherine B. Carr, and David J. Price. 2011. "The Role of Pax6 in Forebrain Development." *Developmental Neurobiology* 71(8):690–709.

- Giandomenico, Stefano L., Susanna B. Mierau, George M. Gibbons, Lea M. D. Wenger, Laura Masullo, Timothy Sit, Magdalena Sutcliffe, Jerome Boulanger, Marco Tripodi, Emmanuel Derivery, Ole Paulsen, András Lakatos, and Madeline A. Lancaster. 2019. "Cerebral Organoids at the Air–Liquid Interface Generate Diverse Nerve Tracts with Functional Output." *Nature Neuroscience* 22(4):669–79.
- Gleeson, J. G., P. T. Lin, L. A. Flanagan, and C. A. Walsh. 1999. "Doublecortin Is a Microtubule-Associated Protein and Is Expressed Widely by Migrating Neurons." *Neuron* 23(2):257–71.
- Glinka, Andrei, Wei Wu, Hajo Delius, A. Paula Monaghan, Claudia Blumenstock, and Christof Niehrs. 1998. "Dickkopf-1 Is a Member of a New Family of Secreted Proteins and Functions in Head Induction." *Nature* 391(6665):357–62.
- Godin, Juliette D., Kelly Colombo, Maria Molina-Calavita, Guy Keryer, Diana Zala, Bénédicte C. Charrin, Paula Dietrich, Marie-Laure Volvert, François Guillemot, Ioannis Dragatsis, Yohanns Bellaiche, Frédéric Saudou, Laurent Nguyen, and Sandrine Humbert. 2010. "Huntingtin Is Required for Mitotic Spindle Orientation and Mammalian Neurogenesis." *Neuron* 67(3):392–406.
- Godin, Juliette D. and Sandrine Humbert. 2011. "Mitotic Spindle: Focus on the Function of Huntingtin." *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 43(6):852–56.
- Goetz, Sarah C. and Kathryn V. Anderson. 2010. "The Primary Cilium: A Signalling Centre during Vertebrate Development." *Nature Reviews Genetics* 11(5):331–44.
- Gómez-Tortosa, E., M. E. MacDonald, J. C. Friend, S. A. Taylor, L. J. Weiler, L. A. Cupples, J. Srinidhi, J. F. Gusella, E. D. Bird, J. P. Vonsattel, and R. H. Myers. 2001. "Quantitative Neuropathological Changes in Presymptomatic Huntington's Disease." *Annals of Neurology* 49(1):29–34.
- Greenamyre, J., J. Penney, A. Young, C. D'Amato, S. Hicks, and I. Shoulson. 1985. "Alterations in L-Glutamate Binding in Alzheimer's and Huntington's Diseases." *Science* 227(4693):1496–99.
- Guemez-Gamboa, Alicia, Nicole G. Coufal, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2014. "Primary Cilia in the Developing and Mature Brain." *Neuron* 82(3):511–21.
- Gunhaga, Lena, Matthew Marklund, My Sjödal, Jen-Chih Hsieh, Thomas M. Jessell, and Thomas Edlund. 2003. "Specification of Dorsal Telencephalic Character by Sequential Wnt and FGF Signaling." *Nature Neuroscience* 6(7):701–7.
- Gutekunst, C. A., A. I. Levey, C. J. Heilman, W. L. Whaley, H. Yi, N. R. Nash, H. D. Rees, J. J. Madden, and S. M. Hersch. 1995. "Identification and Localization of Huntingtin in Brain and Human Lymphoblastoid Cell Lines with Anti-Fusion Protein Antibodies." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 92(19):8710–14.
- Han, Young-Goo, Nathalie Spassky, Miriam Romaguera-Ros, Jose-Manuel Garcia-Verdugo, Andrea Aguilar, Sylvie Schneider-Maunoury, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2008. "Hedgehog Signaling and Primary Cilia Are Required for the Formation of Adult Neural Stem Cells." *Nature Neuroscience* 11(3):277–84.
- Han, Young Goo and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2010. "Role of Primary Cilia in Brain Development and Cancer." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 20(1):58–67.
- Hansen, David V, Jan H. Lui, Pierre Flandin, Kazuaki Yoshikawa, John L. Rubenstein, Arturo Alvarez-Buylla, and Arnold R. Kriegstein. 2013. "Non-Epithelial Stem Cells and Cortical Interneuron Production in the Human Ganglionic Eminences." *Nature Neuroscience* 16(11):1576–87.
- Haremaki, Tomomi, Alessia Deglincerti, and Ali H. Brivanlou. 2015. "Huntingtin Is Required for Ciliogenesis and Neurogenesis during Early Xenopus Development." *Developmental Biology* 408(2):305–15.
- HD iPSC Consortium. 2012. "Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells from Patients with Huntington's Disease Show CAG-Repeat-Expansion-Associated Phenotypes." *Cell Stem Cell* 11(2):264–78.
- HD iPSC Consortium. 2017. "Developmental Alterations in Huntington's Disease Neural Cells and Pharmacological Rescue in Cells and Mice." *Nature Neuroscience* 20(5):648–60.
- Hébert, Jean M. and Gord Fishell. 2008. "The Genetics of Early Telencephalon Patterning: Some Assembly Required." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 9(9):678–85.
- Heins, Nico, Federico Cremisi, Paolo Malatesta, Rosaria M. R. Gangemi, Giorgio Corte, Jack Price, Guy Goudreau, Peter Gruss, and Magdalena Götz. 2001. "Emx2 Promotes Symmetric Cell Divisions and a Multipotential Fate in Precursors from the Cerebral Cortex." *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* 18(5):485–502.
- Hemmati-Brivanlou, Ali and Douglas A. Melton. 1994. "Inhibition of Activin Receptor Signaling Promotes Neuralization in Xenopus." *Cell* 77(2):273–81.
- Herrup, Karl and Yan Yang. 2007. "Cell Cycle Regulation in the Postmitotic Neuron: Oxymoron or New Biology?" *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 8(5):368–78.
- Hevner, R. F., L. Shi, N. Justice, Y. Hsueh, M. Sheng, S. Smiga, A. Bulfone, A. M. Goffinet, A. T. Campagnoni, and J. L. Rubenstein. 2001. "Tbr1 Regulates Differentiation of the Preplate and Layer 6." *Neuron* 29(2):353–66.
- Houart, Corinne, Luca Caneparo, Carl Heisenberg, K. Barth, Masaya Take-Uchi, and Stephen Wilson. 2002. "Establishment of the Telencephalon during Gastrulation by Local Antagonism of Wnt Signaling." *Neuron* 35(2):255–65.
- Hsu, Patrick D., Eric S. Lander, and Feng Zhang. 2014. "Development and Applications of CRISPR-Cas9 for Genome Engineering." *Cell* 157(6):1262–78.
- Hu, B. Y., J. P. Weick, J. Yu, L. X. Ma, X. Q. Zhang, J. A. Thomson, and S. C. Zhang. 2010. "Neural Differentiation of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Follows Developmental Principles but with Variable Potency." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107(9):4335–40.
- Hung, Claudia Lin-Kar, Tamara Maiuri, Laura Erin Bowie, Ryan Gotesman, Susie Son, Mina Falcone, James Victor Giordano, Tammy Gillis, Virginia Mattis, Trevor Lau, Vickie Kwan, Vanessa Wheeler, Jonathan Schertzer, Karun Singh, and Ray Truant. 2018. "A Patient-Derived Cellular Model for Huntington's Disease Reveals Phenotypes at Clinically Relevant CAG Lengths" edited by D. G. Drubin. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 29(23):2809–20.
- Iefremova, Vira, George Manikakis, Olivia Krefft, Ammar Jabali, Kevin Weynans, Ruven Wilkens, Fabio Marsoner, Björn Brändl, Franz-Josef Müller, Philipp Koch, and Julia Ladewig. 2017. "An Organoid-Based Model of Cortical Development Identifies Non-Cell-Autonomous Defects in Wnt Signaling Contributing to Miller-Dieker Syndrome." Cell Reports 19(1):50–59.
- Ingham, P. W. and A. P. McMahon. 2001. "Hedgehog Signaling in Animal Development: Paradigms and Principles." *Genes & Development* 15(23):3059–87.
- Jackson, Peter K. 2011. "Do Cilia Put Brakes on the Cell Cycle?" Nature Cell Biology 13(4):340-42.
- Jain, M., R. J. Armstrong, R. A. Barker, and A. E. Rosser. 2001. "Cellular and Molecular Aspects of Striatal Development." *Brain Research Bulletin* 55(4):533–40.
- Javaherian, Ashkan and Arnold Kriegstein. 2009. "A Stem Cell Niche for Intermediate Progenitor Cells of the Embryonic Cortex." *Cerebral Cortex* 19(suppl_1):i70–77.
- Jayaraman, Divya, Andrew Kodani, Dilenny M. Gonzalez, Joseph D. Mancias, Ganeshwaran H. Mochida, Cristiana Vagnoni, Jeffrey Johnson, Nevan Krogan, J. Wade Harper, Jeremy F. Reiter, Timothy W. Yu, Byoung il Bae, and Christopher A. Walsh. 2016. "Microcephaly Proteins Wdr62 and Aspm Define a Mother Centriole Complex Regulating Centriole Biogenesis, Apical Complex, and Cell Fate." *Neuron* 92(4):813–28.
- Jo, Junghyun, Yixin Xiao, Alfred Xuyang Sun, Engin Cukuroglu, Hoang-Dai Tran, Jonathan Göke, Zi Ying Tan, Tzuen Yih Saw, Cheng-Peow Tan, Hidayat Lokman, Younghwan Lee, Donghoon Kim, Han Seok Ko, Seong-Oh Kim, Jae Hyeon Park, Nam-Joon Cho, Thomas M. Hyde, Joel E. Kleinman, Joo Heon Shin, Daniel R. Weinberger, Eng King Tan, Hyunsoo Shawn Je, and Huck-Hui Ng. 2016. "Midbrain-

like Organoids from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Contain Functional Dopaminergic and Neuromelanin-Producing Neurons." *Cell Stem Cell* 19(2):248–57.

- Juopperi, Tarja A., Woon Kim, Cheng-Hsuan Chiang, Huimei Yu, Russell L. Margolis, Christopher A. Ross, Guo-li Ming, and Hongjun Song. 2012. "Astrocytes Generated from Patient Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Recapitulate Features of Huntington's Disease Patient Cells." *Molecular Brain* 5(1):17.
- Kadoshima, Taisuke, Hideya Sakaguchi, Tokushige Nakano, Mika Soen, Satoshi Ando, Mototsugu Eiraku, and Yoshiki Sasai. 2013. "Self-Organization of Axial Polarity, inside-out Layer Pattern, and Species-Specific Progenitor Dynamics in Human ES Cell-Derived Neocortex." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110(50):20284–89.
- Kaliszewski, M., A. B. Knott, and E. Bossy-Wetzel. 2015. "Primary Cilia and Autophagic Dysfunction in Huntington's Disease." *Cell Death and Differentiation* 22(9):1413–24.
- Kang, Hyo Jung, Yuka Imamura Kawasawa, Feng Cheng, Ying Zhu, Xuming Xu, Mingfeng Li, André M. M. Sousa, Mihovil Pletikos, Kyle A. Meyer, Goran Sedmak, Tobias Guennel, Yurae Shin, Matthew B. Johnson, Željka Krsnik, Simone Mayer, Sofia Fertuzinhos, Sheila Umlauf, Steven N. Lisgo, Alexander Vortmeyer, Daniel R. Weinberger, Shrikant Mane, Thomas M. Hyde, Anita Huttner, Mark Reimers, Joel E. Kleinman, and Nenad Šestan. 2011. "Spatio-Temporal Transcriptome of the Human Brain." *Nature* 478(7370):483–89.
- Kelava, Iva and Madeline A. Lancaster. 2016. "Dishing out Mini-Brains: Current Progress and Future Prospects in Brain Organoid Research." *Developmental Biology* 420(2):199–209.
- Kelava, Iva and Madeline A Lancaster. 2016. "Stem Cell Models of Human Brain Development." *Cell Stem Cell* 18(6):736–48.
- Kempermann, Gerd, Fred H. Gage, Ludwig Aigner, Hongjun Song, Maurice A. Curtis, Sandrine Thuret, H. Georg Kuhn, Sebastian Jessberger, Paul W. Frankland, Heather A. Cameron, Elizabeth Gould, Rene Hen, D. Nora Abrous, Nicolas Toni, Alejandro F. Schinder, Xinyu Zhao, Paul J. Lucassen, and Jonas Frisén. 2018. "Human Adult Neurogenesis: Evidence and Remaining Questions." *Cell Stem Cell* 23(1):25–30.
- Kerschbamer, Emanuela and Marta Biagioli. 2016. "Huntington's Disease as Neurodevelopmental Disorder: Altered Chromatin Regulation, Coding, and Non-Coding RNA Transcription." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 9:509.
- Keryer, Guy, Jose R. Pineda, Géraldine Liot, Jinho Kim, Paula Dietrich, Caroline Benstaali, Karen Smith, Fabrice P. Cordelières, Nathalie Spassky, Robert J. Ferrante, Ioannis Dragatsis, and Frédéric Saudou. 2011. "Ciliogenesis Is Regulated by a Huntingtin-HAP1-PCM1 Pathway and Is Altered in Huntington Disease." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121(11):4372–82.
- Kim, Sehyun, Norann A. Zaghloul, Ekaterina Bubenshchikova, Edwin C. Oh, Susannah Rankin, Nicholas Katsanis, Tomoko Obara, and Leonidas Tsiokas. 2011. "Nde1-Mediated Inhibition of Ciliogenesis Affects Cell Cycle Re-Entry." *Nature Cell Biology* 13(4):351–60.
- Kimura, S., Y. Hara, T. Pineau, P. Fernandez-Salguero, C. H. Fox, J. M. Ward, and F. J. Gonzalez. 1996. "The T/Ebp Null Mouse: Thyroid-Specific Enhancer-Binding Protein Is Essential for the Organogenesis of the Thyroid, Lung, Ventral Forebrain, and Pituitary." *Genes & Development* 10(1):60–69.
- Knoblich, Juergen A. 2010. "Asymmetric Cell Division: Recent Developments and Their Implications for Tumour Biology." Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 11(12):849–60.
- Koch, P., T. Opitz, J. A. Steinbeck, J. Ladewig, and O. Brustle. 2009. "A Rosette-Type, Self-Renewing Human ES Cell-Derived Neural Stem Cell with Potential for in Vitro Instruction and Synaptic Integration." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106(9):3225–30.
- Kohtz, J. D., D. P. Baker, G. Corte, and G. Fishell. 1998. "Regionalization within the Mammalian Telencephalon Is Mediated by Changes in Responsiveness to Sonic Hedgehog." *Development* (*Cambridge, England*) 125(24):5079–89.

- Laforet, G. A., E. Sapp, K. Chase, C. McIntyre, F. M. Boyce, M. Campbell, B. A. Cadigan, L. Warzecki, D. A. Tagle, P. H. Reddy, C. Cepeda, C. R. Calvert, E. S. Jokel, G. J. Klapstein, M. A. Ariano, M. S. Levine, M. DiFiglia, and N. Aronin. 2001. "Changes in Cortical and Striatal Neurons Predict Behavioral and Electrophysiological Abnormalities in a Transgenic Murine Model of Huntington's Disease." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 21(23):9112–23.
- Lancaster, M. A. and J. A. Knoblich. 2014. "Organogenesis in a Dish: Modeling Development and Disease Using Organoid Technologies." *Science* 345(6194):1247125–1247125.
- Lancaster, Madeline A., Nina S. Corsini, Simone Wolfinger, E. Hilary Gustafson, Alex W. Phillips, Thomas R. Burkard, Tomoki Otani, Frederick J. Livesey, and Juergen A. Knoblich. 2017. "Guided Self-Organization and Cortical Plate Formation in Human Brain Organoids." *Nature Biotechnology* 35(7):659–66.
- Lancaster, Madeline A., Magdalena Renner, Carol-Anne Martin, Daniel Wenzel, Louise S. Bicknell, Matthew E. Hurles, Tessa Homfray, Josef M. Penninger, Andrew P. Jackson, and Juergen A. Knoblich. 2013. "Cerebral Organoids Model Human Brain Development and Microcephaly." *Nature* 501(7467):373–79.
- Langbehn, DR, RR Brinkman, D. Falush, JS Paulsen, MR Hayden, and International Huntington's Disease Collaborative Group. 2004. "A New Model for Prediction of the Age of Onset and Penetrance for Huntington's Disease Based on CAG Length." *Clinical Genetics* 65(4):267–77.
- Lange, Christian, Miguel Turrero Garcia, Ilaria Decimo, Francesco Bifari, Guy Eelen, Annelies Quaegebeur, Ruben Boon, Hui Zhao, Bram Boeckx, Junlei Chang, Christine Wu, Ferdinand Le Noble, Diether Lambrechts, Mieke Dewerchin, Calvin J. Kuo, Wieland B. Huttner, and Peter Carmeliet. 2016. "Relief of Hypoxia by Angiogenesis Promotes Neural Stem Cell Differentiation by Targeting Glycolysis." *The EMBO Journal* 35(9):924–41.
- Le, Trung N., Qing Ping Zhou, Inma Cobos, Shunzhen Zhang, Jamie Zagozewski, Sara Japoni, Jerry Vriend, Tracie Parkinson, Guoyan Du, John L. Rubenstein, and David D. Eisenstat. 2017. "GABAergic Interneuron Differentiation in the Basal Forebrain Is Mediated through Direct Regulation of Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase Isoforms by Dlx Homeobox Transcription Factors." *Journal of Neuroscience* 37(36):8816–29.
- Lee, J. K., K. Mathews, B. Schlaggar, J. Perlmutter, J. S. Paulsen, E. Epping, L. Burmeister, and P. Nopoulos. 2012. "Measures of Growth in Children at Risk for Huntington Disease." *Neurology* 79(7):668–74.
- Lee, J. M., E. M. Ramos, J. H. Lee, T. Gillis, J. S. Mysore, M. R. Hayden, S. C. Warby, P. Morrison, M. Nance, C. A. Ross, R. L. Margolis, F. Squitieri, S. Orobello, S. Di Donato, E. Gomez-Tortosa, C. Ayuso, O. Suchowersky, R. J. A. Trent, E. McCusker, A. Novelletto, M. Frontali, R. Jones, T. Ashizawa, S. Frank, M. H. Saint-Hilaire, S. M. Hersch, H. D. Rosas, D. Lucente, M. B. Harrison, A. Zanko, R. K. Abramson, K. Marder, J. Sequeiros, J. S. Paulsen, G. B. Landwehrmeyer, R. H. Myers, M. E. MacDonald, J. F. Gusella, HD-MAPS Study Group, M. E. MacDonald, J. F. Gusella, and COHORT study of the HSG. 2012. "CAG Repeat Expansion in Huntington Disease Determines Age at Onset in a Fully Dominant Fashion." *Neurology* 78(10):690–95.
- Li, Aiqun, Masaki Saito, Jen Zen Chuang, Yun Yu Tseng, Carlos Dedesma, Kazuhito Tomizawa, Taku Kaitsuka, and Ching Hwa Sung. 2011. "Ciliary Transition Zone Activation of Phosphorylated Tctex-1 Controls Ciliary Resorption, S-Phase Entry and Fate of Neural Progenitors." *Nature Cell Biology* 13(4):402–11.
- Li, Yun, Julien Muffat, Attya Omer, Irene Bosch, Madeline A. Lancaster, Mriganka Sur, Lee Gehrke, Juergen A. Knoblich, and Rudolf Jaenisch. 2017. "Induction of Expansion and Folding in Human Cerebral Organoids." *Cell Stem Cell* 20(3):385-396.e3.
- Lindborg, Beth A., John H. Brekke, Amanda L. Vegoe, Connor B. Ulrich, Kerri T. Haider, Sandhya Subramaniam, Scott L. Venhuizen, Cindy R. Eide, Paul J. Orchard, Weili Chen, Qi Wang, Francisco Pelaez, Carolyn M. Scott, Efrosini Kokkoli, Susan A. Keirstead, James R. Dutton, Jakub Tolar, and Timothy D. O'Brien. 2016. "Rapid Induction of Cerebral Organoids From Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Using a Chemically Defined Hydrogel and Defined Cell Culture Medium." STEM CELLS

Translational Medicine 5(7):970–79.

- Liu, D. X. and L. A. Greene. 2001. "Neuronal Apoptosis at the G1/S Cell Cycle Checkpoint." *Cell and Tissue Research* 305(2):217–28.
- Liu, Jeh-Ping and Scott O. Zeitlin. 2011. "The Long and the Short of Aberrant Ciliogenesis in Huntington Disease." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121(11):4237–41.
- Liu, Ling, Jin-Sha Huang, Chao Han, Guo-Xin Zhang, Xiao-Yun Xu, Yan Shen, Jie Li, Hai-Yang Jiang, Zhi-Cheng Lin, Nian Xiong, and Tao Wang. 2016. "Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells in Huntington's Disease: Disease Modeling and the Potential for Cell-Based Therapy." *Molecular Neurobiology* 53(10):6698– 6708.
- Lobsiger, Christian S. and Don W. Cleveland. 2007. "Glial Cells as Intrinsic Components of Non-Cell-Autonomous Neurodegenerative Disease." *Nature Neuroscience* 10(11):1355–60.
- Lopes, Carla, Sophie Aubert, Fany Bourgois-Rocha, Monia Barnat, Ana Cristina Rego, Nicole Déglon, Anselme L. Perrier, and Sandrine Humbert. 2016. "Dominant-Negative Effects of Adult-Onset Huntingtin Mutations Alter the Division of Human Embryonic Stem Cells-Derived Neural Cells" edited by D. Blum. *PLOS ONE* 11(2):e0148680.
- Lopez-Juarez, A., J. Howard, K. Ullom, L. Howard, A. Grande, A. Pardo, R. Waclaw, Y. Y. Sun, D. Yang, C. Y. Kuan, K. Campbell, and M. Nakafuku. 2013. "Gsx2 Controls Region-Specific Activation of Neural Stem Cells and Injury-Induced Neurogenesis in the Adult Subventricular Zone." *Genes & Development* 27(11):1272–87.
- Lui, Jan H., David V Hansen, and Arnold R. Kriegstein. 2011. "Development and Evolution of the Human Neocortex." *Cell* 146(1):18–36.
- Di Lullo, Elizabeth and Arnold R. Kriegstein. 2017. "The Use of Brain Organoids to Investigate Neural Development and Disease." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 18(10):573–84.
- Mansour, Abed AlFatah, J. Tiago Gonçalves, Cooper W. Bloyd, Hao Li, Sarah Fernandes, Daphne Quang, Stephen Johnston, Sarah L. Parylak, Xin Jin, and Fred H. Gage. 2018. "An in Vivo Model of Functional and Vascularized Human Brain Organoids." *Nature Biotechnology* 36(5):432–41.
- Manzini, M. Chiara and Christopher A. Walsh. 2011. "What Disorders of Cortical Development Tell Us about the Cortex: One plus One Does Not Always Make Two." *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 21(3):333–39.
- Mariani, Jessica, Gianfilippo Coppola, Ping Zhang, Alexej Abyzov, Lauren Provini, Livia Tomasini, Mariangela Amenduni, Anna Szekely, Dean Palejev, Michael Wilson, Mark Gerstein, Elena L. Grigorenko, Katarzyna Chawarska, Kevin A. Pelphrey, James R. Howe, and Flora M. Vaccarino. 2015. "FOXG1-Dependent Dysregulation of GABA/Glutamate Neuron Differentiation in Autism Spectrum Disorders." *Cell* 162(2):375–90.
- Marklund, M., My Sjödal, Blake C. Beehler, Thomas M. Jessell, Thomas Edlund, and Lena Gunhaga. 2004. "Retinoic Acid Signalling Specifies Intermediate Character in the Developing Telencephalon." *Development* 131(17):4323–32.
- Mattis, Virginia B. and Clive N. Svendsen. 2017. "Modeling Huntington's Disease with Patient-Derived Neurons." *Brain Research* 1656:76–87.
- Mattis, Virginia B., Colton Tom, Sergey Akimov, Jasmine Saeedian, Michael E. Østergaard, Amber L. Southwell, Crystal N. Doty, Loren Ornelas, Anais Sahabian, Lindsay Lenaeus, Berhan Mandefro, Dhruv Sareen, Jamshid Arjomand, Michael R. Hayden, Christopher A. Ross, and Clive N. Svendsen. 2015. "HD IPSC-Derived Neural Progenitors Accumulate in Culture and Are Susceptible to BDNF Withdrawal Due to Glutamate Toxicity." *Human Molecular Genetics* 24(11):3257–71.
- McQuade, Leon R., Anushree Balachandran, Heather A. Scott, Simer Khaira, Mark S. Baker, and Uli Schmidt. 2014. "Proteomics of Huntington's Disease-Affected Human Embryonic Stem Cells Reveals an Evolving

Pathology Involving Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Metabolic Disturbances." *Journal of Proteome Research* 13(12):5648–59.

- Megason, Sean G. and Andrew P. McMahon. 2002. "A Mitogen Gradient of Dorsal Midline Wrts Organizes Growth in the CNS." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 129(9):2087–98.
- Mehler, M. F. and S. Gokhan. 2000. "Mechanisms Underlying Neural Cell Death in Neurodegenerative Diseases: Alterations of a Developmentally-Mediated Cellular Rheostat." *Trends in Neurosciences* 23(12):599–605.
- Miller, Jeremy A., Song-Lin Ding, Susan M. Sunkin, Kimberly A. Smith, Lydia Ng, Aaron Szafer, Amanda Ebbert, Zackery L. Riley, Joshua J. Royall, Kaylynn Aiona, James M. Arnold, Crissa Bennet, Darren Bertagnolli, Krissy Brouner, Stephanie Butler, Shiella Caldejon, Anita Carey, Christine Cuhaciyan, Rachel A. Dalley, Nick Dee, Tim A. Dolbeare, Benjamin A. C. Facer, David Feng, Tim P. Fliss, Garrett Gee, Jeff Goldy, Lindsey Gourley, Benjamin W. Gregor, Guangyu Gu, Robert E. Howard, Jayson M. Jochim, Chihchau L. Kuan, Christopher Lau, Chang-Kyu Lee, Felix Lee, Tracy A. Lemon, Phil Lesnar, Bergen McMurray, Naveed Mastan, Nerick Mosqueda, Theresa Naluai-Cecchini, Nhan-Kiet Ngo, Julie Nyhus, Aaron Oldre, Eric Olson, Jody Parente, Patrick D. Parker, Sheana E. Parry, Allison Stevens, Mihovil Pletikos, Melissa Reding, Kate Roll, David Sandman, Melaine Sarreal, Sheila Shapouri, Nadiya V. Shapovalova, Elaine H. Shen, Nathan Sjoquist, Clifford R. Slaughterbeck, Michael Smith, Andy J. Sodt, Derric Williams, Lilla Zöllei, Bruce Fischl, Mark B. Gerstein, Daniel H. Geschwind, Ian A. Glass, Michael J. Hawrylycz, Robert F. Hevner, Hao Huang, Allan R. Jones, James A. Knowles, Pat Levitt, John W. Phillips, Nenad Šestan, Paul Wohnoutka, Chinh Dang, Amy Bernard, John G. Hohmann, and Ed S. Lein. 2014. "Transcriptional Landscape of the Prenatal Human Brain." *Nature* 508(7495):199–206.
- Miller, Justine D., Yosif M. Ganat, Sarah Kishinevsky, Robert L. Bowman, Becky Liu, Edmund Y. Tu, Pankaj K. Mandal, Elsa Vera, Jae-won Shim, Sonja Kriks, Tony Taldone, Noemi Fusaki, Mark J. Tomishima, Dimitri Krainc, Teresa A. Milner, Derrick J. Rossi, and Lorenz Studer. 2013. "Human IPSC-Based Modeling of Late-Onset Disease via Progerin-Induced Aging." Cell Stem Cell 13(6):691–705.
- Miyamoto, Tatsuo, Kosuke Hosoba, Hiroshi Ochiai, Ekaterina Royba, Hideki Izumi, Tetsushi Sakuma, Takashi Yamamoto, Brian David Dynlacht, and Shinya Matsuura. 2015. "The Microtubule-Depolymerizing Activity of a Mitotic Kinesin Protein KIF2A Drives Primary Cilia Disassembly Coupled with Cell Proliferation." *Cell Reports* 10(5):664–73.
- Molero, A. E., S. Gokhan, S. Gonzalez, J. L. Feig, L. C. Alexandre, and M. F. Mehler. 2009. "Impairment of Developmental Stem Cell-Mediated Striatal Neurogenesis and Pluripotency Genes in a Knock-in Model of Huntington's Disease." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106(51):21900–905.
- Molero, Aldrin E., Eduardo E. Arteaga-Bracho, Christopher H. Chen, Maria Gulinello, Michael L. Winchester, Nandini Pichamoorthy, Solen Gokhan, Kamran Khodakhah, and Mark F. Mehler. 2016. "Selective Expression of Mutant Huntingtin during Development Recapitulates Characteristic Features of Huntington's Disease." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113(20):5736–41.
- Molina-Calavita, M., M. Barnat, S. Elias, E. Aparicio, M. Piel, and S. Humbert. 2014. "Mutant Huntingtin Affects Cortical Progenitor Cell Division and Development of the Mouse Neocortex." *Journal of Neuroscience* 34(30):10034–40.
- Molyneaux, Bradley J., Paola Arlotta, Tustomu Hirata, Masahiko Hibi, and Jeffrey D. Macklis. 2005. "Fezl Is Required for the Birth and Specification of Corticospinal Motor Neurons." *Neuron* 47(6):817–31.
- Monzel, Anna S., Lisa M. Smits, Kathrin Hemmer, Siham Hachi, Edinson Lucumi Moreno, Thea van Wuellen, Javier Jarazo, Jonas Walter, Inga Brüggemann, Ibrahim Boussaad, Emanuel Berger, Ronan M. T. Fleming, Silvia Bolognin, and Jens C. Schwamborn. 2017. "Derivation of Human Midbrain-Specific Organoids from Neuroepithelial Stem Cells." *Stem Cell Reports* 8(5):1144–54.
- Mora-Bermúdez, Felipe, Farhath Badsha, Sabina Kanton, J. Gray Camp, Benjamin Vernot, Kathrin Köhler, Birger Voigt, Keisuke Okita, Tomislav Maricic, Zhisong He, Robert Lachmann, Svante Pääbo, Barbara Treutlein, and Wieland B. Huttner. 2016. "Differences and Similarities between Human and Chimpanzee

Neural Progenitors during Cerebral Cortex Development." ELife 5.

- Muguruma, Keiko, Ayaka Nishiyama, Hideshi Kawakami, Kouichi Hashimoto, and Yoshiki Sasai. 2015. "Self-Organization of Polarized Cerebellar Tissue in 3D Culture of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells." *Cell Reports* 10(4):537–50.
- Mukhtar, Tanzila and Verdon Taylor. 2018. "Untangling Cortical Complexity During Development." *Journal* of Experimental Neuroscience 12:117906951875933.
- Muñoz-Sanjuán, I., AH Brivanlou-Nature Reviews Neuroscience, and undefined 2002. n.d. "Neural Induction, the Default Model and Embryonic Stem Cells." *Nature.Com.*
- Naphade, Swati, Alexander Embusch, Kuruwitage Lakshika Madushani, Karen L. Ring, and Lisa M. Ellerby. 2018. "Altered Expression of Matrix Metalloproteinases and Their Endogenous Inhibitors in a Human Isogenic Stem Cell Model of Huntington's Disease." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 11:736.
- Nguyen, Giang D., Solen Gokhan, Aldrin E. Molero, and Mark F. Mehler. 2013. "Selective Roles of Normal and Mutant Huntingtin in Neural Induction and Early Neurogenesis" edited by D. Henrique. *PLoS ONE* 8(5):e64368.
- Nguyen, Laurent, Arnaud Besson, James M. Roberts, and François Guillemot. 2006. "Coupling Cell Cycle Exit, Neuronal Differentiation and Migration in Cortical Neurogenesis." *Cell Cycle* 5(20):2314–18.
- Niclis, Jonathan C., Anita Pinar, John M. Haynes, Walaa Alsanie, Robert Jenny, Mirella Dottori, and David S. Cram. 2013. "Characterization of Forebrain Neurons Derived from Late-Onset Huntington's Disease Human Embryonic Stem Cell Lines." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 7:37.
- Niclis, Jonathan C., Alan O. Trounson, Mirella Dottori, Andrew M. Ellisdon, Stephen P. Bottomley, Y. Verlinsky, and David S. Cram. 2009. "Human Embryonic Stem Cell Models of Huntington Disease." *Reproductive Biomedicine Online* 19(1):106–13.
- Nigg, Erich A. and Jordan W. Raff. 2009. "Centrioles, Centrosomes, and Cilia in Health and Disease." *Cell* 139(4):663–78.
- Noatynska, Anna, Monica Gotta, and Patrick Meraldi. 2012. "Mitotic Spindle (DIS)Orientation and DISease: Cause or Consequence?" *The Journal of Cell Biology* 199(7):1025–35.
- Nopoulos, Peggy C. 2016. "Huntington Disease: A Single-Gene Degenerative Disorder of the Striatum." Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience 18(1):91–98.
- Nopoulos, Peggy C., Elizabeth H. Aylward, Christopher A. Ross, James A. Mills, Douglas R. Langbehn, Hans J. Johnson, Vincent A. Magnotta, Ronald K. Pierson, Leigh J. Beglinger, Martha A. Nance, Roger A. Barker, Jane S. Paulsen, and PREDICT-HD Investigators and Coordinators of the Huntington Study Group. 2011. "Smaller Intracranial Volume in Prodromal Huntington's Disease: Evidence for Abnormal Neurodevelopment." *Brain* 134(1):137–42.
- Novak, Marianne J. U., Kiran K. Seunarine, Clare R. Gibbard, Peter McColgan, Bogdan Draganski, Karl Friston, Chris A. Clark, and Sarah J. Tabrizi. 2015. "Basal Ganglia-Cortical Structural Connectivity in Huntington's Disease." *Human Brain Mapping* 36(5):1728–40.
- Onorati, Marco, Valentina Castiglioni, Daniele Biasci, Elisabetta Cesana, Ramesh Menon, Romina Vuono, Francesca Talpo, Rocio Laguna Goya, Paul A. Lyons, Gaetano P. Bulfamante, Luca Muzio, Gianvito Martino, Mauro Toselli, Cinthia Farina, Roger A. Barker, Gerardo Biella, and Elena Cattaneo. 2014. "Molecular and Functional Definition of the Developing Human Striatum." *Nature Neuroscience* 17(12):1804–15.
- Ooi, Jolene, Sarah R. Langley, Xiaohong Xu, Kagistia H. Utami, Bernice Sim, Yihui Huang, Nathan P. Harmston, Yi Lin Tay, Amin Ziaei, Ruizhu Zeng, Donovan Low, Folefac Aminkeng, Radoslaw M. Sobota, Florent Ginhoux, Enrico Petretto, and Mahmoud A. Pouladi. 2019. "Unbiased Profiling of Isogenic Huntington Disease HPSC-Derived CNS and Peripheral Cells Reveals Strong Cell-Type Specificity of CAG Length Effects." *Cell Reports* 26(9):2494-2508.e7.

- Otani, Tomoki, Maria C. Marchetto, Fred H. Gage, Benjamin D. Simons, and Frederick J. Livesey. 2016. "2D and 3D Stem Cell Models of Primate Cortical Development Identify Species-Specific Differences in Progenitor Behavior Contributing to Brain Size." *Cell Stem Cell* 18(4):467–80.
- Panchision, D. M., J. M. Pickel, L. Studer, S. H. Lee, P. A. Turner, T. G. Hazel, and R. D. McKay. 2001. "Sequential Actions of BMP Receptors Control Neural Precursor Cell Production and Fate." *Genes & Development* 15(16):2094–2110.
- Panganiban, Grace and John L. R. Rubenstein. 2002. "Developmental Functions of the Distal-Less/Dlx Homeobox Genes." *Development* 129(19):4371–86.
- Park, In-Hyun, Natasha Arora, Hongguang Huo, Nimet Maherali, Tim Ahfeldt, Akiko Shimamura, M. William Lensch, Chad Cowan, Konrad Hochedlinger, and George Q. Daley. 2008. "Disease-Specific Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells." *Cell* 134(5):877–86.
- Paşca, Anca M., Steven A. Sloan, Laura E. Clarke, Yuan Tian, Christopher D. Makinson, Nina Huber, Chul Hoon Kim, Jin-Young Park, Nancy A. O'Rourke, Khoa D. Nguyen, Stephen J. Smith, John R. Huguenard, Daniel H. Geschwind, Ben A. Barres, and Sergiu P. Paşca. 2015. "Functional Cortical Neurons and Astrocytes from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells in 3D Culture." *Nature Methods* 12(7):671– 78.
- Pauly, Marie Christin, Máté D. Döbrössy, Guido Nikkhah, Christian Winkler, and Tobias Piroth. 2014. "Organization of the Human Fetal Subpallium." *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy* 7(JAN):1–11.
- Peschanski, M., P. Cesaro, and P. Hantraye. 1995. "Rationale for Intrastriatal Grafting of Striatal Neuroblasts in Patients with Huntington's Disease." *Neuroscience* 68(2):273–85.
- Philpott, April L., Tarrant D. R. Cummins, Neil W. Bailey, Andrew Churchyard, Paul B. Fitzgerald, and Nellie Georgiou-Karistianis. 2016. "Cortical Inhibitory Deficits in Premanifest and Early Huntington's Disease." *Behavioural Brain Research* 296:311–17.
- Pilz, Gregor-Alexander, Atsunori Shitamukai, Isabel Reillo, Emilie Pacary, Julia Schwausch, Ronny Stahl, Jovica Ninkovic, Hugo J. Snippert, Hans Clevers, Leanne Godinho, Francois Guillemot, Victor Borrell, Fumio Matsuzaki, and Magdalena Götz. 2013. "Amplification of Progenitors in the Mammalian Telencephalon Includes a New Radial Glial Cell Type." *Nature Communications* 4(1):2125.
- Poirier, Karine, Nicolas Lebrun, Loic Broix, Guoling Tian, Yoann Saillour, Cécile Boscheron, Elena Parrini, Stephanie Valence, Benjamin Saint Pierre, Madison Oger, Didier Lacombe, David Geneviève, Elena Fontana, Franscesca Darra, Claude Cances, Magalie Barth, Dominique Bonneau, Bernardo Dalla Bernadina, Sylvie N'Guyen, Cyril Gitiaux, Philippe Parent, Vincent Des Portes, Jean Michel Pedespan, Victoire Legrez, Laetitia Castelnau-Ptakine, Patrick Nitschke, Thierry Hieu, Cecile Masson, Diana Zelenika, Annie Andrieux, Fiona Francis, Renzo Guerrini, Nicholas J. Cowan, Nadia Bahi-Buisson, and Jamel Chelly. 2013. "Mutations in TUBG1, DYNC1H1, KIF5C and KIF2A Cause Malformations of Cortical Development and Microcephaly." *Nature Genetics* 45(6):639–47.
- Pollard, Steven M., Luciano Conti, Yirui Sun, Donato Goffredo, and Austin Smith. 2006. "Adherent Neural Stem (NS) Cells from Fetal and Adult Forebrain." *Cerebral Cortex* 16(suppl_1):i112–20.
- Pollen, Alex A., Aparna Bhaduri, Madeline G. Andrews, Tomasz J. Nowakowski, Olivia S. Meyerson, Mohammed A. Mostajo-Radji, Elizabeth Di Lullo, Beatriz Alvarado, Melanie Bedolli, Max L. Dougherty, Ian T. Fiddes, Zev N. Kronenberg, Joe Shuga, Anne A. Leyrat, Jay A. West, Marina Bershteyn, Craig B. Lowe, Bryan J. Pavlovic, Sofie R. Salama, David Haussler, Evan E. Eichler, and Arnold R. Kriegstein. 2019. "Establishing Cerebral Organoids as Models of Human-Specific Brain Evolution." *Cell* 176(4):743-756.e17.
- Pollen, Alex A., Tomasz J. Nowakowski, Jiadong Chen, Hanna Retallack, Carmen Sandoval-Espinosa, Cory R. Nicholas, Joe Shuga, Siyuan John Liu, Michael C. Oldham, Aaron Diaz, Daniel A. Lim, Anne A. Leyrat, Jay A. West, and Arnold R. Kriegstein. 2015. "Molecular Identity of Human Outer Radial Glia during Cortical Development." *Cell* 163(1):55–67.
- Qian, Xuyu, Ha Nam Nguyen, Mingxi M. Song, Christopher Hadiono, Sarah C. Ogden, Christy Hammack,

Bing Yao, Gregory R. Hamersky, Fadi Jacob, Chun Zhong, Ki-jun Yoon, William Jeang, Li Lin, Yujing Li, Jai Thakor, Daniel A. Berg, Ce Zhang, Eunchai Kang, Michael Chickering, David Nauen, Cheng-Ying Ho, Zhexing Wen, Kimberly M. Christian, Pei-Yong Shi, Brady J. Maher, Hao Wu, Peng Jin, Hengli Tang, Hongjun Song, and Guo-li Ming. 2016. "Brain-Region-Specific Organoids Using Mini-Bioreactors for Modeling ZIKV Exposure." *Cell* 165(5):1238–54.

- Quadrato, Giorgia, Tuan Nguyen, Evan Z. Macosko, John L. Sherwood, Sung Min Yang, Daniel R. Berger, Natalie Maria, Jorg Scholvin, Melissa Goldman, Justin P. Kinney, Edward S. Boyden, Jeff W. Lichtman, Ziv M. Williams, Steven A. McCarroll, and Paola Arlotta. 2017. "Cell Diversity and Network Dynamics in Photosensitive Human Brain Organoids." *Nature* 545(7652):48–53.
- Raja, Waseem K., Alison E. Mungenast, Yuan-Ta Lin, Tak Ko, Fatema Abdurrob, Jinsoo Seo, and Li-Huei Tsai. 2016. "Self-Organizing 3D Human Neural Tissue Derived from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Recapitulate Alzheimer's Disease Phenotypes" edited by J. Padmanabhan. PLOS ONE 11(9):e0161969.
- Rallu, Murielle, Robert Machold, Nicholas Gaiano, Joshua G. Corbin, Andrew P. McMahon, and Gord Fishell. 2002. "Dorsoventral Patterning Is Established in the Telencephalon of Mutants Lacking Both Gli3 and Hedgehog Signaling." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 129(21):4963–74.
- Ramocki, Melissa B. and Huda Y. Zoghbi. 2008. "Failure of Neuronal Homeostasis Results in Common Neuropsychiatric Phenotypes." *Nature* 455(7215):912–18.
- Reuter, I., Y. F. Tai, N. Pavese, K. R. Chaudhuri, S. Mason, C. E. Polkey, C. Clough, D. J. Brooks, R. A. Barker, and P. Piccini. 2008. "Long-Term Clinical and Positron Emission Tomography Outcome of Fetal Striatal Transplantation in Huntington's Disease." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* 79(8):948–51.
- Ring, Karen L., Mahru C. An, Ningzhe Zhang, Robert N. O'Brien, Eliana Marisa Ramos, Fuying Gao, Robert Atwood, Barbara J. Bailus, Simon Melov, Sean D. Mooney, Giovanni Coppola, and Lisa M. Ellerby. 2015. "Genomic Analysis Reveals Disruption of Striatal Neuronal Development and Therapeutic Targets in Human Huntington's Disease Neural Stem Cells." *Stem Cell Reports* 5(6):1023–38.
- Ruzo, Albert, Gist F. Croft, Jakob J. Metzger, Szilvia Galgoczi, Lauren J. Gerber, Cecilia Pellegrini, Hanbin Wang, Maria Fenner, Stephanie Tse, Adam Marks, Corbyn Nchako, and Ali H. Brivanlou. 2018a. "Chromosomal Instability during Neurogenesis in Huntington's Disease." *Development* 145(2):dev156844.
- Ruzo, Albert, Gist F. Croft, Jakob J. Metzger, Szilvia Galgoczi, Lauren J. Gerber, Cecilia Pellegrini, Hanbin Wang, Maria Fenner, Stephanie Tse, Adam Marks, Corbyn Nchako, and Ali H. Brivanlou. 2018b. "Chromosomal Instability during Neurogenesis in Huntington's Disease." *Development* 145(2):dev156844.
- Ruzo, Albert, Ismail Ismailoglu, Melissa Popowski, Tomomi Haremaki, Gist F. Croft, Alessia Deglincerti, and Ali H. Brivanlou. 2015. "Discovery of Novel Isoforms of Huntingtin Reveals a New Hominid-Specific Exon" edited by S. Humbert. *PLOS ONE* 10(5):e0127687.
- Sakaguchi, Hideya, Taisuke Kadoshima, Mika Soen, Nobuhiro Narii, Yoshihito Ishida, Masatoshi Ohgushi, Jun Takahashi, Mototsugu Eiraku, and Yoshiki Sasai. 2015. "Generation of Functional Hippocampal Neurons from Self-Organizing Human Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Dorsomedial Telencephalic Tissue." *Nature Communications* 6(1):8896.
- Lo Sardo, Valentina, Chiara Zuccato, Germano Gaudenzi, Barbara Vitali, Catarina Ramos, Marzia Tartari, Michael A. Myre, James A. Walker, Anna Pistocchi, Luciano Conti, Marta Valenza, Binia Drung, Boris Schmidt, James Gusella, Scott Zeitlin, Franco Cotelli, and Elena Cattaneo. 2012. "An Evolutionary Recent Neuroepithelial Cell Adhesion Function of Huntingtin Implicates ADAM10-Ncadherin." *Nature Neuroscience* 15(5):713–21.
- Sasai, Yoshiki and Eddy M. De Robertis. 1997. "Ectodermal Patterning in Vertebrate Embryos." *Developmental Biology* 182(1):5–20.
- Sato, Toshiro, Robert G. Vries, Hugo J. Snippert, Marc van de Wetering, Nick Barker, Daniel E. Stange, Johan

H. van Es, Arie Abo, Pekka Kujala, Peter J. Peters, and Hans Clevers. 2009. "Single Lgr5 Stem Cells Build Crypt-Villus Structures in Vitro without a Mesenchymal Niche." *Nature* 459(7244):262–65.

Saudou, Frédéric and Sandrine Humbert. 2016. "The Biology of Huntingtin." Neuron 89(5):910-26.

- Scardigli, R., C. Schuurmans, G. Gradwohl, and F. Guillemot. 2001. "Crossregulation between Neurogenin2 and Pathways Specifying Neuronal Identity in the Spinal Cord." *Neuron* 31(2):203–17.
- Schier, Alexander F. and Michael M. Shen. 2000. "Nodal Signalling in Vertebrate Development." *Nature* 403(6768):385–89.
- Schmidt, Mandi E., Caodu Buren, James P. Mackay, Daphne Cheung, Louisa Dal Cengio, Lynn A. Raymond, and Michael R. Hayden. 2018. "Altering Cortical Input Unmasks Synaptic Phenotypes in the YAC128 Cortico-Striatal Co-Culture Model of Huntington Disease." *BMC Biology* 16(1):58.
- Schneider, R. A., D. Hu, J. L. Rubenstein, M. Maden, and J. A. Helms. 2001. "Local Retinoid Signaling Coordinates Forebrain and Facial Morphogenesis by Maintaining FGF8 and SHH." *Development* (*Cambridge, England*) 128(14):2755–67.
- Schuurmans, Carol and François Guillemot. 2002. "Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Cell Fate Specification in the Developing Telencephalon." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 12(1):26–34.
- Sessa, Alessandro, Chai-An Mao, Anna-Katerina Hadjantonakis, William H. Klein, and Vania Broccoli. 2008. "Tbr2 Directs Conversion of Radial Glia into Basal Precursors and Guides Neuronal Amplification by Indirect Neurogenesis in the Developing Neocortex." *Neuron* 60(1):56–69.
- Sgourdou, Paraskevi, Ketu Mishra-Gorur, Ichiko Saotome, Octavian Henagariu, Beyhan Tuysuz, Cynthia Campos, Keiko Ishigame, Krinio Giannikou, Jennifer L. Quon, Nenad Sestan, Ahmet O. Caglayan, Murat Gunel, and Angeliki Louvi. 2017. "Disruptions in Asymmetric Centrosome Inheritance and WDR62-Aurora Kinase B Interactions in Primary Microcephaly." *Scientific Reports* 7.
- Shi, Yichen, Peter Kirwan, and Frederick J. Livesey. 2012. "Directed Differentiation of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells to Cerebral Cortex Neurons and Neural Networks." *Nature Protocols* 7(10):1836–46.
- Stout, Julie C., Jane S. Paulsen, Sarah Queller, Andrea C. Solomon, Kathryn B. Whitlock, J. Colin Campbell, Noelle Carlozzi, Kevin Duff, Leigh J. Beglinger, Douglas R. Langbehn, Shannon A. Johnson, Kevin M. Biglan, and Elizabeth H. Aylward. 2011. "Neurocognitive Signs in Prodromal Huntington Disease." *Neuropsychology* 25(1):1–14.
- Stoykova, Anastassia, Dieter Treichel, Marc Hallonet, and Peter Gruss. 2000. "Pax6 Modulates the Dorsoventral Patterning of the Mammalian Telencephalon." *Journal of Neuroscience* 20(21):8042–50.
- Suga, Hidetaka, Taisuke Kadoshima, Maki Minaguchi, Masatoshi Ohgushi, Mika Soen, Tokushige Nakano, Nozomu Takata, Takafumi Wataya, Keiko Muguruma, Hiroyuki Miyoshi, Shigenobu Yonemura, Yutaka Oiso, and Yoshiki Sasai. 2011. "Self-Formation of Functional Adenohypophysis in Three-Dimensional Culture." *Nature* 480(7375):57–62.
- Sussel, L., O. Marin, S. Kimura, and J. L. Rubenstein. 1999. "Loss of Nkx2.1 Homeobox Gene Function Results in a Ventral to Dorsal Molecular Respecification within the Basal Telencephalon: Evidence for a Transformation of the Pallidum into the Striatum." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 126(15):3359– 70.
- Suzuki, I. K. and P. Vanderhaeghen. 2015. "Is This a Brain Which I See before Me? Modeling Human Neural Development with Pluripotent Stem Cells." *Development* 142(18):3138–50.
- Swami, Meera, Audrey E. Hendricks, Tammy Gillis, Tiffany Massood, Jayalakshmi Mysore, Richard H. Myers, and Vanessa C. Wheeler. 2009. "Somatic Expansion of the Huntington's Disease CAG Repeat in the Brain Is Associated with an Earlier Age of Disease Onset." *Human Molecular Genetics* 18(16):3039– 47.
- Tabrizi, Sarah J., Douglas R. Langbehn, Blair R. Leavitt, Raymund AC Roos, Alexandra Durr, David Craufurd, Christopher Kennard, Stephen L. Hicks, Nick C. Fox, Rachael I. Scahill, Beth Borowsky, Allan J. Tobin,

H. Diana Rosas, Hans Johnson, Ralf Reilmann, Bernhard Landwehrmeyer, Julie C. Stout, and TRACK-HD investigators. 2009. "Biological and Clinical Manifestations of Huntington's Disease in the Longitudinal TRACK-HD Study: Cross-Sectional Analysis of Baseline Data." *The Lancet Neurology* 8(9):791–801.

- Thornton, Gemma K. and C. Geoffrey Woods. 2009. "Primary Microcephaly: Do All Roads Lead to Rome?" *Trends in Genetics* 25(11):501–10.
- Toresson, H., A. Mata de Urquiza, C. Fagerström, T. Perlmann, and K. Campbell. 1999. "Retinoids Are Produced by Glia in the Lateral Ganglionic Eminence and Regulate Striatal Neuron Differentiation." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 126(6):1317–26.
- Toresson, H., S. S. Potter, and K. Campbell. 2000. "Genetic Control of Dorsal-Ventral Identity in the Telencephalon: Opposing Roles for Pax6 and Gsh2." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 127(20):4361–71.
- Tornero, Daniel, Somsak Wattananit, Marita Grønning Madsen, Philipp Koch, James Wood, Jemal Tatarishvili, Yutaka Mine, Ruimin Ge, Emanuela Monni, Karthikeyan Devaraju, Robert F. Hevner, Oliver Brüstle, Olle Lindvall, and Zaal Kokaia. 2013. "Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cortical Neurons Integrate in Stroke-Injured Cortex and Improve Functional Recovery." Brain 136(12):3561–77.
- Vallee, Richard B. and Jin-Wu Tsai. 2006. "The Cellular Roles of the Lissencephaly Gene LIS1, and What They Tell Us about Brain Development." *Genes & Development* 20(11):1384–93.
- van de Leemput, Joyce, Nathan C. Boles, Thomas R. Kiehl, Barbara Corneo, Patty Lederman, Vilas Menon, Changkyu Lee, Refugio A. Martinez, Boaz P. Levi, Carol L. Thompson, Shuyuan Yao, Ajamete Kaykas, Sally Temple, and Christopher A. Fasano. 2014. "CORTECON: A Temporal Transcriptome Analysis of In Vitro Human Cerebral Cortex Development from Human Embryonic Stem Cells." *Neuron* 83(1):51– 68.
- Vasudevan, Anju, Jason E. Long, James E. Crandall, John L. R. Rubenstein, and Pradeep G. Bhide. 2008. "Compartment-Specific Transcription Factors Orchestrate Angiogenesis Gradients in the Embryonic Brain." *Nature Neuroscience* 11(4):429–39.
- Velasco, Silvia, Amanda J. Kedaigle, Sean K. Simmons, Allison Nash, Marina Rocha, Giorgia Quadrato, Bruna Paulsen, Lan Nguyen, Xian Adiconis, Aviv Regev, Joshua Z. Levin, and Paola Arlotta. 2019. "Individual Brain Organoids Reproducibly Form Cell Diversity of the Human Cerebral Cortex." *Nature* 1.
- Vigneault, Érika, Odile Poirel, Mustapha Riad, Josée Prud'homme, Sylvie Dumas, Gustavo Turecki, Caroline Fasano, Naguib Mechawar, and Salah El Mestikawy. 2015. "Distribution of Vesicular Glutamate Transporters in the Human Brain." *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy* 9(MAR):1–13.
- Waclaw, Ronald R., Bei Wang, Zhenglei Pei, Lisa A. Ehrman, and Kenneth Campbell. 2009. "Distinct Temporal Requirements for the Homeobox Gene Gsx2 in Specifying Striatal and Olfactory Bulb Neuronal Fates." *Neuron* 63(4):451–65.
- Walker, Tara L., Takahiro Yasuda, David J. Adams, and Perry F. Bartlett. 2007. "The Doublecortin-Expressing Population in the Developing and Adult Brain Contains Multipotential Precursors in Addition to Neuronal-Lineage Cells." *Journal of Neuroscience* 27(14):3734–42.
- Wang, Bei, Ronald R. Waclaw, Zegary J. Allen, Francois Guillemot, and Kenneth Campbell. 2009. "Ascl1 Is a Required Downstream Effector of Gsx Gene Function in the Embryonic Mouse Telencephalon." *Neural Development* 4(1):5.
- Watanabe, Kiichi, Daisuke Kamiya, Ayaka Nishiyama, Tomoko Katayama, Satoshi Nozaki, Hiroshi Kawasaki, Yasuyoshi Watanabe, Kenji Mizuseki, and Yoshiki Sasai. 2005. "Directed Differentiation of Telencephalic Precursors from Embryonic Stem Cells." *Nature Neuroscience* 8(3):288–96.

Watanabe, Momoko, Jessie E. Buth, Neda Vishlaghi, Luis de la Torre-Ubieta, Jiannis Taxidis, Baljit S. Khakh,

Giovanni Coppola, Caroline A. Pearson, Ken Yamauchi, Danyang Gong, Xinghong Dai, Robert Damoiseaux, Roghiyh Aliyari, Simone Liebscher, Katja Schenke-Layland, Christine Caneda, Eric J. Huang, Ye Zhang, Genhong Cheng, Daniel H. Geschwind, Peyman Golshani, Ren Sun, and Bennett G. Novitch. 2017. "Self-Organized Cerebral Organoids with Human-Specific Features Predict Effective Drugs to Combat Zika Virus Infection." *Cell Reports* 21(2):517–32.

- Willardsen, Minde I. and Brian A. Link. 2011. "Cell Biological Regulation of Division Fate in Vertebrate Neuroepithelial Cells." *Developmental Dynamics* 240(8):1865–79.
- Wright, Galen E. B., Jennifer A. Collins, Chris Kay, Cassandra McDonald, Egor Dolzhenko, Qingwen Xia, Kristina Bečanović, Britt I. Drögemöller, Alicia Semaka, Charlotte M. Nguyen, Brett Trost, Fiona Richards, Emilia K. Bijlsma, Ferdinando Squitieri, Colin J. D. Ross, Stephen W. Scherer, Michael A. Eberle, Ryan K. C. Yuen, and Michael R. Hayden. 2019. "Length of Uninterrupted CAG, Independent of Polyglutamine Size, Results in Increased Somatic Instability, Hastening Onset of Huntington Disease." *The American Journal of Human Genetics* 104(6):1116–26.
- Xiang, Yangfei, Yoshiaki Tanaka, Benjamin Patterson, Young-Jin Kang, Gubbi Govindaiah, Naomi Roselaar, Bilal Cakir, Kun-Yong Kim, Adam P. Lombroso, Sung-Min Hwang, Mei Zhong, Edouard G. Stanley, Andrew G. Elefanty, Janice R. Naegele, Sang-Hun Lee, Sherman M. Weissman, and In-Hyun Park. 2017.
 "Fusion of Regionally Specified HPSC-Derived Organoids Models Human Brain Development and Interneuron Migration." *Cell Stem Cell* 21(3):383-398.e7.
- Xu, Xiaohong, Yilin Tay, Bernice Sim, Su-In Yoon, Yihui Huang, Jolene Ooi, Kagistia Hana Utami, Amin Ziaei, Bryan Ng, Carola Radulescu, Donovan Low, Alvin Yu Jin Ng, Marie Loh, Byrappa Venkatesh, Florent Ginhoux, George J. Augustine, and Mahmoud A. Pouladi. 2017. "Reversal of Phenotypic Abnormalities by CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated Gene Correction in Huntington Disease Patient-Derived Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells." Stem Cell Reports 8(3):619–33.
- Yang, Yan and Karl Herrup. 2007. "Cell Division in the CNS: Protective Response or Lethal Event in Post-Mitotic Neurons?" Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease 1772(4):457–66.
- Ying, Qi-Long, Marios Stavridis, Dean Griffiths, Meng Li, and Austin Smith. 2003. "Conversion of Embryonic Stem Cells into Neuroectodermal Precursors in Adherent Monoculture." *Nature Biotechnology* 21(2):183–86.
- Yun, K., S. Potter, and J. L. Rubenstein. 2001. "Gsh2 and Pax6 Play Complementary Roles in Dorsoventral Patterning of the Mammalian Telencephalon." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 128(2):193–205.
- Zeitlin, Scott, Jeh-Ping Liu, Deborah L. Chapman, Virginia E. Papaioannou, and Argiris Efstratiadis. 1995. "Increased Apoptosis and Early Embryonic Lethality in Mice Nullizygous for the Huntington's Disease Gene Homologue." *Nature Genetics* 11(2):155–63.
- Zhang, Ningzhe, Mahru C. An, Daniel Montoro, and Lisa M. Ellerby. 2010. "Characterization of Human Huntington's Disease Cell Model from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells." *PLoS Currents* 2:RRN1193.
- Zhang, Wei, Si Lu Yang, Mei Yang, Stephanie Herrlinger, Qiang Shao, John L. Collar, Edgar Fierro, Yanhong Shi, Aimin Liu, Hui Lu, Bruce E. Herring, Ming Lei Guo, Shilpa Buch, Zhen Zhao, Jian Xu, Zhipeng Lu, and Jian Fu Chen. 2019. "Modeling Microcephaly with Cerebral Organoids Reveals a WDR62– CEP170–KIF2A Pathway Promoting Cilium Disassembly in Neural Progenitors." Nature Communications 10(1).
- Zhou, Jing. 2009. "Polycystins and Primary Cilia: Primers for Cell Cycle Progression." Annual Review of Physiology 71(1):83–113.

6. Appendix

6.1 Contributions to published articles

"Differentiation of human telencephalic progenitor cells into MSNs by inducible expression of GSX2 and EBF1"

Andrea Faedo, Angela Laporta, Alice Segnali, Maura Galimberti, Dario Besusso, Elisabetta Cesana, Sara Belloli, Rosa Maria Moresco, Marta Tropiano, Elisa Fucà, Stefan Wild, Andreas Bosio, Alessandro E. Vercelli, Gerardo Biella, and Elena Cattaneo

> DOI: HTTps://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1611473114 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114(7):E1234-E1242. 2017

The aim of this work was to established human embryonic stem (hES) cell-inducible lines that express specific transcription factors (GSX2 and EBF1) to improve medium spiny neuron (MSN) differentiation protocol and to study human striatal development in vitro. My specific goals in this project was to understand the effect of GSX2 and EBF1 overexpression, alone or combined, in regulating early patterning genes, promoting maturation towards MSN identity and regulating cell cycle kinetics. In details I collaborated in experiments of 2D differentiation of the inducible hESC lines towards MSN, with or without Doxycyclin treatment, and their analyses through BrdU-IddU assays, immunocytochemistry, cell counts and western blots. All results and analyses are under the paragraphs: "GSX2 and EBF1 Regulation of Patterning Genes", "GSX2 and EBF1 Regulate Cell-Cycle Kinetics" and "GSX2 and EBF1 Overexpression Differentially Regulates Early Neuronal Differentiation". The figures produced by this work are: Fig1, FigS2 (from A to H), Fig2, FigS3 (from H to M) and Fig3. (from A to K).